
 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 
Tuesday, June 14, 2016                                                                                                        City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
Note:  A Study Session is scheduled from 6:00 to 7:00 p.m. 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
  
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

• Proclamation in Support of the United States Army and Our Veterans (Sgt. 1st Class Garlick) 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  April 26, 2016 Regular Meeting; May 10, 2016 Special Meeting – Joint Study Session; 

May 10, 2016 Regular Meeting; and May 16, 2016 Special Meeting -  Listening Session (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson) 
C-3. Approve Resolution to Adopt Revised Council Policies and Procedures (Springer) 
C-4. Approve Covington Community Park Phase 2 Design and Construction Grant Funding Project 

Agreement (Newton) 
C-5. Final Acceptance of Citywide Intersection Safety Improvements Project (CIP 1029) (Vondran) 
C-6. Adopt Resolution Updating Real Property Acquisition and Relocation Policy, Procedures and 

Guidelines (Vondran) 
 
CONTINUED BUSINESS 
1. Continue Discussion of Proposed New City Official’s Code of Ethics (Springer) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
2. Consider Passing Ordinance Establishing Permanent Land Use Regulations for Marijuana 

Businesses (Hart) 
3. Discuss and Approve Citizen Survey Questions (Slate) 
4. Consider Appointment to Open City Council Position (Council) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

• To Consider Real Estate Acquisition Pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(1) (b) 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 



Consent Agenda Item C-1 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date:  June 14, 2016   
 
SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  APRIL 26, 2016 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR 

MEETING MINUTES; MAY 10, 2016 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING – 
JOINT STUDY SESSION MINUTES; MAY 10, 2016 CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES; AND MAY 16, 2016 SPECIAL MEETING – 
LISTENING SESSION MINUTES 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Sharon G. Scott, City Clerk 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Proposed Minutes 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION:  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance   _____ Resolution     X     Motion              Other  
 

Councilmember __________ moves, Councilmember ___________ 
seconds, to approve the April 26, 2016 City Council Regular 
Meeting Minutes; May 10, 2016 City Council Special Meeting – 
Joint Study Session Minutes; May 10, 2016 City Council Regular 
Meeting Minutes; and May 16, 2016 Special Meeting – Listening 
Session Minutes. 

1 of 200



Unapproved Draft–April 26, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 

 1 

City of Covington 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, April 26, 2016 
 
The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Covington was called to order in the City 
Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, April 26, 
2016, at 7:03 p.m., with Mayor Wagner presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Jeff Wagner, Joe Cimaomo, Margaret Harto, Marlla Mhoon, Jim Scott, and Sean Smith. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT: 
Mark Lanza. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Regan Bolli, City Manager; Don Vondran, Public Works Director; Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel Manager; 
Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director; Andrew McCurdy, Covington Police Chief; Richard Hart, 
Community Development Director; Karla Slate, Communications & Marketing Manager; Ethan Newton, 
Parks & Recreation Director; Sara Springer, City Attorney; Bob Lindskov, City Engineer; Shellie 
Bates, Programs Supervisor; and Sharon Scott, City Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Scott moved and Mayor Pro Tem Smith seconded to excuse 
Councilmember Lanza.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
Mayor Wagner opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Councilmember Harto moved and Councilmember Mhoon seconded to 
approve the Agenda.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION: 

• Parks & Recreation Chair Laura Morrissey and Aquatics Supervisor Rachel Bahl accepted 
the May 2016 National Aquatics Month Proclamation. 

• Parks & Recreation Chair Laura Morrissey accepted the April 29, 2016 Arbor Day 
Proclamation. 

• King County Councilmember Reagan Dunn provided his annual update to the Council. 
• Greg Wingard, Green River Coalition, provided an overview of the Covington Community 

Park Wetland Mitigation Project and the Covington Community Park Trails Section 
Restoration Site.  Mr. Wingard then introduced interns Shayna Brown and Dylan Rodvik 
who provided a presentation on their work at the park. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Mayor Wagner called for public comments. 
 
Zbigniew Tomalik, Covington resident, asked Council to consider expanding the exemption to 
mandatory garbage for business owners in Covington to neighboring cities such as Kent. 

2 of 200



Unapproved Draft–April 26, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 

 2 

 
George Pearson, Covington resident, asked Council to consider banning fireworks. 
 
Greg Wingard, Green River Coalition, responding to a councilmember presentation question 
regarding watering, advised Council that the Green River Coalition was prepared to provide water 
support to the new plants during the dry season. 
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Wagner closed the public comment period. 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA: 
C-1. Minutes:  March 22, 2016 City Council Regular Special Meeting – Study Session Minutes. 

 
C-2. Vouchers: Vouchers #33942-33997, including ACH payments and electronic fund transfers 

in the amount of $98,892.05, dated April 15, 2016; Vouchers #33998-34043, including ACH 
payments and electronic fund transfers in the amount of $1,088.50, dated April 19, 2016; 
Paylocity Payroll Checks #1005097201-1005097217 inclusive, plus employee direct 
deposits in the amount of $173,620.24, dated April 8, 2016; and Paylocity Payroll Checks 
#1005154549-1005154568 inclusive, plus employee direct deposits in the amount of 
$184,046.15, dated April 22, 2016. 

 
C-3. Adopt Resolution Approving Maple Hills Phase II Final Plat. 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-07 
 

 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, APPROVING 
THE FINAL PLAT OF MAPLE HILLS, PHASE II, PP99-004/1025 
FOR RECORDING.  

 
C-4. Adopt Resolution Declaring One Mower as Surplus Property and Authorize Purchase of a 

Replacement Mower. 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DECLARING 
ONE MOWER AS SURPLUS PROPERTY AND AUTHORIZE 
PURCHASE OF A REPLACEMENT MOWER. 

 
C-5. Authorize the City Manager to Execute Annual Agreement with James. G. Murphy Co. to 

Surplus Used Vehicles and Equipment through a Public Auction. 
 

Council Action:  Councilmember Scott moved and Councilmember Mhoon seconded to 
approve the Consent Agenda.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
  

3 of 200



Unapproved Draft–April 26, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 

 3 

REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS: 
Human Services Commission – Chair Fran McGregor reported on the April 14 meeting. 
 
Parks & Recreation Commission – Chair Laura Morrissey reported on the April 20 meeting. 
 
Arts Commission – Member Jennifer Harjehausen reported on the April 14 special meeting. 
 
Parks & Recreation Priorities Advisory Committee – Chair Jennifer Harjehausen reported on 
the March 23 meeting. 
 
Planning Commission – Vice Chair Paul Max reported on the April 7 and April 21 meetings. 
 
Economic Development Council – Co-Chair Jeff Wagner reported on the March 24 meeting. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
1.  Discuss First Draft of Council Code of Ethics and Revisions to Rules of Procedure. 
 
City Attorney Sara Springer gave the staff report on this item.  Ms. Springer advised council that 
the next steps would be for Council to review the new Code of Ethics provided as a handout at the 
meeting and revisions to the Rules of Procedure which would be sent to Council the next day via 
email. 
 
Council concurred to bring this item back to a future meeting agenda. 
 
2.  Discuss Low Income and Disabled Discounts in the Mandatory Solid Waste Collection 
Services. 
 
Mayor Wagner recused himself from this discussion.  Mayor Wagner turned the meeting over to 
Mayor Pro Tem Smith and left the Council Chambers. 
 
Councilmember Scott requested to have all three names listed on the agenda bill of 
councilmembers who agreed to place an item on the meeting agenda. 
 
Public Works Director Don Vondran gave the staff report for this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and discussed.  Councilmembers asked questions and staff 
provided responses. 
 
Council concurred not to pursue this item any further at this time. 
 
Mayor Wagner returned to the Council Chambers. 
 
3.  Ratings Presentation for Standard & Poor’s. 
 
Finance Director Rob Hendrickson and City Manager Regan Bolli gave the staff report on this 
item. 

4 of 200



Unapproved Draft–April 26, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 

 4 

 
Councilmembers asked questions and Mr. Hendrickson provided responses. 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS: 
Councilmembers and staff discussed Future Agenda Topics and made comments. 
 
Council concurred to add the Code of Ethics and Rules of Procedure discussion to the May 10 
meeting agenda. 
 
Councilmember Scott announced his resignation from the Council due to moving his residence 
outside of Covington city limits.  Mr. Scott’s last meeting will be Tuesday, May 24, 2016. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Mayor Wagner called for public comments. 
 
Leroy Stevenson, Covington resident, requested Council to revisit the topic of mandatory 
garbage services as he did not believe a garbage problem existed prior to the ordinance passage. 
 
Zbigniew Tomalik, Covington resident, spoke to his agreement with Mr. Stevenson’s comments. 
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Wagner closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:00 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 
 

5 of 200



Unapproved Draft – May 10, 2016 Special Meeting-Joint Study Session with Covington Economic 
Development Council and Covington Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 
 

City of Covington 
City Council Special Meeting 

Joint Study Session with Covington Economic Development Council and 
 Covington Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors Minutes 

Tuesday, May 10, 2016 
 
The Special Meeting - Joint Study Session with the Covington Economic Development Council 
and Covington Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors was called to order in the City Council 
Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, May 10, 20165, at 
6:02 p.m., with Mayor Wagner presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Jeff Wagner, Joe Cimaomo, Margaret Harto, Mark Lanza (arrived @ 6:05 p.m.), Marlla Mhoon, 
Jim Scott, and Sean Smith (arrived @ 6:15 p.m.). 
 
CHAMBER OF COMMERCE BOARD OF DIRECTORS PRESENT: 
Zach Steele, Scott Beusch, Lisa Agron, Jeff Wagner, and Regan Bolli. 
 
CHAMBER OF COMMERCE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ABSENT: 
Brian Hanis, Josh Lyons, Tina Armstrong, Leah Clemsen, and Kathryn Groves. 
 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Zach Steele, Jeff Wagner, Lisa Agron, Ed Cook, Krista Bates, Kevin Holland, Steven Pand, and 
Laura Roth.  
 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT: 
Kathy Fosjord and Josh Lyons. 
 
CITY STAFF PRESENT: 
Regan Bolli, City Manager; Richard Hart, Community Development Director; and Sharon Scott, 
City Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 
Mayor Wagner called the joint study session to order. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to approve the agenda. 
 
ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION: 
1.  Play Unplugged Program. 
 
CEDC Co-Chair Jeff Wagner introduced this item.  CEDC Co-Chairs Zach Steele and Jeff Wagner 
then gave the presentation. 
 

6 of 200



Unapproved Draft – May 10, 2016 Special Meeting-Joint Study Session with Covington Economic 
Development Council and Covington Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 
 
2.  Business Breakfast Report and Future Breakfast Meetings.  CEDC Member Krista Bates gave 
the report on this item. 
 
3.  Community Outreach Report (Open Houses) 
 a) 2016 Open House 
 b) Outreach Focused on Small Business. 
 
CEDC Member Steve Pand gave the report on this item. 
 
4.  Future Projects and Programs. 
 
There was discussion on this item with no action taken. 
 
Councilmembers, Economic Development Councilmembers, and Chamber Boardmembers 
discussed this item. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:55 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 
 

7 of 200



Unapproved Draft – May 10, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 
 

1 
 

City of Covington 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, May 10, 2016 
 
The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Covington was called to order in the City 
Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, May 10, 
2016, at 7:08 p.m., with Mayor Jeff Wagner presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Jeff Wagner, Joe Cimaomo, Margaret Harto, Mark Lanza, Marlla Mhoon, Jim Scott, and Sean 
Smith. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Regan Bolli, City Manager; Don Vondran, Public Works Director; Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel Manager;  
Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director; Andrew McCurdy, Covington Police Chief; Richard Hart, 
Community Development Director; Ethan Newton, Parks & Recreation Director; Sara Springer, 
City Attorney; and Sharon Scott, City Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 
Mayor Wagner opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Councilmember Cimaomo moved and Councilmember Mhoon seconded to 
approve the Agenda.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION: 

• City Engineer Bob Lindskov accepted the National Public Works Week Proclamation. 
• Joy Scott, Housing Consortium, accepted the Affordable Housing Week Proclamation. 
• Graydon Newman, King County Transportation Planner, gave a presentation on King 

County Metro Transit’s Long-Range Vision and Plan. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Mayor Wagner called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Wagner closed the public comment period. 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA: 
C-1. Minutes:  March 22, 2016 City Council Regular Meeting Minutes; April 12, 2016 City 

Council Special Meeting – Study Session Minutes; and April 12, 2016 City Council Regular 
Meeting Minutes. 
 

C-2. Vouchers:  Vouchers #34044-34098, including ACH payments and electronic fund transfers 
in the amount of $294,927.70, dated April 29, 2016 and; Paylocity Payroll Checks 
#1005212795-1005212809 inclusive, plus employee direct deposits in the amount of 
$176,976.76, dated May 6, 2016. 
 

8 of 200



Unapproved Draft – May 10, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 
 

2 
 

C-3. Consider Ordinance Adopting Revised Building and Fire Codes. 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 11-2016 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, AMENDING 
CHAPTERS 15.05 AND 15.20 OF THE COVINGTON MUNICIPAL 
CODE TO CONFORM WITH UPDATES TO RCW 19.27, THE 
REVISED WASHINGTON STATE BUILDING CODE ACT, 
ADOPTING THE 2015 INTERNATIONAL CODES EFFECTIVE 
JULY 1, 2016; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND 
CORRECTIONS; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
Council Action:  Councilmember Mhoon moved and Councilmember Scott seconded to 
approve the Consent Agenda.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
1.  Discuss Code of Ethics and Rules of Procedure. 
 
City Manager Regan Bolli directed the Council’s attention to the handout provided regarding the 
results of the Commissioner Survey on Monthly Reports to Council which provided information 
that commissioners were generally in favor of the current procedures.  Therefore, no changes to 
this policy were recommended at this time. 
 
City Attorney Sara Springer then gave the staff report on this item, providing an overview of the 
most recent updates, noting in particular that Sections 2.0 and 9.0 had the most significant changes 
from the previous draft. 
 
Ms. Springer also provided additional comments and clarification for each section. 
 
Council reviewed each section of the Draft Policies and Procedures v. 2 and provided comments 
and asked questions to which Ms. Springer provided responses and clarified as needed. 
 
Ms. Springer provided further details on section 5.2.3 and offered options for Council to discuss. 
 
City Manager Regan Bolli provided further comments. 
 
All councilmembers provided comments and/or asked questions regarding Section 5.2.3. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to use the alternative language in green on 
the Draft Policies and Procedures v. 2, Section 5.2.3 to include changing the second 
paragraph to “…it shall require an affirmative vote of three council members present to add 
the item as a New Business item to a future regular council meeting agenda.”. 
 
Council continued to review each section of the Draft Policies and Procedures v. 2 and provided 
comments and asked questions to which Ms. Springer provided responses and clarified as needed. 

9 of 200



Unapproved Draft – May 10, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 
 

3 
 

 
Councilmembers discussed adding requirements for new councilmember training. 
 
Ms. Springer indicated she would work with City Clerk Sharon Scott to research what training 
materials are available and bring that information back to Council. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to direct staff to bring this item back to the 
May 24 Council meeting with the changes discussed at this meeting and schedule the Code 
of Ethics staff report for the June 14 meeting. 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS: 
Councilmembers and staff discussed Future Agenda Topics and made comments. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to cancel the August 23 meeting. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to appoint Councilmember Harto and Mayor 
Wagner as the voting delegates to the Association of Washington Cities annual meeting. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to direct staff to advertise for Councilmember 
Scott’s open position, with applications due by Friday, June 14, and interviews to be held on 
Tuesday, June 14, at a City Council Study Session. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
Mayor Wagner called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Wagner closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:35 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 

10 of 200



Unapproved Draft – May 16, 2016 Special Meeting – Listening Session at Kentwood High School 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 
 

1 
 

City of Covington 
City Council Special Meeting Minutes 

Wednesday, May 16, 2016 
 
The Special Meeting was called to order in the Performing Arts Center of Kentwood High School, 
25800 164th Avenue SE, Covington, Washington, on Monday, May 16, 2016, at 8:10 a.m., with 
Mayor Wagner presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Jeff Wagner, Joe Cimaomo, Margaret Harto, and Jim Scott. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT: 
Mark Lanza, Marlla Mhoon, and Sean Smith. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Regan Bolli, City Manager; Richard Hart, Community Development Director; and Sharon Scott, City 
Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 
Mayor Wagner greeted the students and called the special meeting to order with the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
Councilmembers and staff introduced themselves. 
 
ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION: 
1.  Listening Session to Receive Student Comments on the Town Center Plan. 
 
Community Development Director Richard Hart gave a presentation on the Council’s vision for 
the Town Center. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Mayor Wagner called for public comments. 
 
Sixteen high school students provided comments to the Council regarding their views, ideas and 
suggestions for the new town center as to what activities, programs, and amenities they would like 
included in the project. 
 
The following is a categorized list of their suggestions. 
 
Restaurants: 

• Chipotle or Mexican Grill 
• 80’s style throwback diner or restaurant 
• Cafes 
• Additional sit-down restaurants to go to after football games as current restaurants are full 

 
  

11 of 200



Unapproved Draft – May 16, 2016 Special Meeting – Listening Session at Kentwood High School 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 
 

2 
 

Entertainment: 
• Drive-in theater 
• Choir; dance presentations from surrounding schools 

 
Recreation: 

• Basketball court in park 
• Swimming pool (Kentwood Swim Team currently uses Kent Meridian pool) 
• Go Karts 
• More teenage dances 
• Roller skating rink 
• 3 on 3 basketball tournament 
• Bowling alley (to include arcade and karaoke) 
• Laser tag 
• Trampoline Nation 

 
Concerns/Questions: 

• Why new elementary school? less expensive to relocate town center? 
• What will become of city hall space? 
• More job opportunities besides fast food and grocery 
• Timeline for project? 
• Promotion is important – use daily announcement; Snap Chat - Covington filter 

 
Community 

• Boys & Girls Club such as YMCA 
• Holiday events and concerts 
• Seahawk events:  tailgate and mascots 
• Events community could do together – Capture the Flag 
• Parade 
• Teen dances with student run music and student DJs, and food trucks 

 
Retail 

• Small businesses  
• Pac Sun 
• Zumiez 
• Additional shopping 

 
Other 

• Find culture for Town Center.  Find what is Covington’s theme and incorporate that into 
Town Center. 

• Better Christmas tree 
• Better festival 
• Winter festival like Snowflake lane 

 

12 of 200



Unapproved Draft – May 16, 2016 Special Meeting – Listening Session at Kentwood High School 
Submitted for Approval:  June 14, 2016 
 
 

3 
 

Education 
• Green River College 

 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:00 a.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 

13 of 200



Consent Agenda Item C-2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  June 14, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  APPROVAL OF VOUCHERS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Vouchers:  Void Voucher #34164-34164; Vouchers #34165-34212, 
including ACH payments and electronic fund transfers, in the amount of $385,861.03, dated 
May 27, 2016; Vouchers #34213-34268, including ACH payments and electronic fund 
transfers, in the amount of $1,723,254.75, dated June 10, 2016; and Paylocity Payroll Checks 
#1005330937-1005330945 inclusive, plus employee direct deposits, in the amount of 
$180,036.08, dated June 3, 2016. 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment Vouchers:  Void Voucher #34164-34164; 
Vouchers #34165-34212, including ACH payments and electronic fund 
transfers, in the amount of $385,861.03, dated May 27, 2016; Vouchers 
#34213-34268, including ACH payments and electronic fund transfers, in 
the amount of $1,723,254.75, dated June 10, 2016; and Paylocity Payroll 
Checks #1005330937-1005330945 inclusive, plus employee direct deposits, 
in the amount of $180,036.08, dated June 3, 2016. 
   
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 

14 of 200



15 of 200



16 of 200



17 of 200



18 of 200



19 of 200



20 of 200



21 of 200



22 of 200



23 of 200



24 of 200



25 of 200



26 of 200



27 of 200



28 of 200



29 of 200



30 of 200



31 of 200



32 of 200



33 of 200



34 of 200



Consent Agenda Item C-3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: June 14, 2016 

 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER RESOLUTION TO ADOPT REVISED COUNCIL POLICIES AND 

PROCEDURES  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Regan Bolli, City Manager 
 Sara Springer, City Attorney 
   
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Revised v.4 of Proposed Council Policies and Procedures  
 

PREPARED BY:  Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
EXPLANATION: 
 
At the council’s last regular meeting, staff presented and the council thoroughly reviewed the 
revised third version of the amendments to the newly titled Council Policies and Procedures. 
Staff has incorporated council’s feedback from that meeting into the attached final “v.4” of the 
proposed Council Policies and Procedures. 
 
If any council member wishes to discuss any of the latest proposed revisions, or would like to 
discuss any additional revisions, this item may be moved from the consent agenda to continued 
business to allow discussion on the item before taking action for adoption. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
None 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance     X    Resolution    _   Motion   _   Other 

 
Council member ____________ moves and council member ______________ 
seconds to adopt a resolution, in substantial form as that attached, to adopt 
the newly revised Covington City Council Policies and Procedures.  
 

REVIEWED BY: City Manager; City Attorney; City Clerk 

35 of 200



RESOLUTION NO.  2016-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
ADOPTING NEW COVINGTON CITY COUNCIL POLICIES 
AND PROCEDURES. 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 35A.11 RCW gives the city council of each code city the power to  

organize and regulate its internal affairs within the provisions of Title 35A RCW; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Covington City Council has adopted Council Rules of Procedure to 
assist in the conduct of city business; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the Council wishes to adopt new Covington City Council Policies and 
Procedures to supersede the previous Rules of Procedure in their entirety; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Covington, 
King County, Washington, as follows: 
 
 Section 1. Rules of Procedure Repealed. Resolution No. 02-52, as amended, is hereby 
repealed in its entirety. 
 

Section 2. New Policies and Procedures Adopted.  The Covington City Council Policies 
and Procedures, attached as Exhibit 1 hereto and incorporated fully herein by this reference, shall 
constitute the official rules of procedure for the Covington City Council and all prior rules are 
hereby superseded.  
 
 ADOPTED in open and regular session on this 14th day of June, 2016. 
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
                  Jeff Wagner, Mayor 

 
ATTESTED: 
 
_____________________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 
 
_____________________________________ 
Sara Springer, City Attorney 

36 of 200



Page 1 of 22 

COVINGTON CITY COUNCIL 
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Proposed Final v. 4 
Changes Between v3 and proposed final v4 Shown in Track Changes 

**Please note that I made additional changes--not previously discussed by the council--to Section 3.4 
regarding the process by which the council interviews candidates for a vacant council position. The 

process the council has followed when interviewing candidates for the last two vacant council 
positions has been different from the process included in these proposed procedures. Accordingly, I 

took the liberty to generalize these procedures and changed it to simply require the council to 
approve the interview process and procedures prior to publishing notification of the vacancy (as the 

notification must include the interview procedures).  

***Should any council member desire to discuss any of the proposed final edits shown in track 
changes, or propose any additional edits, this item may be moved from the consent agenda to 

continued business.  

1.0 AUTHORITY & EFFECT OF RULES 

1.1 Rules Established. 
These policies and procedures constitute the official policies and rules of procedure for the Covington 
City Council (the “Rules”). These Rules shall be in effect upon adoption by resolution of the council and 
until such time as new or amended rules are adopted by resolution.  

1.2 Suspension of Rules.  
Any provision of these Rules not governed by state law or city ordinance may be temporarily 
suspended by a two-thirds vote of those members present and voting. A two-thirds vote is five (5) of 
seven (7) votes, four (4) of six (6) votes, four (4) of five (5) votes, and three (3) of four (4) votes. 

1.3 Review & Amendment of Rules.  
It is the intent of the city council that these Rules be periodically reviewed as needed, but no less than 
every two (2) years. Accordingly, these Rules should be considered in the month of January of every 
even-numbered year and may be considered at any other time that council shall choose to review 
them. These Rules may be amended, or new rules adopted, by a majority vote of the council, at any 
time.  

1.4 Effect/Waiver of Rules. 
These Rules are adopted for the sole benefit of the members of the city council to assist in the orderly 
conduct of council business. These Rules do not grant rights or privileges to members of the public or 
third parties. Failure of the city council to adhere to these Rules shall not result in any liability to the 

EXHIBIT 1

37 of 200



Page 2 of 22 
 

city, its officers, agents, and employees, nor shall failure to adhere to these Rules result in invalidation 
of any council act.  
 
2.0 CITY COUNCIL: GENERAL POWERS & RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
2.1 Overview 
The powers of the city council are to be used for the benefit of the community and its residents to 
provide for the health, safety, and general welfare of its residents. The Covington City Council values 
personal honesty and integrity, open and accessible government, fiscal responsibility, fair treatment of 
individuals, and commitment to customer service. 
 
It is important to note that the council acts as a body. No member has any extraordinary powers 
beyond those of other members. Although the mayor has additional ceremonial and presiding officer 
responsibilities, all members are equal when establishing policies, voting, and performing their council 
duties. 
 
Policy is established as a majority vote of the council. While individual members may disagree with 
decisions of the majority, a decision of the majority binds the council to a course of action. 
Councilmembers should respect the decision of the majority and are expected to follow adopted 
council rules, policies, and procedures.  
 
It is the city manager’s responsibility to ensure the policy of the council is enacted. Actions of staff to 
pursue the policy direction established by a majority of the council do not reflect any bias against 
councilmembers who held a minority opinion on an issue.  
 
2.2 Council and Administration 
Councilmembers act as the legislative body with authority to enact laws, adopt the city’s budget, 
determine service priorities, make public policy, and appoint communitycitizen boards, commissions, 
and committees (RCW 35A.13.230). The city manager and city staff are the executive/administrative 
branch.  
 
In order to uphold the integrity of the council-manager form of government, and to provide proper 
checks and balances, councilmembers refrain from becoming directly involved in the administrative 
activities of the city.  
 
Except for purposes of inquiry, councilmembers should communicate with city staff primarily through 
the city manager and shall not give orders to any city staff without the city manager’s authorization. 
The city manager may choose to establish formal or informal norms for routine council-staff 
interaction and staff support of council committees. In addition, council may fully and freely discuss 
with the city manager in open session anything pertaining to appointment and removals of city staff 
and city affairs.  
 

38 of 200



Page 3 of 22 
 

2.3 Authority and Responsibilities of the City Council 
It is within the authority and responsibility of the city council to: 
 

2.3.1 Establish Policy. 
o Adopt goals and objectives 
o Establish priorities for public services 
o Approve/amend the operating and capital budgets 
o Approve intergovernmental agreements and certain contracts 
o Adopt resolutions 

 
2.3.2 Enact Local Laws. 

o Pass ordinances 
o Call for special elections, when necessary 

 
2.3.3 Appointments and Supervise Officials. 

o Appoint city manager (RCW 35A.13.050) 
o Evaluate performance of city manager 
o Appoint hearing examiner 
o Establish advisory boards and commissions 
o Make appointments to advisory boards and commissions 
o Provide direction to advisory bodies 
o Appoint councilmembers to council committees, intergovernmental boards and 

commissions, and external committees 
 

2.3.4 Provide Public Leadership 
o Represent constituents to promote representative governance 
o Communicate the city’s vision and goals to constituents 
o Represent the city’s interests at regional, county, state, and federal levels 
o Determine best course of public policy 

 
2.4 ADDITIONAL RULES, POLICIES, & PROCEDURES 
In addition to these Rules, the council shall also comply with the following rules, policies, and 
procedures, if adopted by the city: 
 

2.4.1 City Officials’ Code of Ethics 
2.4.2 Public Records Policy 
2.4.3 Technology Use Policy 
2.4.4 Travel Policy (as provided for in the Employee Handbook) 
2.4.5 Vehicle Use Policy (as provided for in the Employee Handbook) 

 
3.0 CITY COUNCIL: ROLES & ADMINISTRATION  

 

39 of 200



Page 4 of 22 
 

3.1 Role of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem 
 

3.1.1 Mayor 
 

 Presiding Officer. The mayor serves as the presiding officer of the council and acts as 
chair at all meetings of the council. The mayor does not possess any power of veto.  
 

 Ceremonial Representative. The mayor is responsible to act as the city council’s 
ceremonial representative at public events and functions. He or she shall have no 
regular administrative duties.  
 

 Proclamations. The mayor is vested with the authority to initiate and execute 
proclamations as a ceremonial commemoration of an event or issue. Proclamations are 
not statements of policy and do not require the approval or action of council.  

 
 Signing of City Documents. The mayor, unless unavailable, shall sign all ordinances, 

resolutions, interlocal agreements, contracts, and any other documents that have been 
adopted by the city council and require an official signature; except when the city 
manager has been authorized by council action to sign documents. In the even the 
mayor is unavailable, the mayor pro tem may sign such documents.  
 

 In addition to the above powers conferred to the role of mayor, the council member 
serving as mayor shall have all the rights, privileges, and immunities of a member of the 
council.  

 
3.1.2 Mayor Pro Tem. In the mayor’s absence, the mayor pro tem assumes all of the above 

noted responsibilities and rights of the mayor. 
 

3.2 Election of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem 
 
3.2.1 The council shall elect a mayor and mayor pro tem for a term of two (2) years and shall 

remain in office until the next election of a mayor and/or mayor pro tem, unless earlier 
removed or vacated. 
 

3.2.2 The motion to elect the mayor and mayor pro tem will be placed on the agenda of the 
first council meeting of even-numbered years.  
 

3.2.3 Nomination and Appointment Process. 
 

 The nomination and appointment process outlined in this subsection shall be used to 
fulfill the positions of both mayor and mayor pro tem. The council shall first fulfill the 

40 of 200



Page 5 of 22 
 

position of mayor, and only upon fulfillment of that position should the council fulfill the 
position of mayor pro tem. 
 

 Each council member may nominate one person for a given office. Nominations do not 
require a second vote.   
 

 The council members nominating and the nominees will have an opportunity to make 
public comment before voting commences. 
 

 Voting shall commence in the order nominations were made. Council members will be 
asked for a voice vote and a raise of hands. As soon as one of the nominees receives a 
majority vote of the whole city council (four votes), then the chair will declare him/her 
appointed. No votes will be taken on the remaining nominees.  
 

 A tie vote results in a failed nomination and the chair will call for nominations again and 
repeat the process until a single nominee receives a majority vote of the whole city 
council.  
 

 If none of the nominees receives a majority vote, the chair will call for nominations 
again and repeat the process until a single nominee receives a majority vote of the 
whole city council. 
 

3.2.4 Removal. A supermajority vote (5) shall be required to approve a motion to remove the 
mayor or mayor pro tem from office for cause. 
 

3.2.5 Temporary Absence. In the temporary absence of the mayor, the mayor pro tem shall 
perform the duties and responsibilities of the mayor with regard to conduct of meetings 
and emergency business.  

 
3.2.6 Permanent Vacancy. In the event the mayor or mayor pro tem is unable to serve the 

remainder of the term or resigns, the city council shall appoint a new mayor or mayor 
pro tem following the same procedure in this section.  
 

3.3 Swearing-In Newly Elected Council Members 
New council members shall be sworn in by a judge or the city clerk either: 
 Up to ten (10) days prior to the day they are scheduled to assume their office; or 
 At the first meeting of the council in January; or 
 At any other time after their term of office is scheduled to begin. 

 
3.4 Filling a Council Vacancy.  
 

41 of 200



Page 6 of 22 
 

3.4.1 Resignation Process. A written resignation must be submitted to the city council. 
 The notice of resignation should provide for an effective date and the resignation will be 

effective as of that selected date. 
 The council accepts the resignation by a motion and majority vote of the whole council. 

 
3.4.2 Procedure. If a vacancy occurs in the office of a councilmember, the council will follow 

the procedures outlined in RCW 42.12.070 in addition to those included in these Rules.  
 

3.4.3 Vacancy Notice and Application. In order to fill the vacancy with the most qualified 
person available until an election is held, the council will widely distribute and publish a 
notice of the vacancy, the procedure by which the vacancy will be filled (which shall be 
agreed upon by a majority vote of the council prior to publishing the notice of vacancy), 
and how to apply.an application form. The council will draw up an application form to 
aid the council's selection of the new councilmember. 

 
3.4.4 Interview Process. Those candidates selected by the council to be interviewed will be 

interviewed by the council during a regular or special council meeting open to the 
public, pursuant to the interview process included in the vacancy notice. The order of 
the interviews will be determined by drawing the names; in order to make the 
interviews fair, applicants will be asked to remain outside the council chambers while 
other applicants are being interviewed. Applicants will be asked to answer questions 
posed by each councilmember during the interview process. The interview process will 
be designed to be fair and consistent. Each candidate will then be allowed two (2) 
minutes for closing comments. Since this is not a campaign, comments and responses 
about other applicants will not be allowed.  

 

42 of 200



Page 7 of 22 
 

3.4.5 Deliberation and Selection. The council may recess into executive session to discuss the 
qualifications of all candidates. Nominations, voting, and selection of a person to fill the 
vacancy mustwill be conducted during an open public meeting. Nominations will follow 
the process outlined in Section 3.2 herein. Appointment of the new council member 
requires a majority vote of the entire council (four votes).  
 

3.5 Council Committees.  
 
3.5.1 Committee of the Whole. In addition to regular council meetings, the entire council 

may meet for study or special project purposes as a Committee of the Whole. A meeting 
of the council as the Committee of the Whole must have a quorum of council members 
present.  

 
3.5.2 Council Committees. The city council may establish standing committees of three (3) or 

fewer council members as policy review and discussion arms of the city council as a 
whole for any special purpose, task, or time frame. Council committees may study issues 
and develop recommendations for consideration by the city council as a whole but may 
not take binding action on behalf of the city council as a whole. Should a quorum of 
council members attend any council committee meeting that was not publically noticed, 
that meeting shall be immediately adjourned and reconvened at a time when three (3) 
or fewer council members are in attendance or the meeting is properly noticed as a 
special meeting of the council pursuant to these Rules.  

 
3.6 Council Member Appointments.  

 
3.6.1 To Council Advisory Bodies. The city council may appoint three (3) or fewer council 

members to represent the city council as a whole on city advisory bodies. 
 

3.6.2 Liaison/Representative Appointments. The city council may appoint individual council 
members, as required, to represent the city council as a whole to external advisory 
bodies or groups. 

 
4.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: TYPES; GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
4.1 Open Public Meetings Act.  
All council meetings shall comply with the requirements of RCW Section 42.30, the Open Public 
Meetings Act (OPMA). All regular council meetings, special council meetings, and any meetings of the 
committee of the whole (including study sessions) or council committee meetings of a quorum of 
council members shall be open to the public.  
 
4.2 Types of Council Meetings. 
 

43 of 200



Page 8 of 22 
 

4.2.1 Regular Council Meetings. The council shall hold regular meetings on the second and 
fourth Tuesday of each month. The council will not hold meetings on any other day of 
the month, unless otherwise noticed. All regular meetings will begin at 7:00 p.m., unless 
otherwise noticed.  

 
Should any regular council meeting occur on a legal holiday, on a general or primary 
election day, or special election called within the City of Covington, the meeting shall be 
held at the same hour and place on the following business day. 

 
4.2.2 Special Meetings. Any council meeting other than the regular council meeting. Notice of 

special meetings shall be given pursuant to state law (at least 24 hours in advance). The 
mayor, or in the absence of the mayor the mayor pro tem, or any three (3) members of 
council may schedule a special meeting, subject to the notice and call requirements 
prescribed by state law and/or city ordinance or rule. 

 
4.2.3 Study Sessions / Workshops. Any meeting, either called as a special meeting at which 

the council may discuss, investigate, review, or study matters of city business with city 
staff for informational purposes. Study sessions or workshops shall be noticed as special 
meetings of the council. Final action on any matter shall not occur during a study session 
or workshop.  

 
4.2.4 Annual Strategic Planning Summit. The council shall hold an annual strategic planning 

summit on the last Saturday in January of each year. 
 

4.2.5 Emergency Meetings. A special council meeting called without the 24hr notice. If, by 
reason of fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency there is a need for expedited 
action by the council to meet the emergency, the mayor may provide for a meeting site 
other than the regular meeting site and the notice requirements of RCW 42.30 shall be 
suspended during such emergency. The minutes shall indicate the reason for the 
emergency.  

 
4.3 Meeting Place.  
Council meetings will be at a time and place as council directs, except that regular and/or special 
meetings at which final actions on resolutions or ordinances will take place shall always be held within 
the boundaries of the City of Covington. 

 
4.4 Meeting Cancellation.  
Any council meeting may be canceled by a majority vote or consensus of the council. The mayor or 
mayor pro tem may cancel a council meeting for lack of agenda items.  
 

44 of 200



Page 9 of 22 
 

4.5 Public Notice of Meetings.  
The city shall comply with the provisions of RCW 35A.12.160 regarding public notice of all council 
meetings. 

 
4.6 Quorum.  
At all council meetings, a majority of the whole city council membership (four members, or five 
members for the passage of ordinances, budget items, and appropriations) shall constitute a quorum 
for the transaction of business, but a lesser number may recess or adjourn from time to time and may 
request the attendance of absent members. 
 
4.7 Attendance, Excused Absences.  
 

4.7.1 RCW 35A.12.060 provides that a council member shall forfeit his or her office by failing 
to attend three (3) consecutive regular meetings of the council without being excused 
by the council. Members of the council may be so excused by complying with this 
subsection.  

 
4.7.2 The If a council member will be absent for a regular council meeting, that  council 

member shall contact the mayor, mayor pro tem, city manager, or city clerk (the 
“Designated Contact(s)”) either in person or via telephone or email prior to the start of 
the council meeting and state the reason for his or her inability to attend the meeting. 
The above authorized person who receives such a notice of absence shall Upon 
receiving notification of an absence, the Designated Contact shall promptly notify the 
other Designated Contacts, via email, of the notice of absence and reason for such 
absence send written notice of said absence to the other individuals listed above either 
by forwarding a received email, or sending a separate email to indicate that a notice of 
absence, including the reason, was received in person or via telephone (e.g. if a council 
member calls the mayor to give notice of their absence, the mayor will then promptly 
send an email to the mayor pro tem, city manager, and city clerk stating that he/she 
received a notice of absence from the given council member and the reason stated 
given for such an absence). The mayor, mayor pro tem, city manager, or city clerk shall 
convey the message to the council. Following roll call, the presiding officer shall inform 
the council of the member’s absence, and state the reason for such absence.  

 

45 of 200



Page 10 of 22 
 

4.7.3 A motion to excuse the an absent council member shall be non-debatable. Upon 
passage of such a motion by a majority of members present, the absent member shall 
be considered excused and the clerk will make an appropriate notation in the minutes.   
 

4.7.4 Council members shall only be required to be excused from regular council meetings 
and shall not be required to be excused from all other meetings of the council, 
including, but not limited to, study sessions, special meetings, council committee 
meetings, and the annual summit. However, as a courtesy, council members should also 
notice their absence for all other council meetings in a similar manner as set forth above 
in Subsection 4.7.2for regular meetings. 

 
4.8 Attendance of City Officers & Employees 
The city manager, or his or her designee, shall attend all meetings of the city council as a whole, 
including regular meetings, special meetings, study sessions, and executive sessions, except if the 
council meets in executive session with the city attorney on matters of potential conflict for the city 
manager or to review the performance of the city manager. 
 
Any city officer or employee shall have the duty when requested by the city manager to attend council 
meetings and shall remain for such time as the city manager may direct. 
 
4.9 Executive Sessions.  

 
4.9.1 The council may hold executive sessions, from which the public may be excluded, for 

those purposes set forth in ChapterRCW  42.30.110 RCW. Before convening to an 
executive session, the presiding officer shall announce the purpose of the session and 
the anticipated time when the session will be concluded. No formal action or decision of 
the council may be taken in executive session. 
 

4.9.2 If the council, after executive session, has provided direction or consensus to city staff 
on proposed terms and conditions for any confidential or privileged issue, all contact 
with any other party shall be made by the designated city staff representative handling 
the issue. Council members should consult with the city manager and/or city attorney 
prior to discussing such information with anyone other than other council members, the 
city attorney, or city staff designated by the city manager.  Any council member having 
any contact or discussion with any person other than those listed above on any such 
confidential or privileged issue shall make full disclosure to the city manager and council 
in a timely manner. 

 

46 of 200



Page 11 of 22 
 

4.9.3 Pursuant to RCW 42.23.070, council members shall keep confidential all written 
materials and verbal information provided to themreviewed and/or discussed during 
executive sessions, to ensure that the city’s position is not compromised. Confidentiality 
also includes information provided to council members outside of executive sessions 
when the information is considered to be exempt from disclosure under the Revised 
Code of Washington. State Public Records Act (Chapter 42.56 RCW, as amended).  

 
4.10 Adjournment 
Regular, special, and committee of the whole meetings of the council shall adjourn at or before 10:00 
p.m. The adjournment time established hereunder may be extended upon approval of a motion by a 
majority of the council members present. At any time during any council meeting, any council member 
may call for a “Point of Order” to review agenda priorities. 
 
4.11 Audio Recordings of Council Meetings 
The city clerk, or designee, shall make and keep audio recordings of all regular, special, and committee 
of the whole council meetings, except those meetings or portions of meetings conducted in executive 
session, or unless a motion is passed to suspend audio recording of a meeting. All recordings and 
related records of all city council meetings, except as provided for referenced above, shall be retained 
by the city pursuant to the state Public Records Act and the city’s public records policy. 
 
4.12 Council Meeting Minutes. 
 

4.12.1 The city clerk, or designee, shall take minutes at all meetings of the city council in 
accordance with state and local statutory requirements.  

 
4.12.2 Proceedings will be entered into a minute book constituting the official record of the 

council.  
 

4.12.3 The minutes shall be made available for public inspection. Unless a council member 
requests a reading of the minutes of a council meeting, such minutes may be approved 
without reading if the clerk has previously furnished each member with a copy thereof. 

 
4.12.4 City council meeting minutes may be corrected by the city clerk if in error, but shall not 

otherwise be revised without a majority affirmative vote of the whole council 
membership at a regularly scheduled council meeting.  

 
5.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: AGENDAS & CONDUCT OF BUSINESS 
 
5.1 Setting Agenda.  
Pursuant to RCW 35A.13.080, the city manager shall set the council agenda for the meeting, following 
the suggested order of business listed herein, whenever practical. When necessary, the mayor, with 
the consent of the council, may change the order of business. No legislative item not on the agenda 

47 of 200



Page 12 of 22 
 

shall be voted upon; rather, a motion to suspend the rules would be necessary to add a legislative item 
to the agenda, in order to facilitate a vote on a legislative item not listed in the published agenda. 
 
5.2 Placement of Items on the Agenda.  
An item for a council meeting may be placed on the agenda by any of the following methods: Items 
may be added to a regular or special council meeting agenda pursuant to the following procedures: 
 

5.2.1 Consent Agenda, New Business, Continued Business, and Public Communication. 
Consent agenda, new business, continued business, and public communication items 
may be added to an agenda by: (1) A majority vote or consensus by the council; or (2) 
bBy the city manager.; or 

 
5.2.2 Future Agenda Items. All regular council meeting agendas shall include a section for 

“Future Agenda Items”—wherein council members may present any topic or issue for 
the council to consider and approve adding as a new business item on a future council 
meeting agenda.  
 
5.2.2.1 Items may be included under “Future Agenda Items” upon the joint request of 

two (2) or more council members. Such a request for the addition of a Future 
Agenda Item shall be emailed to the city manager or city clerk by the 
requesting council members no later than 12:00pm on the Tuesday 
Wednesday before a regular council meeting. The email must include the 
names of the requesting council members and the item title to be included on 
the agenda (the title should specifically relate to and convey the core 
topic/issue to be discussed). The names of the requesting council members 
shall be placed on the agenda next to the corresponding Future Agenda Item.  

 
5.2.2.2 Upon discussion of the Future Agenda Item, it shall require an affirmative vote 

of at least three (3) council members present to add the item as a New 
Business item to a future council meeting agenda. If the item will require the 
use of staff resources, then the council shall defer scheduling of the item to the 
city manager.  

, a proposed agenda item shall be placed under the Future Agenda Items of a regular 
council meeting agenda for the entire council to consider and discuss whether the item 
shall be included as a New Business item on a future council meeting agenda. A  

 
 

5.3 Staff Resources for Agenda Items. A councilmember may not utilize city staff for the preparation 
of an item for the agenda without prior direction of the city manager.  

 
5.4 Agenda Item Priority. 

 

48 of 200



Page 13 of 22 
 

5.4.1 Legally required advertised public hearings will have a higher priority over other agenda 
items scheduled for convenience rather than for statutory or other reasons. 

 
5.4.2 Agenda items that are continued from one meeting to another will have preference on 

the agenda to the extent possible. 
 
5.5 Adding an Item to a Published Agenda.  
At any regular or special council meeting, aAn item may be placed on a regular council meetingthe 
agenda at the time the presiding officer calls for approval of the agenda (i.e. after the agenda is closed 
and the notice published) only if the presiding officer or city manager explains the necessity and 
receives a majority affirmative vote of councilmembers present at a publicthe meeting.  
 
5.6 Staff Agenda Reports.  
Staff agenda reports shall be in a standard format approved by the city council.  
 
5.7 Consent Calendar.  
The city manager, in consultation with the presiding officer, shall place matters on the consent 
calendar that: 

 
5.7.1 have been previously discussed or policies have been set by the council; or 

 
5.7.2 are based on the information delivered to members of the council, by the 

administration, and can be reviewed by a council member without further explanation; 
or 

 
5.7.3 are so routine or technical in nature that passage is likely.  

 
5.7.4 Ordinances, resolutions, and motions are all eligible to be placed on the consent 

calendar. 
 

5.7.5 The motion to adopt the consent calendar shall be non-debatable and have the effect of 
moving to adopt all items on the consent calendar. Since adoption of any item on the 
consent calendar implies unanimous consent, any member of the council shall have the 
right to remove any item from the consent calendar. If any matter is withdrawn, the 
presiding officer shall place the item at an appropriate place on the agenda for 
deliberation at the current or a future council meeting. 

 
 
5.8 Order of Business for Regular Meetings.  
The suggested order of business for each regular council meeting should be as follows: 

Call to Order 
Roll Call, Flag Salute 

49 of 200



Page 14 of 22 
 

Approval of Agenda 
Public Communication 
Public Comment 
Approve Consent Agenda:  

Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings and Approval of Payroll/Claims 
Reports of Commissions 
Public Hearing 

Continued Business 
New Business 
Future Agenda Items 
Council/Staff Comments 
Public Comment  
Executive Session 
Adjournment 

 
5.9 Oder of Business for Study Sessions.  
The suggested order of business for each study session should be as follows: 

Call to Order 
Approval of Agenda 
Discussion 
Adjournment 
 

5.10 Public Comment.   
 

5.10.1 During regular meetings of the council, public comments will be invited during the 
public comment portion(s) of the agenda. The public is also invited at any time to 
provide written comment on any non-quasi-judicial or legislative matter. It is 
encouraged that such written comments be filed with the city clerk by 12:00pm of the 
Thursday preceding the meeting.  If written comments are given at the meeting, the 
presenter should provide ten (10) copies for the council, city manager, city clerk, and 
city attorney. 

 
5.10.2 In addition, public oral testimony may be taken on other non-quasi-judicial or legislative 

matters as they arise during the course of the meeting agenda. However, once a motion 
is pending, debate is limited to council members and no further public comment will be 
taken, unless a council member requests further testimony. 

 
5.10.3 Public comments should be limited to no more than four (4) minutes per person. No 

person may donate time to another person. If additional time is needed, a person may 
request that the council place an item on a future agenda as time allows. 

 

50 of 200



Page 15 of 22 
 

5.10.4 If many members of the public would like to comment on a particular topic, the 
presiding officer may encourage or require potential commenters to consolidate their 
comments and choose a limited number of spokespersons to speak on behalf of the 
group. If potential commenters are required by the presiding officer to consolidate their 
comments and choose a spokesperson, the presiding officer may allow the 
spokesperson(s) to speak for a longer designated period of time. 

 
5.10.5 Except for as provided in 5.10.4 above, mMembers of the public may not share or give 

speaking time to other commenters.  
 

5.10.6 The presiding officer may limit the total time for public comments and may, if many 
members of the public want to comment about a particular issue, continue the matter 
to another time.  

 
5.11 Public Hearing. 
AThe  pPublic hHearing is a formal opportunity for individuals to give their views for consideration in 
the legislative or policy-decision-making process. In addition, public hearings are required on quasi-
judicial actions, which determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties.  The following 
rules shall be observed during public hearings: 
 

5.11.1 Legislative/Information Gathering Public Hearings 
 Open Public Hearing—The presiding officer will open the public hearing. 
 Staff Presentation—For an initial presentation of background information from a 

city department, a city board, commission, or committee, no more than twenty (20) 
minutes will be allowed, unless authorized by the presiding officer. 

 Public Comments—Comments will be limited to four (4) minutes per speaker.  Any 
individual or group may request of the council additional time to speak if such request 
is submitted in writing no later than the day prior to the subject meeting.  Such 
request shall be subject to council approval.  The presiding officer may allow 
additional time for receipt of written testimony, when needed. 

 Staff Comments—Additional staff comments may be requested by Council following 
public comments. 

 Close Public Hearing—At the conclusion of Public or Staff Comments, the Presiding 
Officer will close the public hearing. 

 Council Deliberation 
 Council Action 
 Timekeeper—The city clerk shall be the timekeeper. 

 
5.11.2 Quasi-Judicial Public Hearings 

No Public oral testimony shall be given on quasi-judicial matters outside of a public 
hearing except on matters of procedure. If a quasi-judicial hearing is on the agenda, the 
public will be informed by the city attorney as to what state law permits as to public 

51 of 200



Page 16 of 22 
 

comments. In addition, quasi-judicial hearings will be conducted in conformance to 
procedures outlined in other city ordinances. 

 
6.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURES 
 
6.1 Parliamentarian / Governing Procedure.  
The city attorney, in consultation with the city clerk, shall decide all questions of interpretations of 
these Rules and other questions of a parliamentary nature which may arise at a council meeting. All 
cases not provided for in these Rules shall be governed by the current edition of “Robert's Rules of 
Order”, a copy of which is maintained in the office of the city clerk. In the event of a conflict, these 
Rules shall prevail.  
 
6.2 Presiding Officer. The presiding officer shall: 

 
6.2.1 Observe and enforce all rules adopted by the council; 

 
6.2.2 Call all meetings to order and keep to the order of business; 

 
6.2.3 Preserve order and decorum in the council chambers in accordance with these Rules; 

 
6.2.4 Recognize councilmembers in the order in which they request the floor, giving every 

councilmember who wishes an opportunity to speak, and control discussion in an orderly 
manner, require speakers to speak to the question; and  

 
6.2.5 Put motions to a vote and announce the outcome.  

 
6.2.6 The presiding officer may participate in all deliberations of the council in the same 

manner as any other members and is expected to vote in all proceedings, unless a 
conflict of interest exists. The presiding officer may not move an action, but may second 
a motion. 

6.3 Motions. 
6.3.1 Motion Required. Prior to discussion of an action item, a councilmember should make a 

motion, which is seconded by another councilmember, on the topic under discussion. If 
the motion is not seconded, it dies.  
 
 Motions that do not require a second: nominations, withdrawal of a motion, request 

for a roll call vote, and point of order.  
 

 Motions shall be clear and concise and not include arguments for the motion.  
 

52 of 200



Page 17 of 22 
 

6.3.2 Request for Written Motions. Motions shall be reduced to writing when requested by 
the Presiding Officer or any member of the council.  All resolutions and ordinances shall 
be in writing. 

 
6.3.3 Discussion on Motion. After a motion has been made and seconded (if required), 

councilmembers may discuss their opinions on the issue prior to the vote. If they wish to 
do so, they may state why they will vote for or against the motion.  
 

6.3.4 Withdrawal of Motion. A motion may be withdrawn by the maker of the motion, at any 
time, without the consent of the council.  

 
6.3.5 Motion to Amend. A motion to amend is defined as amending a motion that is on the 

floor and has been seconded, by inserting or adding, striking out, striking out and 
inserting, or substituting. A motion to amend requires a second and a majority to pass.  

 
6.3.6 Motion to Table.  

 Non-debatable.  
 Requires a majority to pass.  
 If the motion to table prevails, the matter may be "taken from the table" only by 

adding it to the agenda of a future meeting, at which time discussion can continue.  
 If an item is tabled, it cannot be reconsidered at the same meeting.  

 
6.3.7 Motion to Postpone to Time Certain.  

 Debatable. 
 Amendable. 
 Requires a majority to pass.  
 The motion being postponed must be considered at a later time in the same meeting 

or a specific future meeting.  
 May be reconsidered at the same meeting.  

 
6.3.8 Motion to Postpone Indefinitely.  

 Debatable. The merits of the main motion may also be debated.  
 Not amendable. 
 Requires a majority to pass. 
 May be reconsidered at the same meeting.  

 
6.3.9 Calling the Question.  

 A successful motion to call for the question shall close debate on the main motion. 
 Non-debatable.  
 Requires a second and two-thirds (2/3) vote.  
 Debate on the main motion is reopened if the motion to call the question fails.  

 

53 of 200



Page 18 of 22 
 

6.3.10 Motion for Reconsideration.  
 After the motion has been decided, any councilmember who voted in the majority 

(i.e. if a motion passed, a councilmember who voted in favor of the motion; or, if the 
motion failed, a councilmember who voted against the motion) may move for a 
reconsideration of the motion.  

 The motion for reconsideration must be made at the same or next regular council 
meeting.  

 Non-debatable. 
 Not amendable. 
 Requires a majority to pass.  

 
6.3.11 Council Consensus. When the council concurs or agrees with an item that does not 

require a formal motion, the mayor will summarize the council's consensus at the 
conclusion of the discussion.  

 
6.4 Voting on Motions. 

 
6.4.1 Motion Restated. When the discussion is concluded, the presiding officer shall repeat 

the motion prior to voting. The city council votes on the motion as restated.  
 

6.4.2 Voice Vote. Unless otherwise provided for by statute, ordinance, resolution, or these 
Rules, all votes shall be taken by voice, except that at the request of any councilmember, 
a random roll call vote shall be taken by the city clerk. 

 
6.4.3 Declaring Motion Passes or Fails. If the vote is unanimous, the presiding officer shall 

state that the motion has been passed unanimously according to the number of 
councilmembers present, such as "7-0" or "6-0." If the vote is not unanimous, the 
presiding officer shall state the number of councilmembers voting in the affirmative and 
the number voting in the negative and whether the motion passes or fails.  

 
Once the vote has been taken, the discussion is closed. It is not necessary for 
councilmembers to justify or explain their vote. If they wish to make their positions 
known, this should happen during the discussion preceding the vote. 
 

6.4.4 Tie Votes. In case of a tie vote on any motion, the motion shall be considered lost and 
fails. 

 

54 of 200



Page 19 of 22 
 

6.4.5 Abstention. Although it is the duty of each councilmember to vote on final action items, 
he or she cannot be compelled to vote, and thus he or she may abstain. The 
councilmember shall indicate their abstention to the presiding officer prior to any 
discussion begins on the motion. The abstaining council member shall then not be 
permitted to participate in the discussion or vote on the motion. The abstention shall be 
recorded by the city clerk and not included in the vote tally.  
 

6.4.6 Recusal. If a councilmember has a conflict of interest or an appearance of fairness 
question under state law, the councilmember may recuse themselves from the issue and 
shall leave the council chambers during discussion and voting on the issue. That 
councilmember shall be considered absent when voting occurs.  

 
6.4.7 Silence. If a councilmember is silent on a vote (i.e. is present and does not abstain or 

recuse themselves pursuant to this section but also does not cast a vote for the motion), 
it shall be recorded as an affirmative vote.  
 

6.4.8 Proxy Votes. No vote may be cast by proxy.  
 

7.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: MISCELLANEOUS  
 
7.1 General Decorum.  

 
7.1.1 Councilmembers. While the council is in session, the members must preserve order and 

decorum, and a member shall neither, by conversation or otherwise, delay or interrupt 
the proceedings or the peace of the council, nor disrupt any member while speaking, nor 
refuse to obey the orders of the council or the Presiding Officer, except as otherwise 
provided in these Rules. 
 

7.1.2 Public. Any person making personal or slanderous remarks or who becomes disorderly 
while addressing the council or while in the council chamber while the council is in 
session shall be asked to leave by the Presiding Officer. 

 
7.2 Dissents and Protests. Any council member shall have the right to express dissent from or 

protest against any ordinance or resolution of the council and have the reason therefore entered 
in the minutes. 

 
7.3 Forms of Address. The mayor shall be addressed as “Mayor (surname),” “Your Honor,” or 

Mr./Madam Mayor.  Members of the council shall be addressed according to their preference as 
“Councilmember (surname),” Councilor (surname),” or Mr./Mrs./Miss/Ms. (surname). 

 

55 of 200



Page 20 of 22 
 

7.4 Seating Arrangement. The mayor shall sit at the center of the council, and the mayor pro tem 
shall sit adjacent to the mayor.  Other council members are to be seated in a manner acceptable 
to the council.  If there is a dispute, seating shall be in position order. 

 
8.0 CITY COUNCIL ADVISORY BODIES 

 
The council’s advisory bodies provide an invaluable service to the city. Their advice on a wide variety of 
subjects aids the council in the decision-making process.  Effective public participation is an invaluable 
tool for local government. 

 
8.1 Establishment of Advisory Bodies; Dissolution.   

 
8.1.1 The city council may establish advisory bodies (including, but not limited to commissions, 

committees, boards, and task forces) by resolution or, if required by state statute, 
ordinance. The enacting resolution (or ordinance) will set forth the size of each advisory 
body, which will be related to its duties and responsibilities, the term of office of its 
members; a statement of its purpose and function; and time lines, if relevant to the 
scope of work.  

 
8.1.2 Limitations on Authority. All advisory bodies established by the city council are advisory 

to the city council and are not authorized to take independent action representing the 
city with other agencies or bodies. 

 
8.1.3 OPMA. All advisory bodies shall comply with the requirements of the Open Meetings Act 

(RCW Section 42.30). 
 

8.1.4 Dissolution. The council may dissolve any advisory body that, in their opinion, has 
completed its working function or for any other reason. Such dissolution shall be by 
resolution (or ordinance, if the body was originally established by ordinance) of the city 
council.  
 

8.2 Appointment to Advisory Bodies.   
 
8.2.1 Notice of Vacancies. Unless otherwise directed by the council, the city clerk’s office shall 

advertise notice of vacant positions on council advisory bodies so that any interested and 
qualified individual may submit an application.  
 

8.2.2 Applicant Requirements. Applicants are urged to be residents of the City of Covington, 
but applications from individuals living outside of the corporate boundaries of the city 
may be considered if authorized by the resolution or ordinance establishing the advisory 
body. 

 

56 of 200



Page 21 of 22 
 

8.2.3 Applicant Interviews and Appointment.  
 

 The city council will endeavor to interview all applicants for an available advisory 
position; provided that the mayor and mayor pro tem may limit the number of 
applicants interviewed by the council as a whole based upon a failure to meet the 
basic qualifications as set forth in the applicable resolution or ordinance or when the 
gross number of applicants is so large as to be an undue burden on the council’s 
schedule.  
 

 All interviews for available advisory positions shall be scheduled at either a special or 
committee of the whole council meeting. For the purpose of any special or 
committee of the whole council meeting in which advisory body interviews are the 
only agenda item, the council may proceed with calling the meeting to order and 
conducting said interviews so long as three (3) or more council members are 
present.  
 

 The council shall also interview applicants seeking reappointment for the same 
advisory position, unless otherwise determined by a majority of the council. 

 
 Appointments to advisory bodies will be made during a regularly scheduled council 

meeting.  
 

 Upon appointment, new appointees to advisory bodies will receive a briefing by the 
applicable commission, committee, or task force chairperson and/or city staff 
regarding the duties and responsibilities of the members of their respective advisory 
body. 
 

8.3 Removal of Appointees. Appointees to advisory bodies may be removed prior to the expiration 
of their term of office, for any reason, by a supermajority vote (five council members) of the city 
council as a whole. 
 

8.4 Exit Interviews.  The council shall may annually appoint a committee of three (3) or fewer council 
members to conduct exit interviews of all departing appointees of council-appointed advisory 
bodies. The city clerk shall prepare and maintain standard questions for the committee’s use. 
Should the council not appoint an exit interview committee pursuant to this subsection, an exit 
questionnaire, approved by the city council, shall be provided to a departing appointee for their 
voluntary completion.  

 
8.5 Council Relations with Advisory Bodies. To avoid any undue influence on the city’s advisory 

bodies, and to prevent unauthorized or misrepresented communications between the council 
and advisory bodies, council members are prohibited from attending any meeting of the city’s 
advisory bodies in an official capacity unless specifically authorized to attend by a consensus of 

57 of 200



Page 22 of 22 
 

the city council. Further, council members are strongly encouraged to not attend any meeting of 
the city’s advisory bodies in an unofficial capacity. If a council member chooses to attend a 
meeting of any of the city’s advisory bodies in an unofficial capacity, he/she shall expressly state 
that he/she is attending and/or speaking in a personal capacity only and is in no way 
representing the opinions or position of the city council as a whole. 
 

9.0 PUBLIC COMMUNICATION & REPRESENTATION 
 
 Councilmembers who meet with, speak to, or otherwise appear before a community group or 

another governmental agency or representative must clearly state if his or her statement 
reflects their personal opinion or if it is the official stance of the city, or if this is the majority or 
minority opinion of the council.  
 

 When councilmembers represent the city or attend meetings in an official capacity as 
councilmember, they must support and advocate the official city position on an issue, not a 
personal viewpoint.  
 

 Once the city council has taken a position on an issue, all official city correspondence regarding 
the issue will reflect the council's adopted position.  
 

 City letterhead shall not be used for correspondence of councilmembers representing a 
dissenting point of view from an official council position.  
 

 As a matter of courtesy, letters to the editor, or other communication of a controversial nature, 
which do not express the majority opinion of the council, shall be distributed to the full council 
so that councilmembers may be made aware of the impending publication. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

58 of 200



Consent Agenda Item C-4 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: June 14, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN THE GRANT 

FUNDING PROJECT AGREEMENT FOR DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF 
COVINGTON COMMUNITY PARK PHASE 2. 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Ethan Newton, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Proposed WWRP Project Agreement 
 
PREPARED BY:  Angie Feser, Parks Planner 
 
EXPLANATION: 
In March 2014 the City Council authorized staff to apply for grants to fund the design and 
construction of Phase 2 of Covington Community Park.  The application to the Washington State 
Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO) in the Washington Wildlife and Recreation Program 
(WWRP) was highly ranked and subsequently funded by the state legislature.  Approving this 
motion authorizes the city manager to sign the proposed project agreement (Attachment 1), thus 
providing $500,000 toward the design and construction cost of CCP Phase 2, but also creating 
significant obligations. 
 
In signing the project agreement the city is committing to design, build and maintain the park 
and accept certain perpetual obligations.  The project description in the agreement states that the 
project is to construct Phase 2 of Covington Community Park that meets the high priority 
recreation needs by developing an outdoor performance stage and grass seating area, trails, 
picnic shelters, outdoor fitness equipment, tennis court, parking, restrooms and associated road 
improvements. 
 
This project agreement creates ongoing obligations in perpetuity.  The agreement stipulates that 
project facilities, such as the stage, seating area, trails, outdoor fitness equipment, tennis court, 
restrooms and parking lot, cannot be converted to other uses during their normal operating life.  
The city is required to maintain the facilities in a safe condition throughout their life to prevent 
undue deterioration and so they appear attractive and inviting to the public.     
 
The timeline for the project is to complete design and bid specifications by the end of this year, 
bid the project in the winter of 2016-2017, with construction completed by fall 2017.  The park 
outside the construction zone will remain open during construction.  When construction is 
completed the entire park will reopen.   
 
  

59 of 200



ALTERNATIVES: 
1. Authorize the City Manager to execute the project agreement at this time.   
2. Do not authorize the City Manager to execute the project agreement.  The WWRP grant 

is a necessary component of construction funding for Covington Community Park Phase 
2.  If the Project Agreement is not approved, the city cannot proceed with construction. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
Revenue from this RCO - WWRP grant is $500,000.  The total project cost listed in the grant 
contract is $3,045,100. City funds of $354,510 are from the general fund being split between 
2016 and 2017. The 2016 amount was approved by Council, but 2017 funding will need to be 
considered for approval during the 2017 budget process. This funding, along with grant funds 
from the RCO Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) and the Washington State 
Department of Commerce will also be utilized on this project. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution     X    Motion           Other 
 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to sign the RCO Project Agreement 
for design and construction of Covington Community Park Phase 2 in 
substantial form as that presented.    
 

REVIEWED BY: 
Parks and Recreation Director, Finance Director, City Attorney, City Manager 
 

60 of 200



ATTACHMENT 1

61 of 200



62 of 200



63 of 200



64 of 200



65 of 200



66 of 200



67 of 200



68 of 200



69 of 200



70 of 200



71 of 200



72 of 200



73 of 200



74 of 200



75 of 200



76 of 200



77 of 200



78 of 200



79 of 200



80 of 200



81 of 200



82 of 200



83 of 200



84 of 200



85 of 200



86 of 200



Consent Agenda Item C-5 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  June 14, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: FINAL ACCEPTANCE OF CITYWIDE INTERSECTION SAFETY 

IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT (CIP 1029). 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
1. Final Contract Voucher Certificate 
2. Notice of Completion of Public Works Contract 
 
PREPARED BY:  Robert Lindskov, City Engineer 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The Covington City Council awarded the Citywide Intersection and Safety Improvements 
Project (CIP 1029) to R.W. Scott Construction on January 12, 2016.  The project included the 
construction of safety improvements to nine (9) locations throughout the city.  These 
improvements varied at each location, with some including rechannelization and pavement 
markings; improved sight distance and crosswalks; and upgraded signs, sidewalks and ADA 
access points.  The intersections included are: 

1) SE 272nd Street / 168th Place SE 
2) 168th Place SE /169th Place SE 
3) SE 270th Place / 174th Avenue SE 
4) SE 256th Street / 180th Avenue SE 
5) SE 267th Street / 192nd Avenue SE 
6) SE 261st Street / 180th Avenue SE 
7) SE 268th Street / 164th Avenue SE 
8) SE Wax Road / 180th Avenue SE 
9) SE 256th Street / 170th Avenue SE 

 
Council authorized the awarding of the project in the amount of $211,258.00 to R.W. Scott 
Construction on January 12, 2016.  Council also authorized the approval of a task order with 
Gray & Osborne for construction management support for this project in the amount of $10,170. 
 
With careful construction, the contractor avoided damaging the traffic signal detection loops at 
SE 256th and 180th Ave SE, saving $11,000 in replacement costs.  This allowed us to deliver the 
project for $9,542.17 under the bid amount. 
 
Completion of all contract work was completed on April 7, 2016.  The contractor has since 
submitted to the city all documentation required by the project contract and required by law, 
including all intents and affidavits for payment of prevailing wages, final contract voucher 
certificate. 
 
 

87 of 200



FISCAL IMPACT: 
The project was completed under budget.  The breakdown of the Revenue and Expenditures are 
as follows: 
 

Revenue: 
• Remaining MAP-21 Grant Funds $211,673 
• Council Authorized City Contribution $21,318 

 
   Total Revenue $232,991 
 

Expenditures/Budget: 
• Construction Contract Costs $201,716 
• Construction Management Consultant Costs $10,170 
• WSDOT Administration Costs $1,000 
 

 Total Costs  $212,886 
 
 Under Budget  $20,105 

 
The final construction cost for the originally advertised project was $201,716.  With the unused 
contingency ($10,563 in the original project award budget) and the traffic detection loop savings, 
the project came in under budget by $20,105. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  ____ Ordinance               Resolution       X    Motion             Other  
 

Council member _______________ moves, Council member ______________ 
seconds, to accept the construction contract with R.W. Scott Construction for 
the Citywide Intersection and Safety Improvements Project (CIP 1029) as 
completed, with the date of final acceptance as June 14, 2016. 

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

88 of 200



ATTACHMENT 1

89 of 200



90 of 200



91 of 200



92 of 200



93 of 200



Revised #

Assigned to:

UBI Number:

Yes No

Yes
Contractor's Name

Date: Contractor's UBI Number: 

Date Work Accepted

Federally funded transportation project?           

Name & Mailing Address of Public Agency

E-mail Address

Contract Number
Notice is hereby given relative to the completion of contract or project described below

Description of Work Done/Include Jobsite Address(es)

Affidavit ID*
No          (if yes, provide Contract Bond Statement below)

NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACT

Project Name

Date Assigned:

Job Order Contracting

Date Contract Awarded

Telephone #

Bond Number:
Retainage Bond Contract/Payment bond (valid for federally funded transportation projects)

Name:  

Department Use Only

Original

If Retainage is not withheld, please select one of the following and List Surety's Name & Bond Number.

Date Work Commenced Date Work Completed

Contractor Address

Were Subcontracters used on this project? If so, please complete Addendum A.            Yes No

$
$ $
$ $
$ $

$
$ $

Contact Name: Title:

F215-038-000 04-2014

Email Address: Phone Number:

p

Additions    ( + )

Amount Retained

REV 31 0020e (4/28/14)

Amount of Sales Tax 

Contract Amount

Sub-Total
Reductions  ( - ) Amount Disbursed

TOTAL

Note: The Disbursing Officer must submit this completed notice immediately after acceptance of the work done under this contract.
NO PAYMENT SHALL BE MADE FROM RETAINED FUNDS until receipt of all release certificates.                                                                                 
Submitting Form: Please submit the completed form by email to all three agencies below. 

TOTAL

Liquidated Damages

Comments:

(If various rates apply, please send a breakdown)

NOTE: These two totals must be equal

p

     Affidavit ID* - No L&I release will be granted until all affidavits are listed.

Contract Release
(855) 545-8163, option # 4
ContractRelease@LNI.WA.GOV

Employment Security 
Department
Registration, Inquiry, 
Standards & Coordination 
Unit
(360) 902-9450
publicworks@esd.wa.gov

Department of Revenue
Public Works Section
(360) 704-5650
PWC@dor.wa.gov

V e ( / / )

ATTACHMENT 2

94 of 200

mjcts140
Typewritten Text



Subcontractor's Name: UBI Number: (Required) Affidavid ID*

Provide known affidavits at this time.  No L&I release will be granted until all affidavits are listed.

Addendum A: Please List all Subcontractors and Sub-tiers Below
This addendum can be submitted in other formats.

For tax assistance or to request this document in an alternate format, please call 1-800-647-7706. Teletype (TTY)  users may use the 
Washington Relay Service by calling 711.
REV 31 0020e Addendum (04/28/14) F215-038-000 04-201495 of 200



 Consent Agenda Item C-6 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: June 14, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: CONSIDER RESOLUTION UPDATING REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITION 

AND RELOCATION POLICY, PROCEDURES AND GUIDELINES.  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Don Vondran, PE, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  

1. Proposed Resolution 
2. Resolution No. 02/53 

 
PREPARED BY:  Fred French, Project Engineer 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The City has a need to acquire real estate for Capital Improvement Project 1127 – SR 516: 
Jenkins Creek to 185th Avenue SE.  Funding for this project includes city funds, impact fees, and 
State/Federal Grants.  Use of Federal and State Grants requires that certain procedures be 
followed regarding land acquisition.  The Right-of-Way section of the Washington State 
Department of Transportation (WSDOT) has determined that our existing “Real Property 
Acquisition and Relocation Policy, Procedures and Guidelines”, adopted in 2002, is out of date 
and must be updated to allow use of the pending State and Federal funding for CIP 1127. 
 
WSDOT Right-of-Way staff recommends the attached Right-of-Way Procedure document 
(EXHIBIT A to Resolution).  The significant difference between the 2002 document and the 
WSDOT recommendation for 2016 is that in addition to the federal and state laws sited and 
reiterated in the 2002 document, the new document continues to reference the federal and state 
laws and in addition, sites the guidelines developed and administered by WSDOT, specifically 
the Right-of-Way Manual (M 26-01) and the Local Agency Guidelines (LAG).  These guidelines 
are continually monitored and updated by WSDOT to comply with new federal requirements. 
 
Staff recommends that Council pass the attached Resolution adopting the Right-of-Way 
Procedures as submitted to update the existing Real Property Acquisition and Relocation Policy, 
Procedures and Guidelines.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
No direct fiscal impact.  The policies do set certain financial limits regarding real property 
acquisitions and signing authorities. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance     X    Resolution         Motion         Other 
 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to adopt a resolution in substantial form as that attached hereto, 
updating the City of Covington’s Real Property Acquisition and Relocation 
Policy, Procedures and Guidelines, as attached and authorizes the City 
Manager to execute the policy as needed. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director. 

96 of 200



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-10 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
REPEALING RESOLUTION NO. 02/53 AND ADOPTING 
NEW COVINGTON REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITION 
AND RELOCATION POLICY, PROCEDURES AND 
GUIDELINES 

WHEREAS, the City Council previously passed Resolution No. 02/53 adopting Real 
Property Acquisition and Relocation Policy, Procedures and Guidelines; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council deems it necessary to adopt new Real Property Acquisition 
and Relocation Policy, Procedures and Guidelines in accordance with the recommendations of 
the Washington State Department of Transportation; now, therefore, 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Covington, King County, 
Washington, as follows: 

Section 1.  Resolution No. 02/53 is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

Section 2.  The attached Exhibit “A” is hereby adopted as the City of Covington’s Real 
Property Acquisition and Relocation Policy. 

ADOPTED in open and regular session on this 14th day of June, 2016, and signed in 
authentication thereof. 

_____________________________________ 
Mayor Jeff Wagner 

ATTESTED: 

_____________________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

_____________________________________ 
Sara Springer, City Attorney 

ATTACHMENT 1

97 of 200



Right of Way Procedures 

The City of Covington, hereinafter referred to as “AGENCY”, desiring to acquire Real Property in accordance 
with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act and applicable federal 
regulations (49 CFR Part 24) and state law (Ch. 8.26 RCW), and state regulations (Ch. 468‐100 WAC) hereby 
adopts the following procedures to implement the above statutes and Washington Administrative Code. The 
AGENCY is responsible for the real property acquisition and relocation activities on projects administered by 
the AGENCY. To fulfill the above requirements the AGENCY will acquire right‐of‐way in accordance with the 
policies set forth in the Right of Way Manual M 26‐01 and Local Agency Guidelines. The AGENCY has the 
following expertise and personnel capabilities to accomplish these functions: 

1. The following relate to the AGENCY’s request.

a. Below is a list of responsible AGENCY positions, for which the AGENCY has qualified staff to perform
the specific right‐of‐way function(s). Attached is a listing of each individual on the AGENCY staff who
currently fill those positions below, and a brief summary of their qualifications pertaining to the
specific right‐of‐ way function(s) for which they are listed. This list shall be updated whenever staffing
changes occur. The AGENCY will be approved to acquire based upon staff qualifications.

i. PROGRAM ADMINISTRATION :

Oversee delivery of the R/W Program on federal aid projects for the agency.    Ensures R/W
functions are carried out in compliance with federal and state laws, regulations, policies and
procedures.

Responsibilities/Expectations:
 Ensures agency’s approved R/W Procedures are current, including staff qualifications, and

provides copies to consultants and agency staff;

 Oversight of R/W consultants;
o use of consultant contract approved by WSDOT (under construction)
o management of ROW contracts
o management of R/W files
o reviews and approves actions and decisions recommended by consultants

o Overall responsibility for decisions that are outside the purview of consultant functions

 Sets Just Compensation prior to offers being made;

 Approves administrative offer summaries per policy;

 Ensure agency has a relocation appeal process in place prior to starting relocation activities;

 Oversight of Administrative Settlements;

 Obligation authority for their agency;

 Obtain permits (Non‐Uniform Relocation Act (URA));

 Ensures there is a separation of functions to avoid conflicts of interest.

Public Works Director 

Title of AGENCY Position (employee name & qualifications attached) 

EXHIBIT A

98 of 200



LPA-001 Right of Way Procedures 
Revised 8/2015 

ii. APPRAISAL
Prepare and deliver appraisals on federal aid projects for the agency.    Ensures that appraisals are

consistent and in compliance with state and federal laws, regulations, policies and procedures.

Responsibilities/Expectations: 

 Use only qualified agency staff approved by WSDOT to perform appraisal work;

 Use appraiser from WSDOT’s Approved Appraiser List if agency does not have qualified staff;

 Prepare Project Funding Estimates (PFE) or, when applicable, True Cost Estimates (TCE);

 Prepare Administrative Offer Summaries (AOS or Appraisal Waiver);

 Obtain specialist reports;

 Coordinate with engineering, program administration, acquisition, relocation, and/or property
management as necessary.

Qualified Consultant 

Title of AGENCY Position (employee name & qualifications attached) 

iii. APPRAISAL REVIEW:
Review appraisals on federal aid projects for the agency to make sure they are adequate, reliable,

and have reasonable supporting data, and approve appraisal reports.    Ensures appraisals are 

adequately supported and represent fair market value and applicable costs to cure and are 

completed in compliance with state and federal laws, regulations, policies and procedures. 

Responsibilities/Expectations: 

 Use only qualified agency staff approved by WSDOT to perform appraisal review work;

 Use review appraiser from WSDOT’s Approved Appraiser List if agency does not have qualified staff;

 Ensures project wide consistency in approaches to value, use of market data and costs to cure;

 Coordinate with engineering, program administration, acquisition, relocation, and/or property
management as necessary.

Qualified Consultant 

Title of AGENCY Position (employee name & qualifications attached) 

iv. ACQUISITION:
Acquire, through negotiation with property owners, real property or real property interests (rights) on 

federal aid projects for the agency.    Ensures acquisitions are completed in compliance with federal 

and state laws, regulations, and policies and procedures. 

Responsibilities/Expectations: 

 Use only qualified staff to perform acquisition activities for real property or real property interests,
including donations;

 To avoid a conflict of interest, when the acquisition function prepares an AOS, only acquires
property valued at $10,000 or less;

 Provide and maintain a comprehensive written account of acquisition activities for each parcel;

99 of 200



LPA-001 Right of Way Procedures 
Revised 8/2015 

 Prepare administrative settlement justification and obtain approval;

 Prepare Project Funding Estimates (PFE) or, when applicable, True Cost Estimates (TCE);

 Prepare Administrative Offer Summaries (AOS or Appraisal Waiver);

 Review title, and recommend and obtain approval for acceptance of encumbrances;

 Ensure acquisition documents are consistent with R/W plans, valuation, and title reports;

 Provide a negotiator disclaimer;

 Coordinate with engineering, program administration, appraisal, relocation, and/or property
management as necessary;

 Maintain a complete, well organized parcel file for each acquisition.

Qualified Consultant 

Title of AGENCY Position (employee name & qualifications attached) 

v. RELOCATION:
Provide relocation assistance to occupants of property considered displaced by a federally funded

projects for the agency. Ensures relocations are completed in compliance with federal and state

laws, regulations, policies and procedures.

Responsibilities/Expectations: 

 Prepare and obtain approval of relocation plan prior to starting relocation activities;

 Confirm relocation appeal procedure is in place;

 Provide required notices and advisory services;

 Make calculations and provide recommendations for agency approving authority prior to
making payment;

 Provide and maintain a comprehensive written account of relocation activities for each parcel;

 Coordinate with engineering, program administration, appraisal, acquisition, and/or property
management as necessary;

 Maintain a complete, well organized parcel file for each displacement;

 Ensure occupants and personal property is removed from the ROW.

Qualified Consultant 

Title of AGENCY Position (employee name & qualifications attached) 

vi. PROPERTY MANAGEMENT:
Establish property management policies and procedures that will assure control and

administration of ROW, excess lands, and improvements acquired on federal aid projects for

the agency.    Ensures property management activities are completed in compliance with

federal and state laws, regulations, policies and procedures.

Responsibilities/Expectations:

 Account for use of proceeds from the sale/lease of property acquired with federal funds on
other title 23 eligible activities;

 Keep R/W free of encroachments;

100 of 200



LPA-001 Right of Way Procedures 
Revised 8/2015 

 Obtain WSDOT/FHWA approval for change in access control along interstate;

 Maintain property records;

 Coordinate with engineering, program administration, appraisal, acquisition, and/or property
management as necessary;

 Maintain a complete, well organized parcel file for each displacement;

 Ensure occupants and personal property is removed from the R/W.

Public Works Director 

Title of AGENCY Position (employee name & qualifications attached) 

b. Any functions for which the AGENCY does not have qualified staff, the Agency will contract with
another local agency with approved procedures, an outside contractor, or the Washington State
Department of Transportation (WSDOT). An AGENCY that proposes to use outside contractors for
any of the above functions will need to work closely with the WSDOT Local Agency Coordinator (LAC)
and Local Programs to ensure all requirements are met. When the AGENCY proposes to have a staff
person approved to negotiate who is not experienced in negotiation for FHWA funded projects, the
LAC must be given a reasonable opportunity to review all offers and supporting data before they are
presented to the property owners.

c. An AGENCY wishing to take advantage of an Appraisal Waiver (aka Administrative Offer Summary or
AOS) procedure on properties valued up to $25,000 or less should make their proposed waiver
procedure a part of these procedures. The procedure outlined in LAG manual has already been
approved using form LPA‐003. The AGENCY may submit a procedure different than that shown and it
will be reviewed and approved if it provides sufficient information to determine value.

d. Attached is a copy of the AGENCY’s administrative settlement procedure showing the approving
authority(s) and the procedure involved in making administrative settlements.

2. All projects shall be available for review by the FHWA and WSDOT at any time and all project documents
shall be retained and available for inspection during the plan development, right‐of‐way and
construction stages, and for a three year period following acceptance of the projects by WSDOT.

3. Approval of the AGENCY’s procedures by WSDOT may be rescinded at any time the AGENCY is found to
no longer have qualified staff or is found to be in non‐compliance with the regulations. The rescission
may be applied to all or part of the functions approved.

Regan Bolli,    City Manager  Date

Washington State Department of Transportation 

Approved By: 

Local Programs Right of Way Manager  Date

101 of 200



LPA-003 
10/2014 

WAIVER OF APPRAISAL PROCEDURE 
 

The City of Covington, hereinafter referred to as “AGENCY”, desiring to acquire Real 
Property according to 23 CFR, Part 635, Subpart C and State directives, and desiring to 
take advantage of the $25,000.00 appraisal waiver process approved by the Federal 
Highway Administration (FHWA) for Washington State, hereby agrees to follow the 
procedure approved for the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) as 
follows: 
 
Rules 

A. The AGENCY may elect to waive the requirement for an appraisal if the 
acquisition is simple and the compensation estimate indicated on the 
Project Funding Estimate (PFE) is $25,000.00 or less including cost-to 
cure items.  A True Cost Estimate shall not be used with this procedure. 
 

B. The AGENCY must make the property owner(s) aware that an appraisal 
has not been completed on the property for offers $10,000 or less. 

 
C. The AGENCY must make the property owner(s) aware that an appraisal 

has not been completed on the property for offers over $10,000 and up to 
$25,000, and that an appraisal will be prepared if requested by the 
property owner(s). 

 
D.  Special care should be taken in the preparation of the waiver. As no review 

is mandated, the preparer needs to assure that the compensation is fair and 
that all the calculations are correct. 

 
Procedures 

A. An Administrative Offer Summary (AOS) is prepared using data from the 
PFE. 

 
B. The AOS is submitted to the Public Works Director for approval. 

 

 
C. The City Manager signs the AOS authorizing a first offer to the property 

owner(s). 
 

APPROVED: 
AGENCY 
 
By: ______________________________ _____________________________ 

City Manager                                          Local Programs Right of Way 
Manager 

 

102 of 200



CITY OF COVINGTON 

ADMINISTRATIVE SETTLEMENT POLICIES 

Administrative settlements that exceed Fair Market Value (FMV) as established through 
the appraisal process, and in accordance with LAG Manual section 25.11, Administrative 
Settlement Guidelines, shall be documented and thoroughly justified, and shall be set 
forth in writing.  

Administrative Settlements shall be subject to the following levels of approval authority: 
Project Managers shall be authorized to offer up to 10% above FMV, not to exceed 
$2,500. The Public Works Director/City Engineer or designee shall have the authority to 
make administrative settlements up to 25% above FMV, not to exceed to $7,500. The 
City Manager or designee is authorized to approve administrative settlements not to 
exceed to $30,000.  City Council will approve any administrative settlements over 
$30,000. 

APPROVED:  City of Covington 

By: ____________________________________ ______________________ 
Regan Bolli,          City Manager Date 

103 of 200



QUALIFIED AGENCY PERSONNEL 

AGENCY:  City of Covington 

The following personnel are qualified for the AGENCY’S Right‐of Way “Program Administration” 

and “Property Management” in accordance with their identified Job Title Responsibilities and as 

required by the Washing State Department of Transportation Local Agency Guidelines Manual. 

Job Title  Personnel Name  Qualifications 

Public Works Director  Don Vondran, PE   24 years of Public Agency experience specializing in all

aspects of project development.

 14 years as a Licensed Professional Civil Engineer.

 13 years of experience in municipal government.

 Managed and directed all aspects of city public works

projects.  This includes planning, design, ROW plans,

legal exhibits, condemnation process, relocation,

construction, inspection, documentation and

administration.

 Project Manager on 7 capital improvement projects

that involved ROW acquisition.  Two of which involved

federal funding.

City Engineer  Bob Linskov, PE   14 years of WSDOT/Public Agency experience

specializing in transportation engineering.

 7 years as a Licensed Professional Civil Engineer.

 2 years of experience in municipal government.

 Knowledge in design, construction, and operations of

roadside safety devices, data collection devices, and

traffic signals.

 Evaluated operational concerns on State highways

using accident analysis, roadside risk analysis, capacity

analysis, speed studies, contract histories, right‐of‐way

research, field condition assessments, and video

surveillance.

 Involved with multiple federally funded projects.

Special Projects  Fred French, PE   33 years of experience in municipal government.

 36 years as a Licensed Professional Civil Engineer.

 Directed all aspects of city public works projects.

Including planning, design, ROW acquisition, inspection,

documentation and administration.

104 of 200



ATTACHMENT 2

105 of 200



106 of 200



107 of 200



108 of 200



109 of 200



110 of 200



111 of 200



112 of 200



113 of 200



114 of 200



115 of 200



116 of 200



117 of 200



118 of 200



119 of 200



120 of 200



121 of 200



122 of 200



123 of 200



124 of 200



125 of 200



126 of 200



127 of 200



128 of 200



129 of 200



130 of 200



131 of 200



132 of 200



133 of 200



134 of 200



135 of 200



136 of 200



137 of 200



138 of 200



139 of 200



140 of 200



141 of 200



142 of 200



143 of 200



144 of 200



145 of 200



146 of 200



147 of 200



148 of 200



149 of 200



150 of 200



151 of 200



152 of 200



153 of 200



154 of 200



155 of 200



156 of 200



Agenda Item 1 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: June 14, 2016 

 
SUBJECT:  CONTINUE DISCUSSION OF PROPOSED NEW CITY OFFICIAL’S CODE OF 

ETHICS 
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Regan Bolli, City Manager 
 Sara Springer, City Attorney 
   
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Proposed New Code of Ethics 
 

PREPARED BY:  Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
EXPLANATION: 
 
In April, staff presented an overview of the first draft of a new City Officials’ Code of Ethics. 
The council indicated that they would like to bring the Code of Ethics back for review and 
discussion at this June 14, 2016, council meeting.  
 
This agenda item is for discussion purposes only. Upon receiving comments from council 
members, staff will continue their review and revision of the proposed code and will return to the 
council for further review and approval.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
None 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution     _   Motion    X _   Other 

 
DISCUSSION ITEM ONLY—NO ACTION REQUIRED 

 
REVIEWED BY: City Manager; City Attorney; City Clerk 

157 of 200



Page 1 of 16 

COVINGTON OFFICERS & OFFICIALS 
CODE OF ETHICS 

--DRAFT ONLY--

1. SECTION 1: PURPOSE

1.1. Purpose. The Covington city council has adopted this code of ethics for members of the city 
council and the city’s boards and commissions to promote public confidence in the integrity of 
local government and its fair operation. This code of ethics will provide the basis for education 
and training for city officials, both elected and appointed, to ensure that the highest standards 
and best practices with regard to ethics will be followed. 

1.2. Intent. The citizens and businesses of Covington are entitled to have fair, ethical and accountable 
local government that has earned the public’s full confidence. In keeping with the city of 
Covington’s commitment to excellence, the effective functioning of democratic government 
therefore requires that: 

1.2.1. Public officials, both elected and appointed, comply with the laws and policies affecting 
the operations of government; 

1.2.2. Public officials be independent, impartial and fair in their judgment and actions; 

1.2.3. Public office be used for the public good, not for personal gain; and 

1.2.4. Public deliberations and processes be conducted openly, unless legally confidential, in an 
atmosphere of respect and civility. 

1.3. This code of ethics shall be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose and policy and to 
supplement existing laws that relate to the same subject. 

1.4. The conduct of all officials shall meet the applicable requirements of both this code and Chapter 
42.23 RCW. When a higher standard of conduct is established by this code than by Chapter 42.23 
RCW, the standards of this code shall control; provided, this code shall not be construed to 
permit any act or omission that is prohibited by Chapter 42.23 RCW. 

1.5. This code of ethics shall take effect xxxxxxxx xx, 2016. 

2. SECTION 2: DEFINITIONS.

For the purpose of interpreting and enforcing this code of ethics, the following definitions shall apply: 

ATTACHMENT 1

158 of 200



 

Page 2 of 16 
 

2.1. “Business entity” means any corporation, general or limited partnership, sole proprietorship 
(including a private consultant operation), joint venture, unincorporated association or firm, 
institution, trust, foundation, or other organization, whether or not organized for profit. 

2.2. “City agency” means every department, office, ethics officer, hearing examiner, commission, or 
committee of the city, or any subdivision thereof, but excludes public corporations and ad hoc 
advisory committees. 

2.3. “City officer or employee” means any person holding a position by election, appointment, or 
employment in the service of the city or city agency, whether paid or unpaid, including members 
of any ethics hearing officer, committee or commission. 

2.4. “Compensation” means anything of economic value, however designated, which is paid, loaned, 
advanced, granted, given or transferred for or in consideration of personal services to any 
person. 

2.5. “Beneficial interest” means any direct or indirect, pecuniary or material benefit, other than a 
remote interest, accruing to a city official as a result of a contract, transaction, zoning decision or 
other matter which is or may be the subject of an official act or act by or with the city, except for 
such contracts, transactions, zoning decisions or other matters which by their terms and by the 
substance or their provisions confer the opportunity and right to realize the accrual of similar 
benefits to all other persons and/or property similarly situated. For purposes of this code, a city 
official shall be deemed to have an interest in the affairs of: 

2.5.1. The official’s spouse or dependent children; 

2.5.2. Any person or business entity with whom a contractual relationship, whether oral or 
written, exists with the official; 

2.5.3. Any business entity in which the official is an officer, director, member, or employee; 

2.5.4. Any business entity in which the officer controls or owns, directly or indirectly, in excess of 
one percent (1%) of the total stock, or an interest totaling five thousand dollars ($5,000) or 
more in value; and 

2.5.5. Any person or business entity with whom a contractual relationship, whether oral or 
written, exists with the official; provided, however, that a contractual obligation of less 
than five hundred dollars ($500.00), or a commercially reasonable lien made in the 
ordinary course of business, or a contract for a commercial retail sale, shall not be deemed 
to create an interest in violation of this code. 

2.6. “Immediate family” means any person who is: 

2.6.1. A spouse or domestic partner; 

159 of 200



 

Page 3 of 16 
 

2.6.2. Any dependent parent, parent-in-law, child or son-in-law or daughter-in-law; or 

2.6.3. Any parent, parent-in-law, child, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, sibling, uncle, aunt, cousin, 
niece or nephew residing in the household of the city official. 

2.7. “Official” means a member of the city council or a member of council-appointed city boards and 
commissions and other council-appointed task groups or committees, including youth members. 

2.8. “Official act or action” means any legislative, administrative, appointive or discretionary act of 
any city official or committee or commission thereof. 

2.9. “Person” means any individual, association, corporation, or other legal entity. 

2.10. “Remote interest” means: 

2.10.1. That of a non-salaried officer of a nonprofit corporation; 

2.10.2. That of an employee or agent of a contracting party where the compensation of such 
employee or agent consists entirely of fixed wages or salary; 

2.10.3. That of a landlord or tenant of a contracting party; 

2.10.4. That of a holder of less than one percent (1%) of the shares of a corporation or 
cooperative which is a contracting party.  

2.11.  “Relative” means “Immediate Family” as defined herein.   

3. SECTION 3: FINANCIAL OR BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN CITY TRANSACTIONS 

No official, while holding such office or position, shall: 

3.1. Regardless of prior disclosure thereof, hold or acquire a beneficial interest, direct or indirect, 
personally or through a member of his or her immediate family, in any contract which, in whole 
or in part, is, or which may be, made by, through, or under the supervision of such official or 
which may be made for the benefit of his or her office/position, or accept, directly or indirectly, 
any compensation, gratuity, or reward in connection with such contract from any other person or 
entity beneficially interested therein, in violation of Chapter 42.23 RCW. 

 

160 of 200



 

Page 4 of 16 
 

3.2. Regardless of prior disclosure thereof, be beneficially interested, directly or indirectly, other than 
a remote interest, in any contract or transaction which may be made by, through, or under the 
supervision of such official, in whole or in part, or which may be made for the benefit of his or her 
office/position, or accept, directly or indirectly, any compensation, gratuity, or reward in 
connection with such contract or transaction from any other person beneficially interested 
therein, in violation of Chapter 42.23 RCW. This subsection shall not apply to the furnishing of 
utility services or other services of the city at the same rates and on the same terms as are 
available to the public generally, or to any other transaction specifically exempted by Chapter 
42.23 RCW. 

4. SECTION 4: DISQUALIFICATIONS FROM ACTING ON CITY BUSINESS 

4.1. Generally. In order to ensure their independence and impartiality on behalf of the common good, 
officials shall abstain from participating in deliberations and decision-making where conflicts exist 
pursuant to this code. 

4.2. Prohibited Conduct. No city official, while holding such office or position, shall: 

4.2.1. Engage in any transaction or activity, which is, or would to a reasonable person appear to 
be, in conflict with or incompatible with the proper discharge of official duties, or which 
impairs, or would to a reasonable person appear to impair, the official’s independence of 
judgment or action in the performance of official duties and fail to disqualify himself or 
herself from official action in those instances where the conflict occurs. 

4.2.2. Have a financial or other private interest, other than a remote interest as defined in this 
code, direct or indirect, personally or through a member of his or her immediate family, or 
business entity, in any matter upon which the official is required to act in the discharge of 
his or her official duties, and fail to disqualify himself or herself from acting or 
participating. 

4.2.3. Fail to disqualify himself or herself from acting on any transaction which involves the city 
and any person who is, or at any time within the preceding twelve-month period has been, 
a private client of his or hers, or of his or her firm or partnership. 

4.2.4. Have a financial or other private interest, other than a remote interest as defined in this 
code, direct or indirect, personally or through a member of his or her immediate family, or 
business entity, in any contract or transaction to which the city or any city agency may be 
a party, and fail to disclose such interest to the appropriate city authority prior to the 
formation of the contract or the time the city or city agency enters into the transaction. 

161 of 200



 

Page 5 of 16 
 

4.3. Appearance of Conflict. If it could appear to a reasonable person, having knowledge of the 
relevant circumstances, that the official’s judgment is impaired because of either a personal or 
business relationship not covered under the foregoing subsections, or a transaction or activity 
engaged in by the official, the official shall make a public, written disclosure of the facts giving 
rise to the appearance of a conflict before participating in the matter. 

4.4. Exceptions. This section shall not apply to the following:  

4.4.1. decisions regarding taxes or fees;  

4.4.2. if the financial interest is shared with more than ten percent (10%) of the city’s 
population; or  

4.4.3. if the financial interest exists solely because of the official’s ownership of less than one 
percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of a publicly traded corporation. 

5. SECTION 5: GIFTS AND FAVORS 

5.1. Definitions. For purposes of this section, the following terms have the given meaning: 

5.1.1. “Gift” means anything of economic value for which no consideration is given. “Gift” does 
not include: 

5.1.1.1. Items from relatives or friends where it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that 
the gift was not made as part of any design to gain or maintain influence in the 
city or with the recipient in connection with city matters; 

5.1.1.2. Items related to the outside business of the recipient that are customary and not 
related to the recipient’s performance of official duties; 

5.1.1.3. Items exchanged among officials and employees or a social event hosted or 
sponsored by a city officer or city employee for co-workers; 

5.1.1.4. Payments by a governmental or nongovernmental entity of reasonable expenses 
incurred in connection with a speech, presentation, appearance, or trade 
mission made in an official capacity. As used in this subsection, “reasonable 
expenses” are limited to travel, lodging, and subsistence expenses incurred the 
day before through the day after the event; 

5.1.1.5. Items an official or employee is authorized by law to accept; 

162 of 200



 

Page 6 of 16 
 

5.1.1.6. Payment of enrollment and course fees and reasonable travel expenses 
attributable to attending seminars and educational programs sponsored by a 
bona fide nonprofit governmental or nonprofit professional, educational, trade, 
or charitable association or institution. As used in this subsection, “reasonable 
travel expenses” are limited to travel, lodging, and subsistence expenses 
incurred the day before through the day after the event; 

5.1.1.7. Items returned by the recipient to the donor within thirty (30) days of receipt or 
donated to a charitable organization within thirty (30) days of receipt; 

5.1.1.8. Campaign contributions reported under Chapter 42.17 RCW; 

5.1.1.9. Discounts available to an individual as a member of an employee group, 
occupation, or similar broad-based group; 

5.1.1.10. Awards, prizes, scholarships, or other items provided in recognition of academic 
or scientific achievement. 

5.1.2. “Single gift” means any event, item, or group of items used in conjunction with each other 
or any trip including transportation, lodging, and attendant costs, not excluded from the 
definition of gift under this subsection. 

5.1.3. “Single source” means any person, corporation, or entity, whether acting directly or 
through any agent or other intermediary 

5.2. Prohibited Gifts. Officials shall not take any special advantage of services or opportunities for 
personal gain, by virtue of their public office, which are not available to the public in general. 
They may not solicit or receive any thing of monetary value from any person or entity where the 
thing of monetary value has been solicited, received, or given or, to a reasonable person, would 
appear to have been solicited, received, or given with intent to give or obtain special 
consideration or influence as to any action by the official in his or her official capacity; provided, 
that nothing shall prohibit campaign contributions which are solicited or received and reported in 
accordance with applicable law.  

5.3. Limitations on Gifts. Other than those specified in this section, no official may accept gifts 
beyond the following limitations: 

5.3.1. Single Gift. An official shall not accept a single gift with a value in excess of fifty dollars 
($50.00) in accordance with RCW 42.52.150(1). 

5.3.2. Single Source. An official shall not accept gifts from a single source with an aggregate 
value in excess of fifty dollars ($50.00) in a calendar year.  

163 of 200

http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/rcw.pl?cite=42.17


 

Page 7 of 16 
 

5.3.3. The value of gifts given to an official’s family member or guest shall be attributed to the 
official or employee for the purpose of determining whether the limit has been exceeded, 
unless an independent business, family, or social relationship exists between the donor 
and the family member or guest. 

5.3.4. If the fifty dollar ($50.00) limit in RCW 42.52.150(1) is amended, this section shall be 
deemed to reflect the amended amount.  

5.4. Exemptions. The following items are presumed not to influence the vote, action, or judgment of 
the official, or be considered as part of a reward for action or inaction, and may be accepted 
without regard to the limitations established by subsection 4.3 of this section: 

5.4.1. Unsolicited flowers, plants, and floral arrangements; 

5.4.2. Unsolicited advertising or promotional items of nominal value, such as pens and note 
pads; 

5.4.3. Unsolicited tokens or awards of appreciation in the form of a plaque, trophy, desk item, 
wall memento, or similar item; 

5.4.4. Unsolicited items received by an official for the purpose of evaluation or review, if the 
official has no personal beneficial interest in the eventual use or acquisition of the item; 

5.4.5. Informational material, publications, or subscriptions related to the recipient’s 
performance of official duties; 

5.4.6. Food and beverages consumed at hosted receptions where attendance is related to the 
official’s official duties; 

5.4.7. Admission to, and the cost of food and beverages consumed at, events sponsored by or in 
conjunction with a civic, charitable, governmental, or community organization; 

5.4.8. Unsolicited gifts from dignitaries from another state or a foreign country which are 
intended to be personal in nature; and 

5.4.9. Food and beverages on infrequent occasions in the ordinary course of meals where 
attendance by the official is related to the performance of official duties. 

5.4.10. The presumptions of this subsection 5.4 are rebuttable and may be overcome based on 
the circumstances surrounding the giving and acceptance of the item.  

 

164 of 200



 

Page 8 of 16 
 

6. SECTION 6: CAMPAIGNING 

6.1. Generally. Officials may participate in the political process only on their own time, and only 
outside of city facilities by working on campaigns for the elections of any person to any office, or 
for the promotion of or the opposition to any ballot proposition, and shall not use or authorize 
the use of the facilities of the city for such purposes except as may be authorized by law under 
the provisions of Chapter 42.17.130 RCW.  

6.2. Elected Officials’ Campaigns.  

6.2.1. As required by RCW 42.17A.565, no official shall knowingly solicit or encourage, directly or 
indirectly, any political contribution from any city employee.  

6.2.2. Except under limited circumstances described in RCW 42.17A.555, no official may use or 
authorize the use of the facilities of the city for the purpose of assisting a campaign for the 
election of any person to any office, or for the promotion of or opposition to any ballot 
proposition in a manner not available to the general public on the same terms. 

7. SECTION 7: PROHIBITED CONDUCT—MISCELLANEOUS 

7.1. Violation of Other Laws. Officials shall comply with federal, state, and local laws in the 
performance of their public duties. These laws include, but are not limited to: the United States 
and Washington Constitutions; laws pertaining to conflicts of interest, election campaigns, 
financial disclosures, and open processes of government; and city ordinances and policies.  

7.2. Quasi-Judicial Proceedings.  

7.2.1. No city official while holding such office or position shall participate in or influence any 
pending quasi-judicial proceeding if the city official has a financial or personal interest in 
the matter. 

7.2.2. Ex Parte Communications. In quasi-judicial matters, officials shall publicly disclose 
substantive information that is relevant to a matter under consideration by the council or 
boards and commissions, which they may have received from sources outside of the public 
decision-making process. 

7.3. Misuse of Public Position or Resources. Except for infrequent use at little or no cost to the city, 
officials shall not use public resources that are not available to the public in general, such as city 
staff time, equipment, supplies or facilities, for other than a city purpose. 

7.4. Representation of Third Parties. Except in the course of official duties, officials shall not appear 
on behalf of the financial interests of third parties before the bodies on which the officials serve 
or in interaction with assigned staff. However, the members of the city council shall not appear 
on behalf of the financial interest of third parties before the council or any commission, board, or 
proceeding of the city, or in interaction with staff. 

165 of 200



 

Page 9 of 16 
 

7.5. Incompatible Service. No elected official shall engage in or accept private employment or render 
services for any person or engage in any business or professional activity when such employment, 
service, or activity is incompatible with the proper and faithful discharge of his or her official 
duties as such elected official, or when it would require or induce him or her to disclose 
confidential information acquired by him or her by reason of his or her official position.  

7.6. Solicitations of Charitable Contributions. No official may make direct personal solicitations for 
charitable contributions from city employees. 

7.7. Confidential Information. Officials shall not disclose or use any confidential information gained 
by reason of their official position for other than a city purpose. “Confidential information” 
means specific information, rather than generalized knowledge, that is not available to a person 
who files a public records request, and/or information made confidential by law. 

7.8. False Statements No official shall make, or induce or direct any city official or city employee to 
make, any false statement or representation of any public record or document in a willful 
disregard of the truth of such statement or representation.  

7.9. Nepotism. The city council will not appoint relatives of city council members to boards or 
commissions or other appointed positions. 

8. SECTION 8: ETHICAL STANDARDS 

Officials are encouraged to comply with the following standards: 

8.1. Policy Role of Officials. Officials shall respect and adhere to the council-manager structure of 
Covington city government as outlined by Chapter 35A.13 RCW. In this structure, the city council 
determines the policies of the city with the advice, information, and analysis provided by the 
public, boards and commissions, and city staff. Except as provided by state law, officials shall not 
interfere with the administrative functions of the city or the professional duties of city staff; nor 
shall they impair the ability of staff to implement council policy decisions. 

8.2. Personal Integrity.  

8.2.1. The professional and personal conduct of officials must be above reproach and avoid even 
the appearance of impropriety. Officials shall refrain from abusive conduct; threats of 
official action; and personal accusations or verbal attacks upon the character or motives of 
other members of council, boards and commissions, the staff, or public.  

8.2.2. Officials shall maintain truthfulness and honesty and not compromise themselves for 
advancement, honor, or personal gain.  

 

166 of 200



 

Page 10 of 16 
 

8.2.3. Officials shall not directly or indirectly induce, encourage, or aid anyone to violate this 
code of ethics and it is incumbent upon officials to make a good faith effort to address 
apparent violations of this code of ethics. 

8.3. Working for the Common Good. Recognizing that stewardship of the public interest must be 
their primary concern, officials will work for the common good of the people of Covington and 
not for any private or personal interest, and they will ensure fair and equal treatment of all 
persons, claims, and transactions coming before the city council, boards, and commissions. 
Officials need to be mindful that making special requests of staff—even when the response does 
not benefit the official personally—puts staff in an awkward position. 

8.4. Respect for Process. Officials shall perform their duties in accordance with the processes and 
rules of order established by the city council and board and commissions governing the 
deliberation of public policy issues, meaningful involvement of the public, and implementation of 
policy decisions of the city council by city staff. 

8.5. Commitment to Transparency. Transparency, openness, and accountability are fundamental 
values of the city—and are also required by the laws of the state of Washington. The public has a 
right to inspect and copy public records unless exempt by law from disclosure. All materials 
relating to the conduct of city government that are prepared, possessed, used, or retained by any 
official, including email and other electronic records, are subject to requirements for retention, 
protection, and disclosure. Officials may assume that all copies of materials received from city 
staff have already been archived and do not need to be retained. Officials shall not discard, 
damage, or destroy the original copy of any public record unless directed by the city public 
records officer (the city clerk), who has responsibility to ensure that the city complies with the 
record retention schedules established under Chapter 40.14 RCW. Officials shall promptly provide 
any records requested by the public records officer in response to a disclosure request under the 
Public Records Act, Chapter 42.56 RCW. It is the responsibility of the public records officer, 
together with the city attorney, to decide which records meet the definition of “public record” 
and whether or not they are exempt from disclosure; officials must not take it upon themselves 
to decide whether a record meets the definition of a public record, that a record is exempt from 
disclosure, or to otherwise conceal a record. 

8.6. Conduct of Public Meetings. Officials shall prepare themselves for public issues; listen 
courteously and attentively to all public discussions before the body; and focus on the business at 
hand. They shall refrain from interrupting other speakers; making personal comments not 
germane to the business of the body; or otherwise interfering with the orderly conduct of 
meetings. 

8.7. Decisions Based on Merit. Officials shall base their decisions on the merits and substance of the 
matter at hand, rather than on unrelated considerations. 

8.8. Advocacy.  

167 of 200



 

Page 11 of 16 
 

8.8.1. When acting in an official capacity as a city official representing the city, officials shall 
represent the official policies or positions of the city council, board, or commission to 
the best of their ability when the city council, board, or commission has taken a position 
or given an instruction.  

8.8.2. When presenting their individual opinions and positions, officials shall explicitly state 
they do not represent their body or the city of Covington, nor will they allow the 
inference that they do.  

8.8.3. Officials have the right to endorse candidates for all council seats or other elected 
offices. It is inappropriate to make or display endorsements during council meetings, 
board/commission meetings, or other official city meetings. However, this does not 
preclude officials from participating in ceremonial occasions, community events, or 
other events sponsored by civic groups. 

9. SECTION 9: ETHICS OFFICER  

9.1. Ethics Officer. The city council creates the position of ethics officer. The city attorney shall serve 
as the ethics officer, unless the city council chooses to appoint an independent third party, in 
addition to any additional duties as assigned by the city council, shall provide for the following: 

9.1.1. annual review of the code of ethics, including recommend changes or additions to this 
code of ethics to the city council, if deemed necessary;  

9.1.2. input into and review the training materials and program developed for this code of 
ethics; 

9.1.3. advisory opinions concerning this code of ethics; and 

9.1.4. the prompt and fair enforcement of the provisions of this code of ethics when 
necessary. 

9.2. Advisory Opinions.  

9.2.1. Upon request of any official, the ethics officer shall render written advisory opinions 
concerning the applicability of this code to hypothetical circumstances and/or situations 
solely related to the persons making the request. The ethics officer will not render 
opinions on matters that are the purview of other government agencies or officials, e.g., 
the public disclosure commission, the city public records officer, etc.  

9.2.2. Upon request of any official, the ethics officer may also render written advisory opinions 
concerning the applicability of the code of ethics to hypothetical circumstances and/or 
situations related to a matter of city-wide interest or policy. 

168 of 200



 

Page 12 of 16 
 

9.2.3. The ethics officer will endeavor to respond to requests for advisory opinions within 
thirty (30) days of submission of the request, or more rapidly if the requester expresses 
urgency in the request. 

9.2.4. A person’s conduct based in reasonable reliance on an advisory opinion rendered by the 
ethics officer shall not be found to violate this code of ethics, as long as all material facts 
have been fully, completely, and accurately presented in a written request for an 
advisory opinion, the ethics officer issues an advisory opinion that the described 
conduct would not violate the code of ethics, and the person’s conduct is consistent 
with the advisory opinion.  

9.2.5. The ethics officer reserves the right to reconsider the questions and issues raised in an 
advisory opinion and, where the public interest requires, rescind, modify, or terminate 
the opinion, but a modified or terminated advisory opinion will not form the basis of a 
retroactive enforcement action against the original requestor. Advisory opinions will 
contain severability clauses indicating that should portions of the opinion be found to be 
unenforceable or not within the ethics officer’s authority, the remainder of the opinion 
shall remain intact.  

10. SECTION 10: COMPLAINTS, INVESTIGATIONS, HEARINGS, AND ENFORCEMENT. 

The ethics officer shall resolve inadvertent and minor violations of this code of ethics informally and 
may resolve inadvertent or minor violations informally, unless the ethics officer determines that doing 
so would not serve the public interest. When a violation is neither inadvertent nor minor, the ethics 
officer may initiate an action in accordance with this section. 

10.1. Time Limitation. Any complaint or action taken under this code of ethics must be commenced 
within three (3) years from the date of the alleged violation. 

 

10.2. Complaint Process. 

10.2.1. Complaint Requirements—Service. Any person may submit a written complaint to the 
ethics officer, through the city clerk’s office, alleging one or more violations of this code 
of ethics by an official. The complaint must set forth specific facts with enough precision 
and detail for the ethics officer to make a determination of sufficiency. In addition, the 
complaint must set forth the specific sections and subsections of this code that the facts 
violate, and the reasons why. The complaint must be signed under penalty of perjury by 
the person(s) submitting it in a manner consistent with Chapter 9A.72 RCW. The fact 
that a complaint has been received, the contents of the complaint, and the identity of 
the person making the complaint shall remain confidential to the extent available under 
the law until such time as the ethics officer has made a determination of sufficiency. 

 

169 of 200



 

Page 13 of 16 
 

10.2.2. Finding of Sufficiency. The ethics officer shall make a determination of sufficiency 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of the written complaint. A complaint shall be sufficient 
if the allegations, if established, would violate this code. The ethics officer’s 
determination is not reviewable. If the finding is one of sufficiency of the complaint, 
then the ethics officer may investigate the complaint as set forth below. 

A finding by the ethics officer determining that a complaint is sufficient shall contain at 
the beginning the following specific language: 

NOTICE: ANY PORTION OF THIS FINDING DETERMINING SUFFICIENCY OF 
ANY PORTION OF A COMPLAINT DOES NOT DETERMINE THE TRUTH OR 
FALSITY OF THE ALLEGATIONS CONTAINED IN THE COMPLAINT FILED WITH 
THE ETHICS OFFICER. THE ETHICS OFFICER HAS ONLY DETERMINED THAT IF 
CERTAIN FACTS CONTAINED IN THE COMPLAINT ARE FOUND TO BE TRUE 
DURING A LATER HEARING TO BE CONDUCTED BY THE HEARING EXAMINER, 
THEN VIOLATION(S) OF THE CODE OF ETHICS MAY BE FOUND TO HAVE 
OCCURRED. 

10.2.3. Dismissal. The ethics officer shall dismiss the complaint if the ethics officer determines 
that the violation was inadvertent and minor; or a violation occurred, but appropriate 
actions have been taken to fully address the allegedly unethical conduct. 

 

10.2.4. Protection Against Retaliation. Neither the city nor any official may take or threaten to 
take, directly or indirectly, official or personal action, including but not limited to 
discharge, discipline, personal attack, harassment, intimidation, or change in job, salary, 
or responsibilities, against any person because that person files a complaint with the 
ethics officer. 

10.2.5. False Complaint. Any person who shall file a complaint for violation of this code 
knowing such charge to be false or to have been recklessly made without any 
reasonable attempt to determine relevant facts and circumstances shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor and shall be punished as provided in Chapter 1.30 CMC. 

10.3. Immediate Removal—Member of Board or Commission or Other Appointed Task Group or 
Committee. In the event the individual against whom the complaint was made is currently a 
member of a city board or commission or other task group or committee appointed by the city 
council, at any time after the complaint is filed pursuant to this section, the city council may, in 
addition to or in lieu of the public hearing process and other possible penalties as provided for in 
this section, and notwithstanding any other provision of the Covington Municipal Code, by a 
majority vote remove the individual from such board or commission effective immediately. 

 

170 of 200



 

Page 14 of 16 
 

10.4. Notice. Notice of action by the ethics officer shall be provided as follows: 

10.4.1. Notice of a finding of insufficiency or dismissal of a complaint by the ethics officer shall 
be sent to the person who made the complaint and the person complained against 
within seven (7) days of the decision by the ethics officer. A finding of insufficiency or 
dismissal of a complaint by the ethics officer is final and binding, and no administrative 
or other legal appeal is available through the ethics officer. 

10.4.2. Within seven (7) days of the ethics officer rendering a finding of sufficiency, the city 
clerk shall send notice to the person who made the complaint and the person 
complained against, of the ethics officer’s determination. If, after investigation, the 
ethics officer has reason to believe that a material violation of this code has occurred, 
the city clerk shall give notice of the public hearing which will be held to determine if a 
violation has occurred. Notice shall be provided at least thirty (30) days prior to the date 
set for the hearing. The person complained against shall have the right to file a written 
answer to the charge and to appear at the hearing with or without legal counsel, submit 
testimony, be fully heard, and to examine and cross examine witnesses. 

10.5. Stipulations. At any time after a complaint has been filed with the ethics officer, the ethics officer 
may seek and make recommendations that the city council enter into a stipulation with the 
person complained against. The recommended stipulation will include the nature of the 
complaint, relevant facts, the reasons the ethics officer thinks a stipulation is appropriate, an 
admission of the violation by the person complained against, a promise by the person 
complained against not to repeat the violation, and if appropriate, a recommended remedy or 
penalty. The recommended stipulation shall be sent to the person who made the complaint and 
the person complained against and forwarded to the city council for action. 

10.6. Conduct of Hearings. 

10.6.1. All hearings on complaints found to be sufficient by the ethics officer shall be conducted 
by the city’s hearing examiner. The hearing shall be informal, meaning that the hearing 
examiner shall not be bound by the strict rules of evidence prevailing in courts of law or 
equity. The hearing examiner may call witnesses on his or her own motion and compel 
the production of books, records, papers, or other evidence as needed. To that end, the 
hearing examiner shall issue subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum. All testimony shall 
be under oath administered by the hearing examiner. The hearing examiner may 
adjourn the hearing from time to time to allow for the orderly presentation of evidence. 
The hearing examiner shall prepare an official record of the hearing, including all 
testimony, which shall be recorded by mechanical device, and exhibits; provided, that 
the hearing examiner shall not be required to transcribe such records unless presented 
with a request accompanied by payment of the cost of transcription. 

171 of 200



 

Page 15 of 16 
 

10.6.2. Within thirty (30) days after the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing examiner shall, 
based upon a preponderance of the evidence, make and fully record in his or her 
permanent records, findings of fact, conclusions of law, and his or her recommended 
disposition. A copy of the findings, conclusions, and recommended disposition shall be 
sent to the person who made the complaint and to the person complained against. 
Additional copies of the findings, conclusions, and recommendations shall be forwarded 
to the ethics officer and city council. 

10.7. City Council Action. Final city council action to decide upon stipulations and recommendations 
from the ethics officer and findings, conclusions, and recommendations from the hearing 
examiner shall be by majority vote in a public meeting. If the proceeding involves a member of 
the city council, deliberations by the council may be in executive session. The member of the 
council against whom the complaint was made will not participate in any executive session and 
shall not vote on any matter involving him or herself. However, upon request of the member of 
the council against whom the complaint was made, a public hearing or public meeting before the 
council will be held on the issue of penalties. 

10.8. Disposition. In the event the hearing examiner finds that the person against whom the complaint 
was made has violated the code of ethics, then the city council may take any of the following 
actions by a majority vote of the council. The action of the city council shall be final and not 
subject to further review or appeal except as may be otherwise provided by law or as provided in 
this section. 

10.8.1. Dismissal. Dismissal of the complaint without penalties. 

10.8.2. Referral. A complaint may be referred to another agency with jurisdiction over the 
violation, such as the public disclosure commission. Final action on the complaint may 
be stayed pending resolution of the matter by the agency to which it was referred. 

10.8.3. Admonition. An admonition shall be an oral non-public statement made by the mayor, 
or his/her designee, or if the complaint is against the mayor, the mayor pro tem or 
his/her designee, to the official. 

10.8.4. Reprimand. A reprimand shall be administered to the official by a resolution of 
reprimand by the city council. The resolution shall be prepared by the city council and 
shall be signed by the mayor or, if the complaint is against the mayor, the mayor pro 
tem. 

172 of 200



 

Page 16 of 16 
 

10.8.5. Censure. A resolution of censure shall be a resolution read personally to the person in 
public. The resolution shall be prepared by the city council and shall be signed by the 
mayor, or if the complaint is against the mayor, the mayor pro tem. The person shall 
appear at a city council meeting at a time and place directed by the city council to 
receive the resolution of censure. Notice shall be given at least twenty (20) calendar 
days before the scheduled appearance at which time a copy of the proposed resolution 
of censure shall be provided to the person. The resolution of censure shall be read 
publicly, and the person shall not make any statement in support of, or in opposition 
thereto, or in mitigation thereof. The resolution of censure shall be read at the time it is 
scheduled whether or not the official appears as required. 

10.8.6. Civil Penalties. The city council may assess a civil penalty of up to one thousand dollars 
($1,000.00) or three times (3x) the economic value of anything received in violation of 
this code of ethics or three times (3x) the economic value of any loss to the city, 
whichever is greater. Any monetary penalty assessed civilly shall be placed in the city’s 
general fund. 

10.8.7. Contract Void. As provided by RCW 42.23.050, any contract made in violation of 
Chapter 42.23 RCW, “Code of ethics for municipal officers— contract interests,” is void. 

10.8.8. Other Penalties. The city council may impose a restriction, loss of a committee 
assignment, or loss of appointment as a representative of the city for any regional or 
multijurisdictional body or membership on any board or commission which requires an 
appointment or confirmation of an appointment by the city council. 

10.8.9. Review of Civil Penalties. If the city council orders an official to pay a civil penalty, the 
official may seek a writ of review from the superior court pursuant to Chapter 7.16 
RCW, within thirty (30) days of the city council’s order. 

10.9. Public Records. Records filed with the ethics officer and/ or hearing examiner become public 
records that may be subject to inspection and copying by members of the public, unless an 
exemption in law exists. The city shall release copies of any written reports resulting from an 
investigation of a sustained complaint, any hearing examiner orders, and any written censures or 
reprimands issued by the city council, in response to public records requests consistent with 
Chapter 42.56 RCW and any other applicable public disclosure laws. To the extent required to 
prevent an unreasonable invasion of personal privacy interests protected by RCW 42.56.230(2), 
identity information may be redacted when an unsubstantiated complaint is made available in 
response to a public records request; however, in each case, the justification for the redaction 
shall be explained fully in writing.  

 

 

 

173 of 200

http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/rcw.pl?cite=42.56
http://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/rcw.pl?cite=42.56.230


 
 

Agenda Item 2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: June 14, 2016 

 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER PASSING ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING PERMANENT LAND 

USE REGULATIONS FOR MARIJUANA BUSINESSES.    
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
 Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Proposed ordinance establishing permanent land use regulations for marijuana businesses 
2. Zoning map with 1000 ft. Sensitive Area Buffers for marijuana uses 
3. Zoning map with 500 ft. Sensitive Area Buffers for marijuana uses 
4. MRSC map of King County cities and status of marijuana regulations 
 

PREPARED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
 
The purpose of this agenda bill is to discuss and take final action on an ordinance to establish 
permanent land use regulations for marijuana businesses within the City of Covington.  The 
proposed ordinance (Attachment 1) combines both recreational and medical marijuana uses into 
one set of land use requirements with appropriate controls that meet Washington State Liquor 
and Cannabis Board (WSLCB) requirements for marijuana production, processing, and retail 
sales. Permanent land use regulations for all marijuana businesses should be passed by July 1. 
2016, when the final set of state regulations regarding recreational and marijuana uses goes into 
effect.    
 
A. New State Marijuana Regulations (Both Medical and Recreational) 
As previously briefed to council, in an effort to consolidate the state’s recreational and medical 
marijuana regulatory schemes, in April 2015 the state legislature passed SSSB 5052, the 
Cannabis Patient Protection Act (the “Act”), and Governor Inslee signed it into law, with partial 
vetoes. In July 2015, the state legislature and governor also passed and signed into law SHB 
2136, which amended portions of SB 5052.  
 
As a general overview, the Act:  
 

• Establishes the state Liquor Control Board as the regulatory agency overseeing medical 
marijuana and renames the board the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board; 
 

• Provides guidance for the growing, use, and purchase of medical marijuana, which will 
be regulated through the recreational marijuana regulatory structure; 
 

• Requires marijuana retail businesses to apply for a medical marijuana endorsement 
through the WSLCB if they desire to sell medical marijuana in addition to recreational 

174 of 200



 
 

marijuana. Accordingly, the WSLCB reopened the license period for retail stores to allow 
for additional licenses to be issued to address the needs of the medical market; 
 

• Repeals medical marijuana collective gardens, replacing them with medical marijuana 
personal grows and cooperatives. Qualified patients may grow up to fifteen (15) plants in 
their home. Up to four (4) qualifying patients, or designated providers, may form a 
medical marijuana cooperative, which is permitted to grow up to sixty (60) plants at a 
cooperative location; and 
 

• Gives authority to cities, towns, counties, and other municipalities to create and enforce 
civil penalties for the growing or processing of marijuana and for keeping marijuana 
plants beyond or otherwise not in compliance with the rules and regulations of 
cooperatives. 
 

Portions of the Act were enacted as of July 1, 2015, and the remaining portions of the Act will go 
into effect as of July 1, 2016—notably, non-state-licensed marijuana establishments and current 
recreational marijuana businesses will be required to obtain a state endorsement if offering 
medical marijuana, and collective gardens will no longer be legal.   
 
The central take-away from this new legislation is that as of July 1, 2016, all marijuana 
uses will be regulated jointly by the WSLCB under the same regulatory scheme. In response 
to the changes in state law regarding medical marijuana, the WSLCB has changed their 
regulations and policies regarding the issuance of licenses for retail marijuana businesses. Cities 
across the state received notification last fall from the WSLCB of certain changes to their 
marijuana licensing policies, and staff anticipate additional changes in the WSLCB’s regulations 
and policies for marijuana businesses in the future.  
 
B. History of Covington’s Regulation of Recreational and Medical Marijuana   
On August 9, 2011, the council passed a moratorium prohibiting medical marijuana facilities 
within the City of Covington.  The council subsequently extended that moratorium in July 2012, 
January 2013, August 2013, February 2014, August 2014, February 2015, August 2015, and 
February 2016.  
 
On November 12, 2013, the council passed interim zoning regulations for recreational marijuana 
production, processing, and retail uses for an initial six-month period. The council subsequently 
adopted amended interim regulations on April 22, 2014, and renewed those amended regulations 
in September 2014, April 2015, October 2015, and April 2016.  
 
Passing the proposed ordinance will terminate both the city’s current interim zoning regulations 
for recreational marijuana and the city’s current moratorium on medical marijuana uses and will 
replace both with the proposed permanent regulations that will regulate all marijuana businesses 
within the city.   
 
 
 
 

175 of 200



 
 

C. City Council Policy Direction and Proposed Permanent Marijuana Zoning Regulations 
At the November 24, 2015, regular council meeting, staff presented to council detailed 
information regarding the new legislation passed by the state legislature in 2015, and the council 
made specific policy decisions to direct staff’s development of permanent marijuana regulations 
for the city (inclusive of both recreational and medical marijuana businesses).  
 
The proposed permanent marijuana ordinance creates a new Chapter 18.33 CMC, Marijuana-
Related Uses and amends certain other sections of the city’s land use code accordingly. 
Highlights of the permanent regulations include: 
 

• Incorporation of the requirements and procedures set forth in state law under Chapter 
69.50 RCW and 314-55 WAC. 
 

• Marijuana producers and processors licensed by the WSLCB are permitted only in the 
Industrial (I) zone. 
 

• Marijuana retailers licensed by the WSLCB are permitted only in the General 
Commercial (GC) and Mixed Commercial (MC) zones. 
 

• Marijuana producers, processors, and retailers must not locate within 1,000 ft. of 
sensitive uses (public or private elementary or secondary school, or any facility owned or 
operated by such school; child care center, preschool, nursery school, or other childcare 
facility; public park, trail, or playground; any real property designated in the Capital 
Improvement Plan for future park use; recreation center or facility; church, temple, 
synagogue, mosque, or chapel; public transit center; public library; or any game arcade 
admission to which is not restricted to persons aged twenty-one (21) years or older).  
 

• Upon successful application for a conditional use permit, marijuana retailers may locate 
within 500 ft. of certain sensitive uses (public park, trail, or playground; any real property 
designated in the Capital Improvement Plan for future park use; recreation center or 
facility; public library; church, temple, synagogue, mosque, or chapel; or any game 
arcade admission to which is not restricted to persons aged twenty-one (21) years or 
older).  
 

• Any violation is declared to be a public nuisance per se and, in addition to any other 
remedy provided by law or equity, may be abated by the city under applicable provisions 
of the CMC or state law. 
 

• No use that constitutes or purports to be a marijuana producer, marijuana processor, or 
marijuana retailer that was engaged in that activity prior to the enactment of the proposed 
ordinance shall be deemed to have been a legally established use under the provisions of 
the CMC and that use shall not be entitled to claim legal non-confirming use status.  
 

The proposed permanent code provisions only regulate marijuana businesses. The permanent 
regulations do not include provisions regarding personal growers or marijuana collectives, as 

176 of 200



 
 

staff determined that such activity was of minimal impact and that the state regulations already 
included sufficient provisions regarding individual growers.  
 
D. Planning Commission Recommendation on Permanent Marijuana Zoning Regulations  
 
Staff presented the proposed permanent marijuana regulations to the planning commission for 
their consideration and discussion on April 21, 2016.  On May 5, 2016, the planning commission 
held the required public hearing upon proper legal public notice.  At that hearing eight (8) 
individuals provided public testimony. No one who offered testimony was a Covington resident. 
Two of the individuals who offered testimony are business owners within the city (the owner of 
the existing recreational marijuana retail store and the owner of Covington Holistic Medicine), 
and a third speaker works within the city.  
 
The owner of Covington Holistic Medicine supported the ability for marijuana retailers to apply 
for a reduction of the sensitive use buffer from 1000 feet to 500 feet, but only through a 
conditional use permit process as proposed by city staff, so that she could operate a recreational 
marijuana business at the current location of her business (her current business is located within 
1,000 feet of the King County Library, but is not located within 500 feet of the library).  All 
other individuals who testified expressed concern over reducing the sensitive use buffer from 
1000 feet to 500 feet because they felt it would open up the community to many more marijuana 
retail uses, and the community did not need additional such uses.   
 
After the public hearing, the planning commission considered the testimony received and 
discussed the following issues: 
 

• specific zones within which marijuana production, processing, and retail sales would be 
allowed; 

• sensitive use buffers; 
• reduction of the buffers for retail uses to 500 feet for selected sensitive uses only through 

a conditional use permit process;  
• reduction of the conditional use permit fee for marijuana related applications; and 
• the pros and cons of such changes in the permanent regulations from the interim 

regulations.  
 
The planning commission also expressed some concern that those who testified might be 
concerned about opening up more competition. The planning commission ultimately reasoned 
that any additional regulation of the number of marijuana businesses within the city beyond the 
proposed regulations should be left to the private market, driven by the availability of property 
and premises to locate such businesses, and by the WSLCB process for issuing licenses for such 
businesses.   
 
The planning commission voted 6-1 to recommend to the council the proposed permanent zoning 
regulations governing the production, processing, and retail sales of marijuana. The majority of 
the planning commission concluded that the proposed permanent regulations, with a reduced 
buffer area subject to a conditional use permit process, provided reasonable and necessary 

177 of 200



 
 

consideration of both residential and commercial land uses, as well as future development within 
the proposed pedestrian-oriented Town Center zone.   
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Do not pass the proposed permanent zoning regulations at this time and direct staff to 
make changes and return on June 28th for final adoption, prior to the July 1, 2016 
deadline.  

 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
Staff time to respond to inquiries and review and permit proposed facilities, with appropriate 
permitting fees to offset the majority of those costs. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:     X    Ordinance         Resolution         Motion         Other 

 
Councilmember _________________ moves, and councilmember 
____________ seconds, to pass an ordinance, in substantial form as that 
presented, establishing permanent land use regulations governing marijuana 
production, processing, and retail uses within the City of Covington. 
 

REVIEWED BY: City Manager; City Attorney; Community Development Director  

178 of 200



ORDINANCE NO. 12-2016 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, WASHINGTON, ESTABLISHING LAND USE 
REGULATIONS FOR MARIJUANA USES; CREATING A 
NEW CHAPTER 18.33 OF THE COVINGTON MUNICIPAL 
CODE (CMC) AND AMENDING RELATED CMC SECTIONS; 
AND REPEALING ORDINANCE NOs 06-2016 and 07-2016; 
PROVIDING FOR SAVINGS AND SEVERABILITY; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Initiative Measure No. 502, passed by Washington voters on November 6, 
2012, and codified in Chapter 69.50 of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW), modified the 
State Controlled Substances Act to allow the possession of recreational marijuana for private and 
personal use and established a system for lawful production, processing, and retailing of 
recreational marijuana under state law; and 

WHEREAS, Initiative Measure No. 502 and the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis 
Board (WSLCB) rules adopted thereunder establish licenses for producers, processors, and 
retailers of marijuana (collectively “marijuana businesses”); and 

WHEREAS, in April 2015 the state legislature passed, and the governor signed into law, 
SB 5052, the Cannabis Patient Protection Act (the “Act”); and 

WHEREAS, the Act establishes the WSLCB as the oversight body for all marijuana uses, 
both recreational and medical, provides guidance and rules for the regulation and licensing of 
medical marijuana, eliminates collective gardens to be replaced with medical marijuana collectives 
and personal grows, and requires special endorsements for marijuana retailers wishing to sell 
medical marijuana in addition to recreational marijuana; and 

WHEREAS, the significant portions of the Act that affect the city’s zoning and licensing 
regulations does not go into effect until July 1, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, on January 16, 2014, the Washington State Attorney General issued a formal 
opinion which concluded that I-502 does not prevent local governments from regulating or banning 
marijuana businesses; and  

WHEREAS, the City has had, at all relevant times, a moratorium on medical marijuana 
production, processing, and distribution facilities (Ordinance No. 08-11, as amended); and 

WHEREAS, the City has had, at all relevant times, interim zoning regulations (Ordinance 
No. 10-013, as amended) such that applicants have had clear notice of local zoning requirements 
for marijuana businesses; and 

ATTACHMENT 1

179 of 200



WHEREAS, the City’s interim regulations allow production and processing facilities only 
in the Industrial Zone (I) and marijuana retailers only in the General Commercial (GC) and Mixed 
Commercial (MC) zones; and 

 
WHEREAS, one marijuana retailer has established in the City and no marijuana 

production or processing facilities have established in the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to adopt permanent regulations for all marijuana businesses 

at this time, even though the City will continue to monitor impacts and additional information 
related to this new industry in Covington and elsewhere in the state and will make additional 
change as may be determined by the City to be in its best interests; and 

 
WHEREAS, a State Environmental Policy Act, RCW 43.21C, Final Determination of 

Non-Significance for the regulation of marijuana businesses was issued on April 13, 2016; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Covington Planning Commission held a duly and properly noticed public 

hearing on May 6, 2016, providing an opportunity for the public to comment on the regulations 
set forth in this Ordinance, from which the planning commission made recommendations to the 
city council regarding permanent regulations for marijuana businesses; and 

 
WHEREAS, the city council concludes that: 
 
a. Nothing in this Ordinance is intended to encourage any use or activity that violates 

federal law; and 
b. It is prudent to take a conservative approach to land use regulations related to marijuana 

businesses until there is more evidence concerning the community impacts from such 
uses in Covington and elsewhere in Washington state; and 

c. The proposed amendments and new code provisions are consistent with the applicable 
policies of the Covington Comprehensive Plan; and 

d. The proposed amendments and new code provisions promote the best long-term 
interests of the Covington community.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 

WASHINGTON, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Findings of Fact. The “Whereas” provisions above shall constitute Findings of 
Fact and are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

 
Section 2. Medical Marijuana Moratorium Repealed. Ordinance No. 08-11, as 

amended, establishing a moratorium on all medical marijuana production, processing, and 
distribution facilities and related businesses is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

 
Section 3. Interim Recreational Marijuana Regulations Repealed. Ordinance No. 10-

13, as amended, establishing interim zoning regulations for recreational marijuana production, 
processing, and retail facilities is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

 

180 of 200



Section 4. New Chapter 18.33 CMC Created. The following regulations governing all 
marijuana businesses are hereby adopted as follows and shall be codified as a new Chapter 18.33 
CMC: 

 
 

Chapter 18.33 CMC, Marijuana-Related Uses 
 

18.33.010 Definitions. 
Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise the terms within this chapter shall have the meanings 
established pursuant to Chapter 18.20 CMC. Any terms not defined in Chapter 18.20 CMC shall 
have meanings established pursuant to RCW 69.50.101.  
 
18.33.020 Marijuana-Related Uses—Generally. 
(1) The production, processing, and retailing of marijuana is and remains illegal under federal 
law. Nothing in this chapter is an authorization to circumvent federal law or provide permission to 
any person or entity to violate federal law. 
 
(2) This chapter incorporates the requirements and procedures set forth in chapter 69.50 RCW 
and 314-55 WAC. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, in the event of any conflict 
between the provisions of this chapter and the provisions of chapter 69.50 RCW or chapter 314-
55 WAC, the more restrictive provision shall control.  
 
(3) The regulations under chapter 69.50 RCW and chapter 314-55 WAC, now or as may 
hereafter be amended, shall apply to all marijuana producers, processors, retailers, and retail outlets 
in addition to the provisions of this chapter.  
 
(4) Only marijuana producers, marijuana processors, and marijuana retailers licensed by the 
Washington State Liquor Control Board may locate in the City and then only pursuant to the 
license issued by the Washington State Liquor Control Board. 
 
(5) Marijuana producers, marijuana processors, and marijuana retailers are required to acquire 
all additional necessary business licenses and permits, and comply with all other applicable City 
ordinances and regulations. 

 
(6) The City may, prior to issuance of any license or permit, perform an inspection of the 
proposed premises to determine compliance with any applicable requirements of this chapter and 
all other applicable City ordinances and regulations. 
 
18.33.030 Marijuana Producers and Processors. 
Marijuana producers and marijuana processors licensed by the Washington State Liquor Control 
Board are permitted only in the Industrial (I) zone, subject to the requirements and other general 
provisions as set forth in this title, except where modified by this chapter. 
 
(1) Marijuana producers and marijuana processors shall not operate as an accessory to a 
primary use or as a home occupation. 
 

181 of 200



(2) All marijuana production and processing activities shall occur within an enclosed structure 
and the facility shall be designed, located, constructed, and buffered to blend in with its 
surroundings and mitigate significant adverse impacts on adjoining properties and the community. 
Special attention shall be given to minimizing odor, noise, light, glare, and traffic impacts. 
 
18.33.040 Marijuana Retailers. 
Marijuana retailers licensed by the Washington State Liquor Control Board are permitted only in 
the General Commercial (GC) and Mixed Commercial (MC) zones, subject to the requirements 
and other general provisions as set forth in this title, except where modified by this chapter. 
 
(1) Marijuana retailers shall not operate as an accessory to a primary use or as a home 
occupation. 
 
(2) Any marijuana odor shall be contained within the marijuana retail outlet so that the odor 
of marijuana cannot be detected from any abutting use or property by a person with a normal sense 
of smell. If any marijuana odor can be smelled from any abutting use or property, the marijuana 
retailer shall be required to implement measures necessary to contain the odor, including, but not 
limited to, installation of ventilation equipment.  

 
(3) In addition to the security requirements in Chapter 315-55 WAC, during business hours, 
all marijuana retailers shall store all useable marijuana, marijuana-infused product, and cash in a 
safe or in a substantially constructed and locked cabinet. The safe or cabinet shall be incorporated 
into the building structure or securely attached thereto. For useable marijuana products that must 
be kept refrigerated or frozen, these products must be stored in a locked refrigerator or freezer 
container in a manner approved by the Director, provided the container is affixed to the building 
structure.  
 
18.33.050  Sensitive Use Buffers. 
(1) Except as provided for in subsection (2) of this section, marijuana producers, marijuana 
processors, marijuana retailers, and marijuana retail outlets shall not locate within one thousand 
feet (1,000 ft.) of the following uses or any use included in Chapter 314-55 WAC now or as 
hereafter may be amended: 

 
(a) Public or private elementary or secondary school, or any facility owned or operated by 

such school;  
(b) Child care center, preschool, nursery school, or other childcare facility;  
(c) Public park, trail, or playground; 
(d) Any real property designated in the Capital Improvement Plan for future park use; 
(e) Recreation center or facility; 
(f) Church, temple, synagogue, mosque, or chapel;  
(g) Public transit center;  
(h) Public library; or 
(i) Any game arcade admission to which is not restricted to persons aged twenty-one (21) 

years or older.  
 

182 of 200



(2) Marijuana retailers and marijuana retail outlets may locate less than one thousand feet 
(1000ft.) but no less than five hundred feet (500 ft.) of the following uses upon obtaining a 
conditional use permit (CUP) as prescribed in CMC Title 18.125.040 and Title 14.30: 
 

(a) Public park, trail, or playground; 
(b) Any real property designated in the Capital Improvement Plan for future park use; 
(c) Recreation center or facility; 
(d) Public library;  
(e) Church, temple, synagogue, mosque, or chapel; or 
(f) Any game arcade admission to which is not restricted to persons aged twenty-one (21) 

years or older.  
 
(3) The buffer restrictions in subsections (1) and (2) of this section shall be measured by 
following a straight line from the nearest point of the property parcel upon which the proposed use 
is to be located to the nearest point of the parcel of property from which the proposed land use is 
to be separated. 
 
18.33.060 Enforcement - Penalty. 
(1) Any violation of this chapter is declared to be a public nuisance per se and, in addition to 
any other remedy provided by law or equity, may be abated by the City under applicable provisions 
of this code or state law. 
 
(2) No person or entity may violate or fail to comply with any provision of this chapter. Each 
person or entity commits a separate offense for each and every day they commit, continue, or 
permit a violation of any provision of this ordinance. 
 
18.33.070 Legal Non-Conforming Uses 
No use that constitutes or purports to be a marijuana producer, marijuana processor, or marijuana 
retailer as those terms are defined in this title, that was engaged in that activity prior to the 
enactment of this ordinance shall be deemed to have been a legally established use under the 
provisions of the Covington Municipal Code and that use shall not be entitled to claim legal non-
confirming use status.  

 
Section 5. Chapter 18.20 CMC Amended. Chapter 18.20 CMC, established by Ordinance 

No. 12-2016, as amended (CMC Title 18, Zoning), is hereby amended by the addition of the 
following: 

 
18.20.744  Marijuana 
“Marijuana” shall have the meaning established pursuant to RCW 69.50.101(v), as currently 
adopted and hereafter amended. 
 
18.20.744.1 Marijuana processor 
“Marijuana processor” shall have the meaning established pursuant to RCW 69.50.101(x), as 
currently adopted and hereafter amended. 
 
 

183 of 200



18.20.744.2 Marijuana producer 
“Marijuana producer” shall have the meanings established pursuant to RCW 69.50.101(y), as 
currently adopted and hereafter amended. 
 
18.20.744.3 Marijuana retail outlet 
“Marijuana retail outlet” shall have the meanings established pursuant to RCW 69.50.101(oo), as 
currently adopted and hereafter amended. 
 
18.20.744.4 Marijuana retailer 
“Marijuana retailer” shall have the meanings established pursuant to RCW 69.50.101(bb), as 
currently adopted and hereafter amended. 
 
18.20.744.5 Marijuana-infused products 
“Marijuana-infused products” shall have the meanings established pursuant to RCW 
69.50.101(cc), as currently adopted and hereafter amended. 
 
18.20.744.6 Marijuana, useable 
“Marijuana, useable” or “useable marijuana” shall have the meanings established pursuant to RCW 
69.50.101(tt), as currently adopted and hereafter amended. 
 

Section 6. Section 18.25.080 CMC Amended. Section 18.25.080(A) CMC, 
Manufacturing land uses, established by Ordinance No. 42-02, as amended (CMC Title 18, 
Zoning), is hereby amended to include “Marijuana Production and Processing” as a permitted “P” 
use. 

 
Section 7. Section 18.31.080 CMC Amended. Section 18.31.080(3) CMC, established by 

Ordinance No. 10-10, as amended (CMC Title 18, Zoning), is hereby amended to include 
“Marijuana Retailer and Retail Outlets” under the “Commercial” subheading as: Not Permitted 
(NP) in the Town Center (TC); Permitted (P) and by Conditional Permit (C 28) in Mixed 
Commercial (MC); Permitted (P) and by Conditional Permit (C 28) in General Commercial (GC); 
and Not Permitted (NP) in Mixed Housing Office (MHO).  

A new notation 28 is hereby also included as the following: Pursuant to CMC 18.33.050, marijuana 
retailers and retail outlets may locate between five hundred (500 ft.) and nine hundred ninety nine 
(999 ft.) of a public park, trail, playground, or recreational facility; church, chapel, temple, 
synagogue, or mosque; public library; or any game arcade admission to which is not restricted to 
persons aged twenty-one (21) years or older; but only by conditional use permit (CUP) as 
prescribed in Title 18.125.040 and Title 14.30. 

Section 8. Conflict. In the event there is a conflict between the provisions of this Ordinance 
and any other City ordinance, the provisions of this Ordinance shall control. 

 
Section 9. Severability. Should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 

ordinance, or its application to any person or circumstance, be declared unconstitutional or 
otherwise invalid for any reason, or should any portion of this ordinance be pre-empted by state or 

184 of 200



federal law or regulation, such decision or preemption shall not affect the validity of the remaining 
portions of this ordinance or its application to other persons or circumstances. 
 

Section 10. Savings. The enactment of this Ordinance shall not affect any case, proceeding, 
appeal, or other matter currently pending in any court or in any way modify any right or liability, 
civil or criminal, which may be in existence on the effective date of this Ordinance.  

 
Section 11. Corrections. Upon the approval of the city attorney, the city clerk is authorized 

to make any necessary technical corrections to this ordinance including, but not limited to, the 
correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection 
numbers, and any reference thereto.  

 
Section 11. Supersede. The provisions of this Ordinance shall supersede the provisions of 

Ordinance Nos. 08-11, as amended, the City’s moratorium on medical marijuana, and Ordinance 
Nos. 10-13, as amended, the City’s interim zoning regulations for recreational marijuana.  

 
Section 12. Effective Date. This ordinance shall be published in the official newspaper of 

the city and shall take full force and effect on July 1, 2016. 
 
PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 

WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof on the 14th day of June, 2016, and signed in 
authentication of its passage.  
 

      
Mayor Jeff Wagner 
 
PUBLISHED:   June 24, 2016 
EFFECTIVE:    July 1, 2016 

ATTESTED: 
 
      
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 
 
      
Sara Springer, City Attorney 

185 of 200



I

R-8

R-4

TC

MC

GC

R-6

MHO

US(R-1)

R-18

.

1 inch = 700 feetCity of Covington: Zoning Information

Created By: Shawn Buck 10/11/2013

Community Commercial

General Commercial

High Density Residential 8du/ac

Industrial

Low Density Residential 4du/ac

Med Density Residential 6du/ac

Mineral

Mixed Commercial

Neighborhood Commercial

Urban Seperator

City Limits

Downtown Boundary

Multifamily Residential 18du/ac ~18 Acres

Mixed Housing/Office ~60 Acres

Town Center ~73 Acres

O:\Covington_GIS_Library\PROJECT_FOLDER\Community_Development\One_Time_Use_Projects\2013\I-502_Map\i_502_map.mxd

Sensitive Use Information
1000' Buffer

Local Schools

Covington Parks

Park and Ride

Library

Child Care Facility

Religious Facilities
This map is to be used only for illustrative purposes to generally indicate the city's and state's 1,000 foot sensitive use buffer
 boundaries for the siting of recreational marijuana businesses. This map should not be used or relied upon to determine actual sensitive
 use buffer boundaries and the City of Covington does not warrant the accuracy, currency, completeness, or quality of the information
 provided on this map. The city further disclaims all responsibility or liability for any damage, injury, or loss resulting therefrom.

Recreational Marijuana Sensitive Use Buffer Boundary Map
ATTACHMENT 2

186 of 200



I

R-8

R-4
TC

MC

GC

R-6

MHO

US(R-1)

R-18

This map is to be used only for illustrative purposes to generally indicate the city's and state's 1,000 foot sensitive use buffer
 boundaries for the siting of recreational marijuana businesses. This map should not be used or relied upon to determine actual sensitive
 use buffer boundaries and the City of Covington does not warrant the accuracy, currency, completeness, or quality of the information
 provided on this map. The city further disclaims all responsibility or liability for any damage, injury, or loss resulting therefrom.

Recreational Marijuana Sensitive Use Buffer Boundary Map

.

1 inch = 700 feetCity of Covington: Zoning Information

Created By: Shawn Buck 04/14/2016

Community Commercial

General Commercial

High Density Residential 8du/ac

Industrial

Low Density Residential 4du/ac

Med Density Residential 6du/ac

Mineral

Mixed Commercial

Neighborhood Commercial

Urban Seperator

City Limits

Downtown Boundary

Multifamily Residential 18du/ac ~18 Acres

Mixed Housing/Office ~60 Acres

Town Center ~73 Acres

O:\Covington_GIS_Library\PROJECT_FOLDER\Community_Development\One_Time_Use_Projects\2013\I-502_Map\i_502_map.mxd

Sensitive Use Information
500' - 1000' Buffer

Local Schools

Covington Parks

Park and Ride

Library

Child Care Facility

Religious Facilities

ATTACHMENT 3

187 of 200



Bainbridge Island

Lake Forest Park

EastWenatchee

University Place

Normandy Park

SpokaneValley

SouthCleElum

Black Diamond

AirwayHeights

Mercer Island

WilsonCreek

MedicalLake

Bonney Lake

Maple Valley

Yarrow Point

Federal Way

Leavenworth

Port Orchard

Sammamish

LibertyLake

Des Moines

Snoqualmie

CouleeCity

Woodinville

North Bend

Gig Harbor

Skykomish

Edgewood

Enumclaw

Davenport

Harrington

Newcastle

DeerPark

Covington

WatervilleCarnation

Redmond

Issaquah

Spokane

Puyallup

Spangle

Poulsbo

Tacoma

Kirkland

Fairfield

Ephrata

Cheney

Odessa

Tukwila

Shelton

Rosalia

Auburn

Quincy

Seattle

Pacific

Almira

Duvall

Entiat

Kent

Fife

Zoning Type
Allowed Under Existing Zoning
Interim Zoning
Moratorium
No Action
Permanent Zoning
Prohibited

Jurisdiction Type
City
County Allowed Under Existing Zoning

Permanent Zoning

Interim Zoning

No Action

Moratorium

Prohibited 75

16

46

5

95

23

Totals By Zoning Type (Click to highlight)

Choose a City
All

ATTACHMENT 4

188 of 200



Agenda Item 3  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: June 14, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  CONSIDER CITIZEN SURVEY QUESTIONS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Regan Bolli, City Manager 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. 2016 Draft Survey (to be provided separately)  
2. 2013 Survey Results 

 
PREPARED BY:   
Karla Slate, Communications and Marketing Manager 
 
EXPLANATION: 
Staff is preparing to launch the 2016 Covington Citizen Survey to be conducted by Elway 
Research. In order to gauge any change in sentiment among citizens, a majority of the questions 
have been carried over from the previous survey conducted in 2013. Some new questions have 
been added in preparation of the city’s upcoming strategic plan process.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1) Modify the existing questions. 
2) Add questions (which would lengthen the survey time if other questions aren’t deleted). 
3) Do not conduct a survey. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
$25,000 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:        Ordinance       Resolution       Motion        X     Other 
 

 
PROVIDE INPUT TO STAFF 

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager 

189 of 200



City of Covington Citizen Survey 5/29/13 

Covington Topline.doc 1 of 6 ELWAY RESEARCH, INC. 

DRAFT TOPLINE DATA 

SAMPLE 448 Covington Adults (age 18+) 
226 via telephone 
222 on-line 

MARGIN OF SAMPLING 
ERROR 

±5% at the 95% level of confidence 

FIELD DATES May 13-27, 2013 

GENDER MALE...41% FEMALE...59% 
 The data are presented here in the same order as the questionnaire
 The data from the telephone and on-line survey are combined
 The figures in bold type are percentages of respondents who gave each answer.
 Percentages may not add to 100% due to rounding.

1. Do you live within the city limits of Covington? 100%
2. How long have you lived in Covington?

8 1 YEAR OR LESS
18 2-5 YRS
28 6-12 YRS
20 13-20 YRS
27 MORE THAN 20 YRS
  0  [DK/NA] 

3. Overall, how would you rate the quality of life in Covington? Please give
a rating on a scale of zero to 10, where 10 means you think the city
has an “excellent” quality of life, a “0” means it has a “poor” quality of
life. A rating of 5 is in the middle.
POOR = 0.. 1 ..2.. 3 ..4.. 5 ..6.. 7 ..8.. 9  10 = EXCELLENT average 

3 .. 1.. 1 .. 2 .. 5 ..9 ..9 .22 32 11 .7 7.07 

4. I am going to read a series of statements about life in Covington. For
each one, tell me whether you Agree Strongly, Agree, Disagree or
Disagree Strongly. The first one is…

STRG  DIS STRG 
ROTATE  AGREE  AGREE AGR DISAG DK 

A. Covington is a good place for families ................. 30 .... 60 .....6 ......2 .....3 

B. I feel safe in my neighborhood .......................... 26 .... 58 .... 11 .....4 .....1 

C. I feel safe in Covington..................................... 22 .... 65 .... 10 .....3 .....0 

ATTACHMENT 2

190 of 200



City of Covington Citizen Survey DRAFT TOPLINE 5/29/13 

Covington Topline.doc 2 of 6 ELWAY RESEARCH, INC. 

5. Let’s talk about the City Government. First, in general, how much 
attention would you say you pay to Covington City government? Would 
you say you pay…? 
12 A Lot of Attention 
45 Some 
31 Not Very Much 
12 Almost No Attention 

6. Have you had any contact with a city agency or official in the last 12 
months? 
37 YES 
62 NO 
  1 DK/NA 

7. If you were to give that person a letter grade for helpfulness and 
courtesy, what grade would you give him or her:  A for Excellent, B for 
Good, C for Satisfactory, D for Unsatisfactory, F for Poor. 
   A          B           C            D            F        No Opin 
   43…..….31….….….19….….….5….….…..2….….…....2 

8. I am going to read a list of services and programs currently provided by 
city government. As I read each one, tell me how important it is to you. 
In your opinion, is this an Essential service of City Government… a High 
Priority … a Medium Priority … a Low Priority … or should this Not be a 
City Government program.  The first one is…. 

ROTATE ESNTL HI MED LO NOT NoOp 
A. Street Construction .......................................21 .....38 .....34...... 6...... 0 1 
B. Street Maintenance .......................................28 .....48 .....19...... 4...... 0 1 
C. New Parks Construction .................................10 .....20 .....42..... 25..... 3 1 
D. Parks Maintenance ........................................13 .....34 .....40..... 12..... 2 0 
E. Sidewalk & trail Construction ..........................12 .....30 .....39..... 17..... 1 1 
F. Sidewalk & trail Maintenance ..........................13 .....35 .....40..... 11..... 0 1 
G. Zoning and Land Use Planning ........................18 .....35 .....35...... 7...... 1 3 
H. Permitting Services, for buildings, remodels, 

tenant improvements, etc. .............................16 .....31 .....37..... 11..... 2 3 
I. Enforcing the city codes, such as building 

and zoning codes, junk cars, yard debris,  
home business violations, and so on ................23 .....42 .....26...... 7...... 1 1 

J. Stormwater  & Flood Management ...................29 .....32 .....29...... 8...... 1 1 
K. Snow & Ice Removal......................................24 .....35 .....29..... 10..... 1 1 
L. Emergency Preparedness ...............................34 .....40 .....18...... 5...... 1 1 
M. Communicating with the public. ......................26 .....44 .....24...... 4...... 0 1 
N. Planning community festivals and events...........6 ......19 .....39..... 28..... 6 1 
O. Recreation and Aquatics programs....................9 ......24 .....40..... 20..... 5 2 
P. Attracting & Keeping Businesses......................25 .....49 .....18...... 5...... 2 0 
Q. Police Services..............................................57 .....36 ......6....... 1...... 0 0 

191 of 200



City of Covington Citizen Survey DRAFT TOPLINE 5/29/13 

Covington Topline.doc 3 of 6 ELWAY RESEARCH, INC. 

9. I am going to read through that list again,  This time, I would like you 
to tell me how well you think the city is doing in that area.  As I read 
each service, I’d like you to give it a letter grade, as we have been 
using:  A for Excellent, B for Good, C for Satisfactory, D for 
Unsatisfactory, F for Poor. 

ROTATE A B C D F NoOp 

A. Street Construction ........................................8 ......35 .....36...... 7....... 6 7 
B. Street Maintenance ........................................9 ......39 .....41...... 7....... 4 1 
C. New Parks Construction ..................................8 ......29 .....31..... 11...... 5 16 
D. Parks  Maintenance ........................................7 ......36 .....35...... 7....... 3 12 
E. Sidewalk & trail Construction ...........................7 ......30 .....34..... 12...... 5 13 
F. Sidewalk & trail Maintenance ...........................8 ......34 .....35...... 7....... 5 11 
G. Zoning and Land Use Planning .........................6 ......26 .....30...... 9....... 5 23 
H. Permitting Services, for buildings, remodels, 

tenant improvements, etc. ..............................5 ......23 .....30...... 6....... 3 33 
I. Enforcing the city codes, such as building 

and zoning codes, junk cars, yard debris,  
home business violations, and so on .................7 ......28 .....34..... 11...... 5 16 

J. Stormwater  & Flood Management ...................13 .....38 .....30...... 3....... 2 15 
K. Snow & Ice Removal......................................15 .....37 .....31...... 7....... 2 9 
L. Emergency Preparedness ................................9 ......30 .....27...... 4....... 2 28 
M. Communicating with the public. .......................7 ......32 .....38..... 11...... 6 6 
N. Planning community festivals and events...........9 ......31 .....34...... 8....... 2 17 
O. Recreation and Aquatics programs...................10 .....27 .....32...... 7....... 2 21 
P. Attracting & Keeping Businesses......................14 .....41 .....28...... 7....... 2 8 
Q. Police Services..............................................21 .....47 .....23...... 3....... 2 3 

10. Let’s talk specifically about police services in Covington. Using the letter 
grades as before, what grade would you give police services in 
Covington for: 

ROTATE A B C D F NoOp 

A. The time it takes them to respond to a call .......19 .....27 .....18...... 5...... 2 29 

B. Maintaining traffic safety in Covington..............20 .....41 .....25...... 4...... 2 8 

C. The number of officers ...................................9 ......28 .....26..... 11..... 3 23 

D. The overall quality of service they provide ........20 .....43 .....19...... 4...... 2 12 

E. Overall feeling your problem was resolved ........19 .....23 .....19...... 5...... 4 31 

192 of 200



City of Covington Citizen Survey DRAFT TOPLINE 5/29/13 

Covington Topline.doc 4 of 6 ELWAY RESEARCH, INC. 

11. Next I am going to list some options for entertainment and recreation 
in Covington. As I read each one, tell me whether your household 
would be Very Likely to attend such an event in Covington …Somewhat 
Likely or Not Likely to attend such an event.. The first one is… 

ROTATE VERY  SOME NOT NoOp 

A. Free outdoor concerts with Professional bands.......................40..... 39..... 19 ..... 2 

B. Outdoor live theater, such as “Shakespeare in the Park” .........28..... 35..... 33 ..... 3 

C. Free outdoor movies..........................................................30..... 31..... 36 ..... 3 

D. Free performers such as magicians or comedians...................18..... 37..... 42 ..... 2 

E. Free child-oriented such as the Reptile Man or 
 Recess Monkey kids band..................................................17..... 22..... 55 ..... 6 

F. Fee-based recreation classes – like aerobics or Fitness 
Toddler activities, Dance Lessons, Babysitting classes, etc ......22..... 34..... 41 ..... 3 

12. Now I am going to list some things that some people have said they 
would like Covington city government to do. Of course, all city services 
cost money. So as I read each item, tell me if you would Strongly 
support raising taxes for that, Inclined to Support, Inclined to Oppose 
or Strongly Opposed to an increase in city taxes to maintain, improve 
or provide this service in Covington. The first one is… 

   STRG INCLINE INCLINE STRG  
ROTATE  SUPPORT  SUPRT OPP OPPOSE NoOp 
A. Sidewalks ..............................................................20 .....43..... 18..... 14 ..... 4 

B. Parks, trails and open space .....................................20 .....45..... 16..... 16 ..... 3 

C. More recreation such as health & fitness classes,  
kid, adult or senior activities, etc. .............................15 .....38..... 22..... 21 ..... 4 

D. More community events ...........................................11 .....35..... 26..... 21 ..... 8 

E. Improved streets and traffic flow...............................32 .....44..... 13...... 9 ...... 2 

F. A pedestrian-friendly town center with public 
gathering spaces – like Kent Station in Kent................30 .....33..... 17..... 16 ..... 4 

G. Animal control services, like pet licensing, shelter 
services and pet locator services ...............................15 .....33..... 24..... 22 ..... 7 

H. More police officers .................................................32 .....38..... 13..... 11 ..... 7 

I. A community center ................................................16 .....41..... 22..... 17 ..... 4 

J. Transit services.......................................................15 .....37..... 22..... 19 ..... 6 

193 of 200



City of Covington Citizen Survey DRAFT TOPLINE 5/29/13 

Covington Topline.doc 5 of 6 ELWAY RESEARCH, INC. 

13. If you had to choose one of the following, which would you choose for 
the City of Covington: 
54 Maintain city services at appropriate levels by increasing taxes as the 

population and inflation grows. 

41 Keep taxes the same by cutting services when population and inflation 
grow faster than city revenues 

  6  [No Opin] 

14. In terms of keeping citizens informed about what is happening in city 
government -- What grade would you give the City of Covington does 
at that?   A for Excellent, B for Good, C for Satisfactory, D for 
Unsatisfactory, F for Poor.   
  5 A for Excellent 
33 B for Good 
36 C for  Satisfactory 
16 D for Unsatisfactory 
  4 F for  Poor 
  6  [No Opin] 

15. We are interested in how people get information about City 
Government here in Covington. Which of the following have been useful 
to you to learn about city government?   RECORD  ALL THAT APPLY  
67 Covington reporter newspaper 
44 City website 
38 Mailings from city (bill inserts, brochures, postcards, etc 
33 Friends, family, neighbors 
24 During city events- like Covington days, tree lighting event 
20 Flyers an posters around the city 
17 City e-mails 
17 City’s Facebook page 
15 Calling or visiting city hall 
14 Attending city meetings 
13 Talking to a city council member or advisory commission member 
12 Neighborhood meetings or organizations 
  1  [OTHER] 
  1  [DK/NA] 

194 of 200



City of Covington Citizen Survey DRAFT TOPLINE 5/29/13 

Covington Topline.doc 6 of 6 ELWAY RESEARCH, INC. 

16. How would you rate the city’s performance in providing residents the 
opportunity to be involved in decisions that affect city government?  
What grade would you give the City of Covington does at that?  
A for Excellent, B for Good, C for Satisfactory, D for Unsatisfactory, F 
for Poor.   
  7 A  for Excellent 
28 B for Good 
31 C for  Satisfactory 
12 D for Unsatisfactory 
  5 F for  Poor 
16 [No Opin] 

17. Finally, thinking now about all the things we have talked about, as a 
citizen of Covington, do you think that your tax dollars are being well 
spent here?  Or not? 
51 WELL SPENT 
25 NOT 
24 [No Opin] 

18. I have just a few last questions for our statistical analysis. How old are 
you? 
16 18-34 
28 35-49 
38 50-64 
17 65+ 
  1 [NA] 

19. Which of the following best describes your household: 
39 Couple with children at home 
37 Couple with no children at home 
  6 Single with children at home 
17 Single with no children at home 
  1  [NA] 

20. Do you own or rent the place in which you live?   
91 OWN 
  9 RENT 

21. Finally, I am going to list some broad categories. Just stop me when I 
get to the category that best describes your approximate household 
income - before taxes - for this year. 
  9 $35,000 or less 
12 $35,000 to $50,000 
17 $50,000 to $74,000 
17 $75,000 to $99,000 
32 Over $100,000 
13  [NO ANSWER] 

195 of 200



Agenda Item 4  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: June 14, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:   CONSIDER APPOINTMENT OF NEW COUNCIL MEMBER TO POSITION 

NO. 6 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:   Regan Bolli, City Manager 

Sara Springer, City Attorney 
         
ATTACHMENT(S): None. 
 
PREPARED BY:  Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
EXPLANATION:     
 
Councilmember Jim Scott stepped down from the city council effective May 31, 2016. Council 
directed staff to advertise the vacant council position and to accept applications (in the form of 
letters of interest) through June 10, 2016. At tonight’s council meeting, the council will have the 
opportunity to interview the applicants for Covington City Council Position No. 6, discuss the 
qualifications of the applicants (in executive session), and then make an appointment to the 
council, if so desired. 
 
State law gives wide latitude to the council regarding the process for appointing a council member. 
The only state statute the council must comply with is the Open Public Meeting’s Act requirement 
that any interviews of candidates must be performed in an open public meeting, and the 
appointment of a candidate must take place in an open public meeting. The council may discuss 
the qualifications of the candidates in executive session. 
 
The current City Council Rules of Procedure do not specify a specific process to follow for 
interviews and appointments of vacant council positions. However, the proposed new Council 
Policies and Procedures, on this meeting’s agenda for adoption, does address the process to be 
used for appointments to vacant council positions; therefore, staff recommends for the council to 
follow the process in the proposed new Council Policies and Procedures. Accordingly: 
 
Interview Process: 

• The order of the interviews will be determined by drawing the names.  
 

• All applicants will be interviewed together by the council in a panel format, wherein each 
applicant, in turn, will be asked to answer questions posed by each councilmember. The 
interview process will be designed to be fair and consistent.  

 
• Each candidate will then be allowed two (2) minutes for closing comments. Since this is 

not a campaign, comments and responses about other applicants will not be allowed.  
 
 

196 of 200



 
Deliberation and Selection: 

• The council may recess into executive session to discuss the qualifications of all 
candidates.  
 

• Nominations, voting, and selection of a person to fill the vacancy will be conducted during 
an open session.  
 

• The nomination process will follow the regular nomination process wherein the chair opens 
nominations, each council member is allowed to nominate one individual, and no second 
is required. 
 

• Voting shall commence in the order nominations were made. Council members will be 
asked for a voice vote and a raise of hands. As soon as one of the nominees receives a 
majority vote of the whole city council (four votes), then the chair will declare him/her 
appointed. No votes will be taken on the remaining nominees.  
 

• A tie vote results in a failed nomination and the chair will call for nominations again and 
repeat the process until a single nominee receives a majority vote of the whole city council.  
 

• If none of the nominees receives a majority vote, the chair will call for nominations again 
and repeat the process until a single nominee receives a majority vote of the whole city 
council. 

   
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Continue the deliberation and selection process to a future council meeting.  
2. Not appoint a council member at this time and direct staff to continue to advertise for 

additional candidates. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  _____ Ordinance            Resolution           Motions       X       Other  
 

Interview candidates for Covington City Council Position No. 6 
 and move to appoint a candidate, if so desired.  

 
REVIEWED BY: City Manager, City Attorney, City Clerk 
   

197 of 200



  
Covington City Council Meeting 

           Date:  June 14, 2016 
 
 

DISCUSSION OF  
FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 

 
 

7:00 p.m. Tuesday, June 28, 2016 Regular Meeting 
 
 

 (Draft Agenda Attached) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

198 of 200



 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 
 
Tuesday, June 28, 2016                                                                                                        City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

• Recognition of 47th District Legislators 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not the audience 
or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per speaker.  Speakers may request 
additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  May 24, 2016 Regular Meeting; June 14, 2016 Special Meeting; and June 14, 2016 

Regular Meeting (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson)  
C-3. Pass Electric Lightwave Franchise Agreement Renewal Ordinance (Vondran) 
C-4. Timberlane-Jenkins Stormwater LID Site 1 Construction Award (Parrish) 
 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS 
• Human Services Chair Fran McGregor:  June 9 meeting. 
• Parks & Recreation Chair Laura Morrissey:  June 15 meeting. 
• Arts Chair Lesli Cohan:  June 9 meeting. 
• PRePAC Chair Jennifer Harjehausen:  May 25 meeting. 
• Economic Development Council Co-Chair Jeff Wagner:  May 26 and June 23 meetings.  
• Planning:  June meetings were canceled. 

 
CONTINUED BUSINESS 
1. Consider Six-Year 2017-2022 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) Resolution (Vondran) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
2. Consider Ordinance Implementing Biennial Budget to Begin in 2017 (Hendrickson) 
3. Consider Resolution Adopting the Name of Jenkins Creek Park Pedestrian Bridge(s) (Newton) 
4. Discuss Selection of Citizen and Honorary Citizen of the Year (Beaufrere/Slate) 
 

COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 

Draft 
as of 06/010/16 

 

199 of 200

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/


PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – if needed 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act – reasonable accommodations provided upon request a minimum of 24 hours in advance 
(253-480-2400). 
 

200 of 200


	06-14-2016 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, June 14, 2016                                                                                                        City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	Consent C-1 Green Sheet 06-14-2016 Green Sheet Minutes Approval
	Consent Agenda Item C-1

	Consent C-1 Attachment 1 04.26.2016 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Consent C-1 Attachment 2 05.10.2016 Special Joint Mtg w-CEDC & Chamber
	Consent C-1 Attachment 2.5 05.10.2016 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Consent C-1 Attachment 3 05.16.2016 Special Meeting - Listening Session @ Kentwood High School
	Consent C-2 Green Sheet
	Consent Agenda Item C-2

	Consent C-2 Attachments
	Consent C-3 Green Sheet BS_Consider Res Adopting Council Rules_14JUNE2016AGENDA_SBSEDIT
	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 RES_Adopting_Council Policies and Procedures_14JUNE16_SBSEDIT
	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 Exhibit 1 Council Policies and Procedures_14JUNE16AGENDA_FINAL_v4
	1.0 AUTHORITY & EFFECT OF RULES
	1.1 Rules Established.
	1.2 Suspension of Rules.
	1.3 Review & Amendment of Rules.
	1.4 Effect/Waiver of Rules.
	2.0 CITY COUNCIL: GENERAL POWERS & RESPONSIBILITIES
	2.1 Overview
	2.2 Council and Administration
	2.3 Authority and Responsibilities of the City Council
	2.3.1 Establish Policy.
	2.3.2 Enact Local Laws.
	2.3.3 Appointments and Supervise Officials.
	2.3.4 Provide Public Leadership

	2.4 ADDITIONAL RULES, POLICIES, & PROCEDURES
	2.4.1 City Officials’ Code of Ethics
	2.4.2 Public Records Policy
	2.4.3 Technology Use Policy
	2.4.4 Travel Policy (as provided for in the Employee Handbook)
	2.4.5 Vehicle Use Policy (as provided for in the Employee Handbook)

	3.0 CITY COUNCIL: ROLES & ADMINISTRATION
	3.1 Role of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem
	3.1.1 Mayor
	3.1.2 Mayor Pro Tem. In the mayor’s absence, the mayor pro tem assumes all of the above noted responsibilities and rights of the mayor.

	3.2 Election of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem
	3.2.1 The council shall elect a mayor and mayor pro tem for a term of two (2) years and shall remain in office until the next election of a mayor and/or mayor pro tem, unless earlier removed or vacated.
	3.2.2 The motion to elect the mayor and mayor pro tem will be placed on the agenda of the first council meeting of even-numbered years.
	3.2.3 Nomination and Appointment Process.
	3.2.4 Removal. A supermajority vote (5) shall be required to approve a motion to remove the mayor or mayor pro tem from office for cause.
	3.2.5 Temporary Absence. In the temporary absence of the mayor, the mayor pro tem shall perform the duties and responsibilities of the mayor with regard to conduct of meetings and emergency business.
	3.2.6 Permanent Vacancy. In the event the mayor or mayor pro tem is unable to serve the remainder of the term or resigns, the city council shall appoint a new mayor or mayor pro tem following the same procedure in this section.

	3.3 Swearing-In Newly Elected Council Members
	3.4 Filling a Council Vacancy.
	3.4.1 Resignation Process. A written resignation must be submitted to the city council.
	3.4.2 Procedure. If a vacancy occurs in the office of a councilmember, the council will follow the procedures outlined in RCW 42.12.070 in addition to those included in these Rules.
	3.4.3 Vacancy Notice and Application. In order to fill the vacancy with the most qualified person available until an election is held, the council will widely distribute and publish a notice of the vacancy, the procedure by which the vacancy will be f...
	3.4.4 Interview Process. Those candidates selected by the council to be interviewed will be interviewed by the council during a regular or special council meeting open to the public, pursuant to the interview process included in the vacancy notice. Th...
	3.4.5 Deliberation and Selection. The council may recess into executive session to discuss the qualifications of all candidates. Nominations, voting, and selection of a person to fill the vacancy mustwill be conducted during an open public meeting. No...

	3.5 Council Committees.
	3.5.1 Committee of the Whole. In addition to regular council meetings, the entire council may meet for study or special project purposes as a Committee of the Whole. A meeting of the council as the Committee of the Whole must have a quorum of council ...
	3.5.2 Council Committees. The city council may establish standing committees of three (3) or fewer council members as policy review and discussion arms of the city council as a whole for any special purpose, task, or time frame. Council committees may...

	3.6 Council Member Appointments.
	3.6.1 To Council Advisory Bodies. The city council may appoint three (3) or fewer council members to represent the city council as a whole on city advisory bodies.
	3.6.2 Liaison/Representative Appointments. The city council may appoint individual council members, as required, to represent the city council as a whole to external advisory bodies or groups.

	4.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: TYPES; GENERAL PROVISIONS
	4.1 Open Public Meetings Act.
	4.2 Types of Council Meetings.
	4.2.1 Regular Council Meetings. The council shall hold regular meetings on the second and fourth Tuesday of each month. The council will not hold meetings on any other day of the month, unless otherwise noticed. All regular meetings will begin at 7:00...
	4.2.2 Special Meetings. Any council meeting other than the regular council meeting. Notice of special meetings shall be given pursuant to state law (at least 24 hours in advance). The mayor, or in the absence of the mayor the mayor pro tem, or any thr...
	4.2.3 Study Sessions / Workshops. Any meeting, either called as a special meeting at which the council may discuss, investigate, review, or study matters of city business with city staff for informational purposes. Study sessions or workshops shall be...
	4.2.4 Annual Strategic Planning Summit. The council shall hold an annual strategic planning summit on the last Saturday in January of each year.
	4.2.5 Emergency Meetings. A special council meeting called without the 24hr notice. If, by reason of fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency there is a need for expedited action by the council to meet the emergency, the mayor may provide for a mee...

	4.3 Meeting Place.
	4.4 Meeting Cancellation.
	4.5 Public Notice of Meetings.
	4.6 Quorum.
	4.7 Attendance, Excused Absences.
	4.7.1 RCW 35A.12.060 provides that a council member shall forfeit his or her office by failing to attend three (3) consecutive regular meetings of the council without being excused by the council. Members of the council may be so excused by complying ...
	4.7.2 The If a council member will be absent for a regular council meeting, that  council member shall contact the mayor, mayor pro tem, city manager, or city clerk (the “Designated Contact(s)”) either in person or via telephone or email prior to the ...
	4.7.3 A motion to excuse the an absent council member shall be non-debatable. Upon passage of such a motion by a majority of members present, the absent member shall be considered excused and the clerk will make an appropriate notation in the minutes.
	4.7.4 Council members shall only be required to be excused from regular council meetings and shall not be required to be excused from all other meetings of the council, including, but not limited to, study sessions, special meetings, council committee...

	4.8 Attendance of City Officers & Employees
	4.9 Executive Sessions.
	4.9.1 The council may hold executive sessions, from which the public may be excluded, for those purposes set forth in ChapterRCW  42.30.110 RCW. Before convening to an executive session, the presiding officer shall announce the purpose of the session ...
	4.9.2 If the council, after executive session, has provided direction or consensus to city staff on proposed terms and conditions for any confidential or privileged issue, all contact with any other party shall be made by the designated city staff rep...
	4.9.3 Pursuant to RCW 42.23.070, council members shall keep confidential all written materials and verbal information provided to themreviewed and/or discussed during executive sessions, to ensure that the city’s position is not compromised. Confident...

	4.10 Adjournment
	4.11 Audio Recordings of Council Meetings
	4.12 Council Meeting Minutes.
	4.12.1 The city clerk, or designee, shall take minutes at all meetings of the city council in accordance with state and local statutory requirements.
	4.12.2 Proceedings will be entered into a minute book constituting the official record of the council.
	4.12.3 The minutes shall be made available for public inspection. Unless a council member requests a reading of the minutes of a council meeting, such minutes may be approved without reading if the clerk has previously furnished each member with a cop...
	4.12.4 City council meeting minutes may be corrected by the city clerk if in error, but shall not otherwise be revised without a majority affirmative vote of the whole council membership at a regularly scheduled council meeting.

	5.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: AGENDAS & CONDUCT OF BUSINESS
	5.1 Setting Agenda.
	5.2.1 Consent Agenda, New Business, Continued Business, and Public Communication. Consent agenda, new business, continued business, and public communication items may be added to an agenda by: (1) A majority vote or consensus by the council; or (2) bB...
	5.2.2 Future Agenda Items. All regular council meeting agendas shall include a section for “Future Agenda Items”—wherein council members may present any topic or issue for the council to consider and approve adding as a new business item on a future c...
	5.2.2.1 Items may be included under “Future Agenda Items” upon the joint request of two (2) or more council members. Such a request for the addition of a Future Agenda Item shall be emailed to the city manager or city clerk by the requesting council m...
	5.2.2.2 Upon discussion of the Future Agenda Item, it shall require an affirmative vote of at least three (3) council members present to add the item as a New Business item to a future council meeting agenda. If the item will require the use of staff ...

	, a proposed agenda item shall be placed under the Future Agenda Items of a regular council meeting agenda for the entire council to consider and discuss whether the item shall be included as a New Business item on a future council meeting agenda. A
	5.4.1 Legally required advertised public hearings will have a higher priority over other agenda items scheduled for convenience rather than for statutory or other reasons.
	5.4.2 Agenda items that are continued from one meeting to another will have preference on the agenda to the extent possible.
	5.7.1 have been previously discussed or policies have been set by the council; or
	5.7.2 are based on the information delivered to members of the council, by the administration, and can be reviewed by a council member without further explanation; or
	5.7.3 are so routine or technical in nature that passage is likely.
	5.7.4 Ordinances, resolutions, and motions are all eligible to be placed on the consent calendar.
	5.7.5 The motion to adopt the consent calendar shall be non-debatable and have the effect of moving to adopt all items on the consent calendar. Since adoption of any item on the consent calendar implies unanimous consent, any member of the council sha...
	5.10.1 During regular meetings of the council, public comments will be invited during the public comment portion(s) of the agenda. The public is also invited at any time to provide written comment on any non-quasi-judicial or legislative matter. It is...
	5.10.2 In addition, public oral testimony may be taken on other non-quasi-judicial or legislative matters as they arise during the course of the meeting agenda. However, once a motion is pending, debate is limited to council members and no further pub...
	5.10.3 Public comments should be limited to no more than four (4) minutes per person. No person may donate time to another person. If additional time is needed, a person may request that the council place an item on a future agenda as time allows.
	5.10.4 If many members of the public would like to comment on a particular topic, the presiding officer may encourage or require potential commenters to consolidate their comments and choose a limited number of spokespersons to speak on behalf of the ...
	5.10.5 Except for as provided in 5.10.4 above, mMembers of the public may not share or give speaking time to other commenters.
	5.10.6 The presiding officer may limit the total time for public comments and may, if many members of the public want to comment about a particular issue, continue the matter to another time.
	5.11.1 Legislative/Information Gathering Public Hearings
	5.11.2 Quasi-Judicial Public Hearings

	6.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURES
	6.2.1 Observe and enforce all rules adopted by the council;
	6.2.2 Call all meetings to order and keep to the order of business;
	6.2.3 Preserve order and decorum in the council chambers in accordance with these Rules;
	6.2.4 Recognize councilmembers in the order in which they request the floor, giving every councilmember who wishes an opportunity to speak, and control discussion in an orderly manner, require speakers to speak to the question; and
	6.2.5 Put motions to a vote and announce the outcome.
	6.2.6 The presiding officer may participate in all deliberations of the council in the same manner as any other members and is expected to vote in all proceedings, unless a conflict of interest exists. The presiding officer may not move an action, but...
	6.3.1 Motion Required. Prior to discussion of an action item, a councilmember should make a motion, which is seconded by another councilmember, on the topic under discussion. If the motion is not seconded, it dies.
	6.3.2 Request for Written Motions. Motions shall be reduced to writing when requested by the Presiding Officer or any member of the council.  All resolutions and ordinances shall be in writing.
	6.3.3 Discussion on Motion. After a motion has been made and seconded (if required), councilmembers may discuss their opinions on the issue prior to the vote. If they wish to do so, they may state why they will vote for or against the motion.
	6.3.4 Withdrawal of Motion. A motion may be withdrawn by the maker of the motion, at any time, without the consent of the council.
	6.3.5 Motion to Amend. A motion to amend is defined as amending a motion that is on the floor and has been seconded, by inserting or adding, striking out, striking out and inserting, or substituting. A motion to amend requires a second and a majority ...
	6.3.6 Motion to Table.
	6.3.7 Motion to Postpone to Time Certain.
	6.3.8 Motion to Postpone Indefinitely.
	6.3.9 Calling the Question.
	6.3.10 Motion for Reconsideration.
	6.3.11 Council Consensus. When the council concurs or agrees with an item that does not require a formal motion, the mayor will summarize the council's consensus at the conclusion of the discussion.
	6.4.1 Motion Restated. When the discussion is concluded, the presiding officer shall repeat the motion prior to voting. The city council votes on the motion as restated.
	6.4.2 Voice Vote. Unless otherwise provided for by statute, ordinance, resolution, or these Rules, all votes shall be taken by voice, except that at the request of any councilmember, a random roll call vote shall be taken by the city clerk.
	6.4.3 Declaring Motion Passes or Fails. If the vote is unanimous, the presiding officer shall state that the motion has been passed unanimously according to the number of councilmembers present, such as "7-0" or "6-0." If the vote is not unanimous, th...
	6.4.4 Tie Votes. In case of a tie vote on any motion, the motion shall be considered lost and fails.
	6.4.5 Abstention. Although it is the duty of each councilmember to vote on final action items, he or she cannot be compelled to vote, and thus he or she may abstain. The councilmember shall indicate their abstention to the presiding officer prior to a...
	6.4.6 Recusal. If a councilmember has a conflict of interest or an appearance of fairness question under state law, the councilmember may recuse themselves from the issue and shall leave the council chambers during discussion and voting on the issue. ...
	6.4.7 Silence. If a councilmember is silent on a vote (i.e. is present and does not abstain or recuse themselves pursuant to this section but also does not cast a vote for the motion), it shall be recorded as an affirmative vote.
	6.4.8 Proxy Votes. No vote may be cast by proxy.

	7.0 COUNCIL MEETINGS: MISCELLANEOUS
	7.1.1 Councilmembers. While the council is in session, the members must preserve order and decorum, and a member shall neither, by conversation or otherwise, delay or interrupt the proceedings or the peace of the council, nor disrupt any member while ...
	7.1.2 Public. Any person making personal or slanderous remarks or who becomes disorderly while addressing the council or while in the council chamber while the council is in session shall be asked to leave by the Presiding Officer.

	8.0 CITY COUNCIL ADVISORY BODIES
	8.1.1 The city council may establish advisory bodies (including, but not limited to commissions, committees, boards, and task forces) by resolution or, if required by state statute, ordinance. The enacting resolution (or ordinance) will set forth the ...
	8.1.2 Limitations on Authority. All advisory bodies established by the city council are advisory to the city council and are not authorized to take independent action representing the city with other agencies or bodies.
	8.1.3 OPMA. All advisory bodies shall comply with the requirements of the Open Meetings Act (RCW Section 42.30).
	8.1.4 Dissolution. The council may dissolve any advisory body that, in their opinion, has completed its working function or for any other reason. Such dissolution shall be by resolution (or ordinance, if the body was originally established by ordinanc...
	8.2.1 Notice of Vacancies. Unless otherwise directed by the council, the city clerk’s office shall advertise notice of vacant positions on council advisory bodies so that any interested and qualified individual may submit an application.
	8.2.2 Applicant Requirements. Applicants are urged to be residents of the City of Covington, but applications from individuals living outside of the corporate boundaries of the city may be considered if authorized by the resolution or ordinance establ...
	8.2.3 Applicant Interviews and Appointment.

	9.0 PUBLIC COMMUNICATION & REPRESENTATION

	Consent C-4 Green Sheet Blue Sheet, WWRP Grant Contract
	Consent C-4 Attachment - RCO Agreement - 2016-06-14
	Consent C-5 Green Sheet 06-14-16 Project Acceptance of Citywide Intersection Safety Improvements...
	Consent Agenda Item C-5

	Consent C-5 ATTACHMENT 1 Final PE 1  521-01
	Consent C-5 ATTACHMENT 2 - Notice of Completion of Public Works Contract Form
	Consent C-6 Green Sheet Blue Sheet 06-14-16 Land Acquisition Policy Update
	Consent C-6 Attachment 1 ROW Resolution
	Consent C-6 Attachment 1 Exhibit A ROW Procedures 2016
	Consent C-6 Attachment 2 Res. No. 02-53
	Item 1 Blue Sheet BS_Cont Discussion Council Ethics Rules_14JUNE16AGENDA_SBSEDIT
	Item 1 Attachment 1 DRAFT_Officer Code of Ethics_26APRIL2016
	1. SECTION 1: PURPOSE
	1.1. Purpose. The Covington city council has adopted this code of ethics for members of the city council and the city’s boards and commissions to promote public confidence in the integrity of local government and its fair operation. This code of ethic...
	1.2. Intent. The citizens and businesses of Covington are entitled to have fair, ethical and accountable local government that has earned the public’s full confidence. In keeping with the city of Covington’s commitment to excellence, the effective fun...
	1.2.1. Public officials, both elected and appointed, comply with the laws and policies affecting the operations of government;
	1.2.2. Public officials be independent, impartial and fair in their judgment and actions;
	1.2.3. Public office be used for the public good, not for personal gain; and
	1.2.4. Public deliberations and processes be conducted openly, unless legally confidential, in an atmosphere of respect and civility.
	1.3. This code of ethics shall be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose and policy and to supplement existing laws that relate to the same subject.
	1.4. The conduct of all officials shall meet the applicable requirements of both this code and Chapter 42.23 RCW. When a higher standard of conduct is established by this code than by Chapter 42.23 RCW, the standards of this code shall control; provid...
	1.5. This code of ethics shall take effect xxxxxxxx xx, 2016.
	2. SECTION 2: DEFINITIONS.
	2.1. “Business entity” means any corporation, general or limited partnership, sole proprietorship (including a private consultant operation), joint venture, unincorporated association or firm, institution, trust, foundation, or other organization, whe...
	2.2. “City agency” means every department, office, ethics officer, hearing examiner, commission, or committee of the city, or any subdivision thereof, but excludes public corporations and ad hoc advisory committees.
	2.3. “City officer or employee” means any person holding a position by election, appointment, or employment in the service of the city or city agency, whether paid or unpaid, including members of any ethics hearing officer, committee or commission.
	2.4. “Compensation” means anything of economic value, however designated, which is paid, loaned, advanced, granted, given or transferred for or in consideration of personal services to any person.
	2.5. “Beneficial interest” means any direct or indirect, pecuniary or material benefit, other than a remote interest, accruing to a city official as a result of a contract, transaction, zoning decision or other matter which is or may be the subject of...
	2.5.1. The official’s spouse or dependent children;
	2.5.2. Any person or business entity with whom a contractual relationship, whether oral or written, exists with the official;
	2.5.3. Any business entity in which the official is an officer, director, member, or employee;
	2.5.4. Any business entity in which the officer controls or owns, directly or indirectly, in excess of one percent (1%) of the total stock, or an interest totaling five thousand dollars ($5,000) or more in value; and
	2.5.5. Any person or business entity with whom a contractual relationship, whether oral or written, exists with the official; provided, however, that a contractual obligation of less than five hundred dollars ($500.00), or a commercially reasonable li...
	2.6. “Immediate family” means any person who is:
	2.6.1. A spouse or domestic partner;
	2.6.2. Any dependent parent, parent-in-law, child or son-in-law or daughter-in-law; or
	2.6.3. Any parent, parent-in-law, child, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, sibling, uncle, aunt, cousin, niece or nephew residing in the household of the city official.
	2.7. “Official” means a member of the city council or a member of council-appointed city boards and commissions and other council-appointed task groups or committees, including youth members.
	2.8. “Official act or action” means any legislative, administrative, appointive or discretionary act of any city official or committee or commission thereof.
	2.9. “Person” means any individual, association, corporation, or other legal entity.
	2.10. “Remote interest” means:
	2.10.1. That of a non-salaried officer of a nonprofit corporation;
	2.10.2. That of an employee or agent of a contracting party where the compensation of such employee or agent consists entirely of fixed wages or salary;
	2.10.3. That of a landlord or tenant of a contracting party;
	2.10.4. That of a holder of less than one percent (1%) of the shares of a corporation or cooperative which is a contracting party.
	2.11.  “Relative” means “Immediate Family” as defined herein.
	3. Section 3: Financial or beneficial interest in city transactions
	3.1. Regardless of prior disclosure thereof, hold or acquire a beneficial interest, direct or indirect, personally or through a member of his or her immediate family, in any contract which, in whole or in part, is, or which may be, made by, through, o...
	3.2. Regardless of prior disclosure thereof, be beneficially interested, directly or indirectly, other than a remote interest, in any contract or transaction which may be made by, through, or under the supervision of such official, in whole or in part...
	4. Section 4: Disqualifications from acting on city business
	4.1. Generally. In order to ensure their independence and impartiality on behalf of the common good, officials shall abstain from participating in deliberations and decision-making where conflicts exist pursuant to this code.
	4.2. Prohibited Conduct. No city official, while holding such office or position, shall:
	4.2.1. Engage in any transaction or activity, which is, or would to a reasonable person appear to be, in conflict with or incompatible with the proper discharge of official duties, or which impairs, or would to a reasonable person appear to impair, th...
	4.2.2. Have a financial or other private interest, other than a remote interest as defined in this code, direct or indirect, personally or through a member of his or her immediate family, or business entity, in any matter upon which the official is re...
	4.2.3. Fail to disqualify himself or herself from acting on any transaction which involves the city and any person who is, or at any time within the preceding twelve-month period has been, a private client of his or hers, or of his or her firm or part...
	4.2.4. Have a financial or other private interest, other than a remote interest as defined in this code, direct or indirect, personally or through a member of his or her immediate family, or business entity, in any contract or transaction to which the...
	4.3. Appearance of Conflict. If it could appear to a reasonable person, having knowledge of the relevant circumstances, that the official’s judgment is impaired because of either a personal or business relationship not covered under the foregoing subs...
	4.4. Exceptions. This section shall not apply to the following:
	4.4.1. decisions regarding taxes or fees;
	4.4.2. if the financial interest is shared with more than ten percent (10%) of the city’s population; or
	4.4.3. if the financial interest exists solely because of the official’s ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of a publicly traded corporation.
	5. Section 5: GIFTS AND FAVORS
	5.1. Definitions. For purposes of this section, the following terms have the given meaning:
	5.1.1. “Gift” means anything of economic value for which no consideration is given. “Gift” does not include:
	5.1.1.1. Items from relatives or friends where it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the gift was not made as part of any design to gain or maintain influence in the city or with the recipient in connection with city matters;
	5.1.1.2. Items related to the outside business of the recipient that are customary and not related to the recipient’s performance of official duties;
	5.1.1.3. Items exchanged among officials and employees or a social event hosted or sponsored by a city officer or city employee for co-workers;
	5.1.1.4. Payments by a governmental or nongovernmental entity of reasonable expenses incurred in connection with a speech, presentation, appearance, or trade mission made in an official capacity. As used in this subsection, “reasonable expenses” are l...
	5.1.1.5. Items an official or employee is authorized by law to accept;
	5.1.1.6. Payment of enrollment and course fees and reasonable travel expenses attributable to attending seminars and educational programs sponsored by a bona fide nonprofit governmental or nonprofit professional, educational, trade, or charitable asso...
	5.1.1.7. Items returned by the recipient to the donor within thirty (30) days of receipt or donated to a charitable organization within thirty (30) days of receipt;
	5.1.1.8. Campaign contributions reported under Chapter 42.17 RCW;
	5.1.1.9. Discounts available to an individual as a member of an employee group, occupation, or similar broad-based group;
	5.1.1.10. Awards, prizes, scholarships, or other items provided in recognition of academic or scientific achievement.
	5.1.2. “Single gift” means any event, item, or group of items used in conjunction with each other or any trip including transportation, lodging, and attendant costs, not excluded from the definition of gift under this subsection.
	5.1.3. “Single source” means any person, corporation, or entity, whether acting directly or through any agent or other intermediary
	5.2. Prohibited Gifts. Officials shall not take any special advantage of services or opportunities for personal gain, by virtue of their public office, which are not available to the public in general. They may not solicit or receive any thing of mone...
	5.3. Limitations on Gifts. Other than those specified in this section, no official may accept gifts beyond the following limitations:
	5.3.1. Single Gift. An official shall not accept a single gift with a value in excess of fifty dollars ($50.00) in accordance with RCW 42.52.150(1).
	5.3.2. Single Source. An official shall not accept gifts from a single source with an aggregate value in excess of fifty dollars ($50.00) in a calendar year.
	5.3.3. The value of gifts given to an official’s family member or guest shall be attributed to the official or employee for the purpose of determining whether the limit has been exceeded, unless an independent business, family, or social relationship ...
	5.3.4. If the fifty dollar ($50.00) limit in RCW 42.52.150(1) is amended, this section shall be deemed to reflect the amended amount.
	5.4. Exemptions. The following items are presumed not to influence the vote, action, or judgment of the official, or be considered as part of a reward for action or inaction, and may be accepted without regard to the limitations established by subsect...
	5.4.1. Unsolicited flowers, plants, and floral arrangements;
	5.4.2. Unsolicited advertising or promotional items of nominal value, such as pens and note pads;
	5.4.3. Unsolicited tokens or awards of appreciation in the form of a plaque, trophy, desk item, wall memento, or similar item;
	5.4.4. Unsolicited items received by an official for the purpose of evaluation or review, if the official has no personal beneficial interest in the eventual use or acquisition of the item;
	5.4.5. Informational material, publications, or subscriptions related to the recipient’s performance of official duties;
	5.4.6. Food and beverages consumed at hosted receptions where attendance is related to the official’s official duties;
	5.4.7. Admission to, and the cost of food and beverages consumed at, events sponsored by or in conjunction with a civic, charitable, governmental, or community organization;
	5.4.8. Unsolicited gifts from dignitaries from another state or a foreign country which are intended to be personal in nature; and
	5.4.9. Food and beverages on infrequent occasions in the ordinary course of meals where attendance by the official is related to the performance of official duties.
	5.4.10. The presumptions of this subsection 5.4 are rebuttable and may be overcome based on the circumstances surrounding the giving and acceptance of the item.
	6. Section 6: CAMPAIGNing
	6.1. Generally. Officials may participate in the political process only on their own time, and only outside of city facilities by working on campaigns for the elections of any person to any office, or for the promotion of or the opposition to any ball...
	6.2. Elected Officials’ Campaigns.
	6.2.1. As required by RCW 42.17A.565, no official shall knowingly solicit or encourage, directly or indirectly, any political contribution from any city employee.
	6.2.2. Except under limited circumstances described in RCW 42.17A.555, no official may use or authorize the use of the facilities of the city for the purpose of assisting a campaign for the election of any person to any office, or for the promotion of...
	7. Section 7: Prohibited conduct—Miscellaneous
	7.1. Violation of Other Laws. Officials shall comply with federal, state, and local laws in the performance of their public duties. These laws include, but are not limited to: the United States and Washington Constitutions; laws pertaining to conflict...
	7.2. Quasi-Judicial Proceedings.
	7.2.1. No city official while holding such office or position shall participate in or influence any pending quasi-judicial proceeding if the city official has a financial or personal interest in the matter.
	7.2.2. Ex Parte Communications. In quasi-judicial matters, officials shall publicly disclose substantive information that is relevant to a matter under consideration by the council or boards and commissions, which they may have received from sources o...
	7.3. Misuse of Public Position or Resources. Except for infrequent use at little or no cost to the city, officials shall not use public resources that are not available to the public in general, such as city staff time, equipment, supplies or faciliti...
	7.4. Representation of Third Parties. Except in the course of official duties, officials shall not appear on behalf of the financial interests of third parties before the bodies on which the officials serve or in interaction with assigned staff. Howev...
	7.5. Incompatible Service. No elected official shall engage in or accept private employment or render services for any person or engage in any business or professional activity when such employment, service, or activity is incompatible with the proper...
	7.6. Solicitations of Charitable Contributions. No official may make direct personal solicitations for charitable contributions from city employees.
	7.7. Confidential Information. Officials shall not disclose or use any confidential information gained by reason of their official position for other than a city purpose. “Confidential information” means specific information, rather than generalized k...
	7.8. False Statements No official shall make, or induce or direct any city official or city employee to make, any false statement or representation of any public record or document in a willful disregard of the truth of such statement or representation.
	7.9. Nepotism. The city council will not appoint relatives of city council members to boards or commissions or other appointed positions.
	8. Section 8: Ethical standards
	8.1. Policy Role of Officials. Officials shall respect and adhere to the council-manager structure of Covington city government as outlined by Chapter 35A.13 RCW. In this structure, the city council determines the policies of the city with the advice,...
	8.2. Personal Integrity.
	8.2.1. The professional and personal conduct of officials must be above reproach and avoid even the appearance of impropriety. Officials shall refrain from abusive conduct; threats of official action; and personal accusations or verbal attacks upon th...
	8.2.2. Officials shall maintain truthfulness and honesty and not compromise themselves for advancement, honor, or personal gain.
	8.2.3. Officials shall not directly or indirectly induce, encourage, or aid anyone to violate this code of ethics and it is incumbent upon officials to make a good faith effort to address apparent violations of this code of ethics.
	8.3. Working for the Common Good. Recognizing that stewardship of the public interest must be their primary concern, officials will work for the common good of the people of Covington and not for any private or personal interest, and they will ensure ...
	8.4. Respect for Process. Officials shall perform their duties in accordance with the processes and rules of order established by the city council and board and commissions governing the deliberation of public policy issues, meaningful involvement of ...
	8.5. Commitment to Transparency. Transparency, openness, and accountability are fundamental values of the city—and are also required by the laws of the state of Washington. The public has a right to inspect and copy public records unless exempt by law...
	8.6. Conduct of Public Meetings. Officials shall prepare themselves for public issues; listen courteously and attentively to all public discussions before the body; and focus on the business at hand. They shall refrain from interrupting other speakers...
	8.7. Decisions Based on Merit. Officials shall base their decisions on the merits and substance of the matter at hand, rather than on unrelated considerations.
	8.8. Advocacy.
	8.8.1. When acting in an official capacity as a city official representing the city, officials shall represent the official policies or positions of the city council, board, or commission to the best of their ability when the city council, board, or c...
	8.8.2. When presenting their individual opinions and positions, officials shall explicitly state they do not represent their body or the city of Covington, nor will they allow the inference that they do.
	8.8.3. Officials have the right to endorse candidates for all council seats or other elected offices. It is inappropriate to make or display endorsements during council meetings, board/commission meetings, or other official city meetings. However, thi...
	9. SECTION 9: Ethics officer
	9.1. Ethics Officer. The city council creates the position of ethics officer. The city attorney shall serve as the ethics officer, unless the city council chooses to appoint an independent third party, in addition to any additional duties as assigned ...
	9.1.1. annual review of the code of ethics, including recommend changes or additions to this code of ethics to the city council, if deemed necessary;
	9.1.2. input into and review the training materials and program developed for this code of ethics;
	9.1.3. advisory opinions concerning this code of ethics; and
	9.1.4. the prompt and fair enforcement of the provisions of this code of ethics when necessary.
	9.2. Advisory Opinions.
	9.2.1. Upon request of any official, the ethics officer shall render written advisory opinions concerning the applicability of this code to hypothetical circumstances and/or situations solely related to the persons making the request. The ethics offic...
	9.2.2. Upon request of any official, the ethics officer may also render written advisory opinions concerning the applicability of the code of ethics to hypothetical circumstances and/or situations related to a matter of city-wide interest or policy.
	9.2.3. The ethics officer will endeavor to respond to requests for advisory opinions within thirty (30) days of submission of the request, or more rapidly if the requester expresses urgency in the request.
	9.2.4. A person’s conduct based in reasonable reliance on an advisory opinion rendered by the ethics officer shall not be found to violate this code of ethics, as long as all material facts have been fully, completely, and accurately presented in a wr...
	9.2.5. The ethics officer reserves the right to reconsider the questions and issues raised in an advisory opinion and, where the public interest requires, rescind, modify, or terminate the opinion, but a modified or terminated advisory opinion will no...
	10. SECTION 10: Complaints, Investigations, Hearings, and Enforcement.
	10.1. Time Limitation. Any complaint or action taken under this code of ethics must be commenced within three (3) years from the date of the alleged violation.
	10.2. Complaint Process.
	10.2.1. Complaint Requirements—Service. Any person may submit a written complaint to the ethics officer, through the city clerk’s office, alleging one or more violations of this code of ethics by an official. The complaint must set forth specific fact...
	10.2.2. Finding of Sufficiency. The ethics officer shall make a determination of sufficiency within thirty (30) days of receipt of the written complaint. A complaint shall be sufficient if the allegations, if established, would violate this code. The ...
	A finding by the ethics officer determining that a complaint is sufficient shall contain at the beginning the following specific language:
	10.2.3. Dismissal. The ethics officer shall dismiss the complaint if the ethics officer determines that the violation was inadvertent and minor; or a violation occurred, but appropriate actions have been taken to fully address the allegedly unethical ...
	10.2.4. Protection Against Retaliation. Neither the city nor any official may take or threaten to take, directly or indirectly, official or personal action, including but not limited to discharge, discipline, personal attack, harassment, intimidation,...
	10.2.5. False Complaint. Any person who shall file a complaint for violation of this code knowing such charge to be false or to have been recklessly made without any reasonable attempt to determine relevant facts and circumstances shall be guilty of a...
	10.3. Immediate Removal—Member of Board or Commission or Other Appointed Task Group or Committee. In the event the individual against whom the complaint was made is currently a member of a city board or commission or other task group or committee appo...
	10.4. Notice. Notice of action by the ethics officer shall be provided as follows:
	10.4.1. Notice of a finding of insufficiency or dismissal of a complaint by the ethics officer shall be sent to the person who made the complaint and the person complained against within seven (7) days of the decision by the ethics officer. A finding ...
	10.4.2. Within seven (7) days of the ethics officer rendering a finding of sufficiency, the city clerk shall send notice to the person who made the complaint and the person complained against, of the ethics officer’s determination. If, after investiga...
	10.5. Stipulations. At any time after a complaint has been filed with the ethics officer, the ethics officer may seek and make recommendations that the city council enter into a stipulation with the person complained against. The recommended stipulati...
	10.6. Conduct of Hearings.
	10.6.1. All hearings on complaints found to be sufficient by the ethics officer shall be conducted by the city’s hearing examiner. The hearing shall be informal, meaning that the hearing examiner shall not be bound by the strict rules of evidence prev...
	10.6.2. Within thirty (30) days after the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing examiner shall, based upon a preponderance of the evidence, make and fully record in his or her permanent records, findings of fact, conclusions of law, and his or her re...
	10.7. City Council Action. Final city council action to decide upon stipulations and recommendations from the ethics officer and findings, conclusions, and recommendations from the hearing examiner shall be by majority vote in a public meeting. If the...
	10.8. Disposition. In the event the hearing examiner finds that the person against whom the complaint was made has violated the code of ethics, then the city council may take any of the following actions by a majority vote of the council. The action o...
	10.8.1. Dismissal. Dismissal of the complaint without penalties.
	10.8.2. Referral. A complaint may be referred to another agency with jurisdiction over the violation, such as the public disclosure commission. Final action on the complaint may be stayed pending resolution of the matter by the agency to which it was ...
	10.8.3. Admonition. An admonition shall be an oral non-public statement made by the mayor, or his/her designee, or if the complaint is against the mayor, the mayor pro tem or his/her designee, to the official.
	10.8.4. Reprimand. A reprimand shall be administered to the official by a resolution of reprimand by the city council. The resolution shall be prepared by the city council and shall be signed by the mayor or, if the complaint is against the mayor, the...
	10.8.5. Censure. A resolution of censure shall be a resolution read personally to the person in public. The resolution shall be prepared by the city council and shall be signed by the mayor, or if the complaint is against the mayor, the mayor pro tem....
	10.8.6. Civil Penalties. The city council may assess a civil penalty of up to one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or three times (3x) the economic value of anything received in violation of this code of ethics or three times (3x) the economic value of an...
	10.8.7. Contract Void. As provided by RCW 42.23.050, any contract made in violation of Chapter 42.23 RCW, “Code of ethics for municipal officers— contract interests,” is void.
	10.8.8. Other Penalties. The city council may impose a restriction, loss of a committee assignment, or loss of appointment as a representative of the city for any regional or multijurisdictional body or membership on any board or commission which requ...
	10.8.9. Review of Civil Penalties. If the city council orders an official to pay a civil penalty, the official may seek a writ of review from the superior court pursuant to Chapter 7.16 RCW, within thirty (30) days of the city council’s order.
	10.9. Public Records. Records filed with the ethics officer and/ or hearing examiner become public records that may be subject to inspection and copying by members of the public, unless an exemption in law exists. The city shall release copies of any ...

	Item 2 Blue Sheet_Ordinance on Permanent Marijuana Zoning Regulations 6-14-16
	Item 2 Attachment 1 ORD_Permanent Marijuana Regs_14JUNE2016MTG_SBSEDIT
	Item 2 Attachment 2 Marijuana Sensitive Use BufferMap 1000ft
	Item 2 Attachment 3 Marijuana Sensitive Use BufferMap 500ft
	Item 2 Attachment 4 MSRC map of city and marijuana regulations
	Item 3 Blue Sheet CitizenSurveyQuestions06-14-16
	Item 4 Blue Sheet BS_Appointment of New Councilmember_14JUNE2016MTG_SBSEDIT_v2
	Agenda Item 4

	Future Agenda Cover Sheet
	06-28-2016 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, June 28, 2016                                                                                                        City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	PUBLIC COMMUNICATION


	Original check box: 
	0: Yes

	Revised Check box: Off
	Revised #: 
	Date: 
	Contractors UBI Number:  600298242 
	Name  Address of Public Agency: City of Covington
	Address of Public Agency: 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100 
	Assigned to:: 
	Address of Public Agency continued: Covington, WA 98042
	Date Assigned: 
	UBI #: 601 802 997
	Project Name: City-wide Intersection and Safety Improvements
	Contract Number: HSIP-000S(338)
	Yes: Off
	No: Yes
	Description of Work DoneInclude Jobsite Addresses: Construct curb ramps, extruded curb, traffic island, signs and markings
	Check Box10: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	Contractors Name: R. W. Scott Construction Co.
	E-mail Address:  mikeskagen@rwscottconstruction.com
	Affidavit ID: 643728
	Contractor Address: 4005 West Valley Highway North, Auburn, WA 98001
	Telephone Number: (253) 261-1647
	Check Box1: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	If Retainage is Bonded List Suretys Name or attach a copy: Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland
	Bond Number: 09203776
	Date Contract Awarded: 1/12/2016
	Date Work Commenced: 2/29/2016
	Date Work Completed: 4/07/16
	Date Work Accepted: 
	Check Box8: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	Contract Amount: 211258
	Additions: 0
	Reductions: 12555.72
	Subtotal: 198702.28
	Sales Tax Paid: 0
	Text1: 0
	Total1: 198702.280
	Liquidated Damages: 0
	Amount Disbursed: 198702.28
	Amount Retained: 0
	Total2: 198702.280
	Comments: No sales tax per Revenue Rule 171
	Contact Name: Bob Lindskov, PE
	Title: City Engineer
	Email Address: blindskov@covingtonwa.gov
	Phone #: 253-480-2467
	Reset Button: 
	Print: 
	Subcontractors NameRow1_2: J&G Concrete Corporation
	UBI NumberRow1_2: 602817010
	Affidavit ID if knownRow1_2: 643636 
	Subcontractors NameRow2_2: Prizm Surveying
	UBI NumberRow2_2: 601980668
	Affidavit ID if knownRow2_2: 643400 
	Subcontractors NameRow3_2: Tony Lind Paving LLC
	UBI NumberRow3_2: 602813830
	Affidavit ID if knownRow3_2: 642033 
	Subcontractors NameRow4_2: Northwest Traffic Inc.
	UBI NumberRow4_2: 602140049
	Affidavit ID if knownRow4_2: 643150
	Subcontractors NameRow5_2: 
	UBI NumberRow5_2: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow5_2: 
	Subcontractors NameRow6_2: 
	UBI NumberRow6_2: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow6_2: 
	Subcontractors NameRow7_2: 
	UBI NumberRow7_2: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow7_2: 
	Subcontractors NameRow8_2: 
	UBI NumberRow8_2: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow8_2: 
	Subcontractors NameRow9_2: 
	UBI NumberRow9_2: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow9_2: 
	Subcontractors NameRow10: 
	UBI NumberRow10: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow10: 
	Subcontractors NameRow11: 
	UBI NumberRow11: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow11: 
	Subcontractors NameRow12: 
	UBI NumberRow12: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow12: 
	Subcontractors NameRow13: 
	UBI NumberRow13: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow13: 
	Subcontractors NameRow14: 
	UBI NumberRow14: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow14: 
	Subcontractors NameRow15: 
	UBI NumberRow15: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow15: 
	Subcontractors NameRow16: 
	UBI NumberRow16: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow16: 
	Subcontractors NameRow17: 
	UBI NumberRow17: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow17: 
	Subcontractors NameRow18: 
	UBI NumberRow18: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow18: 
	Subcontractors NameRow19: 
	UBI NumberRow19: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow19: 
	Subcontractors NameRow20: 
	UBI NumberRow20: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow20: 
	Subcontractors NameRow21: 
	UBI NumberRow21: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow21: 
	Subcontractors NameRow22: 
	UBI NumberRow22: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow22: 
	Subcontractors NameRow23: 
	UBI NumberRow23: 
	0: 

	Affidavit ID if knownRow23: 
	0: 

	SubcontracorsNameRow24: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	4: 

	UBINumberRow24: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	4: 

	Affidavit ID if knownRow24: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	4: 
	5: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 


	SubcontractorsNameRow25: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	4: 

	UBINumberRow25: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 
	4: 

	Affidvit ID if knownRow25: 
	SubcontractorsNameRow26: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 

	UBINumberRow26: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 

	Affidavit ID if knownRow26: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 

	SubcontractorsNameRow27: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 

	UBINumberRow27: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 

	Affidavit ID if knownRow27: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 

	SubcontractorsNameRow28: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 

	SubcontractorsNameRow29: 
	UBINumberRow28: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 

	Affidavit ID if knownRow28: 
	0: 
	1: 
	2: 
	3: 

	UBINumberRow29: 
	Affidavit ID if knownRow29: 


